Therapeutic hypothermia and Interleukin-1 blockade as neuroprotective strategies in neonatal encephalopathy and arterial ischemic stroke

Mathilde Chevin

Integrated Program in Neuroscience Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canada

October 2020

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the

degree of Doctor of Philosophy.



© Mathilde Chevin, 2020

« Loin d'épuiser une matière, on ne doit en prendre que la fleur. »

Jean De La Fontaine

"Eventually, all models are wrong, but some are useful."

George E. P. Box

ACK	NOWLE	EDGEMENTS / REMERCIEMENTS	VIII
ABS	FRACT.		X
RÉSI	J MÉ		XII
LIST	OF ABI	BREVIATIONS	XIV
LIST	OF FIG	URES	XVI
LIST	OF TAE	BLES	.XVIII
PREF	FACE		XIX
CON	TRIBUT	TION TO ORIGINAL KNOWLEDGE	XXI
CON	TRIBUT	TION OF AUTHORS	.XXIII
CHA	PTER I	: INTRODUCTION	1
REVI	EW OF	THE RELEVANT LITERATURE	3
1.	Brain	injury in the term newborn	3
	1.1.	Neonatal encephalopathy	3
	1.2.	Neonatal arterial ischemic stroke	5
	1.3.	Brain regions mainly affected by HIE and NAIS	6
	1.4.	Causes and risk factors	7
	1.5.	Role of infection/inflammation in HIE and NAIS	9
2.	Preclin	nical model of HI and/or inflammatory-sensitized HI	10
3.	Mecha	nisms of brain injury induced by HI \pm inflammation	15
	3.1.	Phases of brain injury	15
	3.2.	Cell death pathways at play in HIE and NAIS	17
	3.2.1.	Unprogrammed cell death	17
	3.2.2.	Programmed necrosis	18
	3.2.3.	Apoptosis/autophagy and anoikis cell death	19
	3.3.	IL-1β-driven neuroinflammation in LPS+HI-induced HIE and NAIS	20
	3.3.1.	Effects of IL-1 β on neural cells	21
	3.3.2.	Effect of IL-1 β on endothelial cells and blood brain barrier disruption	22
	3.4.	IL-1/IL-1Ra balance in the brain	23
	3.5.	hrIL-1Ra effects in term brain injury and perinatal inflammation	24
4.	Therap	peutic HT	26
	4.1.	HT in HIE	26

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	4.2.	HT in NAIS	
	4.3. Limitations of HT		
4.3.1. Limited clinical efficacy of HT			
4.3.2. Optimization of HT protocol			
	4.3.3. Limitation in assessing the neuroprotective effect of HT in preclinical studies 3.		
	4.3.4. Effect of HT on pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters of drugs34		
	4.3.5	. Effect of HT on HIE-induced cytokines release	
	4.4.	Other therapeutic approaches	
	4.4.1	Erythropoietin	
	4.4.2.	Xenon	
	4.4.3	Allopurinol	
RATI	ONALI	Ξ	39
PREF	FACE TO	O CHAPTER II	
CHA	PTER I	II: MANUSCRIPT 1	
PREF	FACE TO	O CHAPTER III	72
CHA	PTER I	III: MANUSCRIPT 2	74
PREF	FACE TO	O CHAPTER IV	
CHAPTER IV: MANUSCRIPT 3			
CHA	PTER V	V: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
SUM	MARY	OF FINDINGS	117
COMPREHENSIVE DISCUSSION			
1.	HT ef	fects on pharmacodynamic parameters of hrIL-1Ra	119
	1.1.	hrIL-1Ra bioaccumulation and toxicity	
	1.2.	IL-1Ra administration window	
	1.3.	Sex difference in HI±LPS±HT injury	125
2.	Effect	of HT on inflammatory-sensitized HI	
	2.1.	LPS+HI as a model of NAIS	127
	2.2.	Early diagnostic for an early intervention of NAIS	128
3.	Future	e directions	129
	3.1.	Further evaluation of the effect of HT on IL-1Ra pharmacology	129
	3.2.	Further evaluation of motor behaviour and CP-like symptoms	
	3.3.	Evaluation of the effect of HT on necroptosis	

	3.4.	Evaluation of the neuroprotective effect of HT after gram-positive bacteria + H	II-	
	exposu	re	131	
	3.5.	Benefits of HT in NAIS: a clinical study?	131	
4.	Limita	tions	132	
CONC	CONCLUSION			
CHAPTER VI: BIBLIOGRAPHY135				
BIBLI	BIBLIOGRAPHY136			
СНАР	TER V	II: APPENDICES	157	
Appendix 1: Published review article as first co-author				
Appendix 2: Copyright agreement for Figure 2 (CHAPTER I)				
Appendix 3: Copyright agreement for Figure 3 (CHAPTER I)				
Appendix 4: Ethical protocol 2015-7691 approval and protocol contact listing				
App	Appendix 5: Published abstract in Perfectionnement en Pédiatrie			

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS / REMERCIEMENTS

My graduate studies were supported by the Brain Canada Foundation, Fonds de Recherche du Québec – Santé (FRQ-S), Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre (RI-MUHC) – Desjardins Studentship in Child Health Research, Montreal Children Hospital Foundation – Hoppenheim Fund, Faculté de Médecine et des Sciences de la Santé de l'Université de Sherbrooke – Bourse "Tranzyme Pharma", Integrated Program in Neuroscience of McGill University. Merci à tous ces organismes subventionnaires d'avoir permis la réalisation de ce projet de recherche !

First, I would like to personally recognize and express my gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Guillaume Sébire. Je tiens à vous remercier de m'avoir soutenue, écoutée, challengée et comprise durant toutes ces belles années (de mon premier stage en fin de DUT jusqu'au doctorat). Merci de m'avoir fait confiance et de m'avoir laissée de l'autonomie dans mon projet de recherche comme dans le laboratoire. Ces expériences m'ont fait m'épanouir et évoluer tant sur le plan scientifique que personnel. Encore merci pour votre complicité, votre franchise et votre bienveillance tant appréciées au fil des années. Au plaisir de partager quelques bulles champenoises à l'avenir !

I would like to thank my advisory committee members, candidacy examiners and mentor: Dr. Jasna Kriz, Dr. Pia Wintermark, Dr. Sylvain Chemtob and Dr. Pierre Lachapelle. Merci pour vos questions pertinentes, commentaires et précieux conseils qui ont permis d'améliorer mon projet de recherche et de me faire progresser comme scientifique.

Merci aux membres du jury Dr. Pia Wintermark, Dr. Edith Hamel et Dr Gregory Lodygensky de prendre le temps d'évaluer le travail de ces quatre dernières années et de m'apporter leurs commentaires.

I am also grateful to the main collaborators of my Ph.D. project: merci à Dr. Mickaël Dinomais pour les conseils en neuroimagerie et la belle découverte des heat-maps. Un merci spécial au visiting scholar Dr. Stéphane Chabrier pour le beau partage scientifique, le respect de la langue française, les anecdotes de quand « tu étais petit » et ton humour légendaire (parce que malgré les poils de nos rats et leur agénésie carotidienne réversible, on reste écologique !). Je nous souhaite de poursuivre cette belle collaboration et complicité pendant de nombreuses années.

A special thanks to all Sébire's lab team with whom I had the chance to work, learn and laugh in French or in English since 2013. Un grand merci à Marie-Julie Allard de m'avoir tracé la voie du doctorat, pour ton soutien et tes précieux conseils durant les dernières années; ainsi qu'à Khadidja Chelabi pour le beau travail d'équipe durant les chirurgies. Taghreed Ayash and Seline Vancolen: it was a pleasure to brainstorm and work together this year. I hope to see you again apart from this COVID-19 period.

Finalement, je voudrais remercier ma famille et mes amis pour votre soutien et vos encouragements. Merci à tous les membres de ma famille qui ont contribué de près ou de loin à mon cheminement personnel et professionnel. Que ce soit à 800 ou 5000 km je trouve toujours une oreille attentive, du support moral et même un certain intérêt scientifique. Merci de pouvoir toujours compter sur vous, j'ai hâte de vous voir bientôt en personne.

Merci à mon chéri pour ton amour et ton soutien indéfectible. Merci de m'épauler au quotidien, d'appuyer mes décisions (ou pas lorsqu'elles sont mauvaises), de m'apporter du bonheur et du réconfort dans ma vie.

Un merci particulier à Annie Roy, toujours fidèle au poste malgré les hauts et les bas. Merci à Andréanne Loiselle et Élise Gullickson-Larouche pour l'amitié de longue date et le soutient présoutenance. Merci également à Louise Merly et Antoine Giraud pour les menus du pauvre, les discussions scientifiques (et non-scientifiques) et les moments inoubliables. Merci à mes amis d'enfance qui sont toujours là pour moi en dépit de la distance et du décalage horaire.

Did I forget someone? Maybe...I am not sure...Oh of course I did (how dare I?) Almost forgot about McPinsky. Really special thank you to you, dear drummer friend. Always there when needed. I'm pretty glad we're always stand together, in so many groups now.

ABSTRACT

Neonatal encephalopathy (NE) and neonatal arterial ischemic stroke (NAIS) are either diffuse or focal brain injuries resulting both from hypoxic-ischemic events and/or pathogen-induced inflammation. NE affects up to 1% of live births. NAIS affects 0.3% of live births. Treatment options are symptomatic in both diseases. A curative therapeutic option is only available in NE due to pure HI and consists in therapeutic hypothermia (HT). HT, however, provides limited neuroprotection and around 50% of treated neonates will experience moderate to severe neurologic disabilities. It is still unclear if HT confers beneficial effects when there is combined aggression of hypoxia-ischemia (HI) and pathogen-induced inflammation, which is one of the most common pathophysiological scenario of both NE and NAIS.

Human neuropathological studies and experimental animal models of perinatal brain injury reveal that Interleukin (IL)- 1β – among other pro-inflammatory cytokines – is implicated in the pathophysiological cascade leading to brain injury. Besides, preclinical studies did not bring evidence of an effect of HT on the IL-1 cascade. Therefore, postnatal systemic administration of Interleukine-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra: a natural blocker of IL-1) may be a potential therapeutic intervention of postnatal brain injury, such as NE and NAIS. However, IL-1Ra is not approved for the treatment or prevention of postnatal brain injury, and further studies are needed to determine its safety and efficacy. No studies have been conducted to assess the efficacy of IL-1Ra with other therapies, such as HT.

In this thesis, I hypothesized that HT alone or in combination with IL-1Ra would provide neuroprotective effects in a rat model of both NE and NAIS resulting from inflammatorysensitized-HI. We further hypothesized that IL-1Ra will provide an added value to HT in alleviating brain injuries and improving motor behavioural outcomes. I aimed to investigate (1) the safety of HT treatment in combination with IL-1Ra and (2) the efficacy of HT combined or not with IL-1Ra in terms of mortality, brain injuries, and short and long-term motor behaviour in our model of NE resulting from inflammatory-sensitized HI. This thesis shows for the first time that (*i*) HT has an impact on the pharmacodynamic parameters of IL-1Ra; revealing a future need to refine the dose of IL-1Ra used in combination to HT; (*ii*) this combined therapy is able to reduce the mortality rate and improve short-term motor behaviour; and (*iii*) HT alone reduces the occurrence and the volume of brain infarct, improves brain metabolic activity, and alleviates the long-term motor outcomes of inflammatory plus HI- induced brain injuries.

This thesis reveals the importance of studying the influence of HT on the distribution, metabolism, elimination and clinical efficacy of drugs in order to avoid toxicity or ineffectiveness. Current and future studies investigating the beneficial effect of HT in other neurological pathologies, such as stroke, subarachnoid hemorrhage, traumatic brain injury, and spinal cord injury, should take into account this particular effect. In addition, we observed a potential combined effect of IL-1Ra plus HT that needs further preclinical evaluation before moving to human clinical therapeutic trials. Our results provide evidence of the neuroprotective effect of HT in NE and NAIS resulting from inflammatory-sensitized HI. This thesis opens new research avenues on the potential benefit of HT in other postnatal brain injury sharing common determinants with NE, such as NAIS. This could pave the way towards further clinical evaluation of the benefit of HT in NAIS.

RÉSUMÉ

L'encéphalopathie néonatale (EN) et l'infarctus cérébral artériel néonatal (ICAN) sont responsables de lésions cérébrales diffuses ou focales résultant à la fois d'événements hypoxiquesischémiques (HI) et/ou d'une inflammation induite par des agents pathogènes. L'EN affecte jusqu'à 1% des naissances vivantes. L'ICAN affecte 0,3% des naissances vivantes. Dans les deux pathologies, les options de traitement sont symptomatiques. Une option thérapeutique curative n'est disponible que chez l'EN résultant d'une pure HI et consiste en une hypothermie thérapeutique (HT). Néanmoins, l'HT n'offre pas une neuroprotection complète et environ 50% des nouveau-nés traités souffriront de troubles neurologiques modérés à sévères. Le bénéfice de l'HT est toujours incertain en cas d'agression combinée par l'HI et l'inflammation induite par un agent pathogène; qui est l'un des scénarios physiopathologiques les plus courants dans l'EN/ICAN. Les études neuropathologiques humaines et les modèles animaux de lésions cérébrales périnatales révèlent que l'interleukine (IL)-1 β – parmi d'autres cytokines pro-inflammatoires – est impliquée dans la cascade physiopathologique conduisant aux lésions cérébrales. De plus, les études précliniques n'ont pas apporté la preuve concrète d'un effet de l'HT sur la cascade de l'IL-1. Par conséquent, l'administration systémique postnatale d'un antagoniste du récepteur de l'IL-1 (l'IL-1Ra : bloquant naturel de l'IL-1) pourrait être une intervention thérapeutique potentielle des lésions cérébrales induites dans l'EN/ICAN. Cependant, l'IL-1Ra n'est pas approuvé pour le traitement ou la prévention des lésions cérébrales postnatales. D'autres études sont nécessaires pour en déterminer sa sécurité d'administration et son efficacité. Aucune étude n'a été menée pour évaluer l'efficacité de l'IL-1Ra en combinaison avec d'autres thérapies comme l'HT.

Dans cette thèse, j'ai émis l'hypothèse que l'HT seule ou en combinaison avec l'IL-1Ra a des effets neuroprotecteurs dans un modèle murin d'EN/ICAN résultant de l'HI sensibilisée par

l'inflammation. Nous avons également émis l'hypothèse que l'IL-1Ra apportait une valeur ajoutée à l'HT dans l'atténuation des lésions cérébrales et l'amélioration du comportement moteur. Les objectifs étaient d'étudier (1) l'innocuité de l'HT combinée à l'IL-1Ra et (2) l'efficacité de l'HT combinée ou non à l'IL-1Ra en termes de mortalité, de lésions cérébrales et de comportements moteurs à court et à long-terme dans notre modèle d'EN/ICAN qui résulte de l'HI et de l'inflammation. Cette thèse montre pour la première fois que (i) l'HT a un impact sur les paramètres pharmacodynamiques de l'IL-1Ra, (ii) la thérapie combinée est capable de réduire le taux de mortalité et d'améliorer le comportement moteur à court-terme; et (iii) l'HT seule réduit l'apparition et le volume des infarctus cérébraux, améliore l'activité métabolique cérébrale et le comportement moteur à long-terme suite aux lésions cérébrales induites par l'inflammation et l'HI. Cette thèse révèle l'importance d'étudier l'impact de l'HT sur la distribution, le métabolisme, l'élimination et l'efficacité clinique des médicaments afin d'en éviter la toxicité ou l'inefficacité. Les études actuelles et futures examinant les effets bénéfiques de l'HT dans d'autres pathologies comme l'accident vasculaire cérébral, l'hémorragie sous-arachnoïdienne, les traumatismes crâniens et les lésions de la moelle épinière, devraient prendre en compte cet effet particulier de l'HT. De plus nous avons observé un effet combiné potentiel de l'IL-1Ra à l'HT nécessitant une évaluation préclinique supplémentaire avant de passer aux essais thérapeutiques cliniques chez l'humain. Nos résultats fournissent des preuves solides de l'effet neuroprotecteur de l'HT dans l'EN/ICAN résultant de l'HI sensibilisée à l'inflammation. Ces travaux pourraient ouvrir la voie à une évaluation clinique plus approfondie du bénéfice de l'HT dans l'ICAN.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ATP	Adenosine triphosphate		
BBB	Blood brain barrier		
Ca2+	Calcium		
CINC	Cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant		
CNS	Central nervous system		
СР	Cerebral palsy		
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid		
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular pattern		
Drp	Dynamin-related protein		
EEG	Electroencephalography		
EPO	Erythropoietin		
FADD	Fas-associated protein with death domain		
GBS	Group B Streptococcus		
HI	Hypoxia-ischemia		
HIE	Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy		
HMGB	High-mobility group box		
HT	Hypothermia		
hr	Human recombinant		
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule		
IL	Interleukin		
IL-1Ra	Interleukin -1 receptor antagonist		
IL-1RAcP	Adapter protein of the IL-1 β receptor		
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide of E. coli		
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase		
MCAO	Middle cerebral artery occlusion		
MCP	Monocyte chemoattractant protein		
MLKL	Mixed lineage kinase domain-like protein		
MMP	Matrix metallopeptidase		
MRI	Magnetic resonnance imaging		
MyD	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene		
NAIS	Neonatal arterial ischemic stroke		
NE	Neonatal encephalopathy		
NFkB	Nuclear factor		
NIRS	Near-infrared spectroscopy		
NLR	Nod-like receptor		
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate		
OR	Odds ratio		

Postnatal day		
Pathogen-associated molecular pattern		
Positron emission topography		
Prostaglandin E2		
Receptor		
Receptor interacting-protein		
Reactive nitrogen species		
Reactive oxygen species		
somatosensory evoked potential		
Toll-like receptor		
Tumor necrosis factor		
Tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1-associated death domain		
Vascular cell adhesion molecule		

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER I:

Figure 1.	Magnetic resonance imaging aspects from brain of term newborns suffering from HIE.		
Figure 2.	Example of NAIS imaging.		
Figure 3.	Summary of the time course of brain processes during development in humans and rats.		
Figure 4.	Synergistic effect of LPS and HI in a term (P12) rat model.		
Figure 5.	Phases of injury following HI \pm inflammation and mechanistic pathways leading to neuronal death.		
Figure 6.	Neuroprotective effect of hrIL-1Ra observed on brain MRI in a inflammatory-sensitized HI rat model.		

CHAPTER II:

Figure 1.	Experimental design.		
Figure 2.	hrIL-1Ra titers within tissues of interest from pups exposed to LPS+HI+IL-1Ra±HT.		
Figure 3.	IL-1 β expression within tissues of interest from pups exposed to LPS+HI+IL-1Ra±HT.		
Figure 4.	TNF- α expression within tissues of interest from pups exposed to LPS+HI+IL-1Ra±HT.		
Figure 5.	Comparison of the extent of brain injuries between LPS+HI±HT±IL-1Ra conditions.		
Figure 6.	Open Field experiment at P20 in pups exposed to LPS+HI±HT±IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg).		

CHAPTER III:

Figure 1. IL-1Ra+HT compared to sole HT improved mortality and motor outcome.

CHAPTER IV:

Figure 1.	Experimental design.
Figure 2.	Comparison of the volume of the stroke between LPS+HI±HT rats.
Figure 3.	Comparison of the [¹⁸ F] FDG metabolic activity within the rat brain between CTL and LPS+HI±HT-exposed rats.
Figure 4.	Comparison of the motor behaviour within the rat brain between CTL and LPS+HI \pm HT-exposed rats.
Additional figure I.	LPS+HI group lesion maps.
Additional figure II.	LPS+HI+HT group lesion maps.

CHAPTER V:

- Figure 1. Weight gain of rat pups after LPS+HI exposure.
- Figure 2. Histology measurements of the total loss of tissue induced by LPS+HIexposure.

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER I:

Table 1.	Criteria defining moderate or severe encephalopathy.
Table 2.	Comparison of the main clinical characteristics between NE and NAIS.
Table 3.	Eligibility criteria for HT treatment.
Table 4.	Assessment of the efficacy of HT in children (6-7 years old) who survived an HIE at birth.

PREFACE

CONTRIBUTION TO ORIGINAL KNOWLEDGE

Neonatal encephalopathy (NE) affects around 2 to 6 per 1000 term newborns and is the second most common cause of childhood disabilities. Despite the use of therapeutic hypothermia (HT) as a standard of care, the incidence of NE and its devastating outcomes remain a major issue for the patient, its family as well as the society. Ongoing research surrounding add-on neuroprotective strategies against NE is important as HT effects are limited, leaving 50% of treated patient with neurological sequelae. NE is mainly due to the compounding effects of hypoxia-ischemia (HI) and perinatal inflammation resulting from placental infections or neonatal sepsis. The combination of infection/inflammation plus HI is frequent, however, it is unclear if HT is effective in this context. This thesis explores for the first time the safety and efficacy of HT combined with interleukin-1 (IL-1) blockade – using IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) – in order to prevent NE resulting from inflammatory-sensitized HI. The main contributions of this thesis include the demonstration of *(i)* the effect of HT on IL-1Ra pharmacodynamic parameters, *(ii)* the benefit of IL-1Ra combined to HT in terms of mortality and motor behavioural improvement, and *(iii)* the major neuroprotective effects of HT in our model of inflammation plus HI.

Chapter I introduces NE, inflammatory pathways at plays in brain damage, IL-1Ra and its effect in postnatal brain injury, HT and its limitations. **Chapter I** also presents the rationale of the studies included, the general hypothesis and aims of this thesis.

Chapter II (manuscript 1) investigates the safety and efficacy of HT in combination with IL-1Ra. We showed that HT alters pharmacodynamic parameters of IL-1Ra leading to a paradoxical upregulation of the immune system and lack of effectiveness of IL-1Ra plus HT-treated rats in terms of histological measures of brain injury.

Chapter III (manuscript 2) compares the effect of sole HT versus IL-1Ra plus HT in terms of mortality and short-term motor behaviour after LPS+HI exposure. We showed a beneficial effect of the combined therapy in these parameters in our model of inflammatory-sensitized NE.

Chapter IV (**manuscript 3**) unravels the neuroprotective effects of HT in our model of NE resulting from inflammation plus HI. Using advanced imaging techniques, we showed a major impact of HT on the occurrence, and volume, of brain infarct measured by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Besides, HT enhanced brain metabolic activity measured by positron emission tomography (PET)-Scan and improved long-term motor behaviour.

Finally, **chapter V** summarizes, discusses and concludes on the findings included in this thesis. It also proposes future directions for this research project.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

Doctoral studies of M. Chevin led to four articles as first author: three original articles and a review article (see appendix #2).

1. Manuscript 1 (Chapter II)

Chevin M, Guiraut C, Sébire G. Effect of hypothermia on interleukin-1 receptor antagonist pharmacodynamics in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy of term newborns. (2018) *J Neuroinflammation* Jul 30; 15(1):214. PMID: 30060742.

MC and GS created the study design (animal model, experimental planning). MC and CG carried out the experiments. MC obtained the results included in this manuscript, performed the statistical analyses, created the figures, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MC and GS wrote and revised the manuscript and participated in its edition during the reviewing process. CG provided a critical review of the manuscript. All the work was conducted under the supervision of GS.

2. Manuscript 2 (Chapter III)

Chevin M, Chelabi K, Chabrier S, Sébire G. Added value of interleukin-1 blockade to hypothermia in the treatment of neonatal encephalopathy. (2020) *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. Sep;223(3):458-460. PMID: 32184151.

MC and GS conceived and designed the work. MC and KC performed the experiments. MC analyzed and interpreted the data. MC, SC and G.S. wrote the paper. SC provided a critical review of the manuscript. All the work was conducted under the supervision of GS.

3. Manuscript 3 (Chapter IV)

Chevin M, Chabrier S, Dinomais M, Bedell BJ, Sébire G. Benefits of hypothermia in neonatal arterial ischemic strokes: a preclinical study. (2020) *Int J Dev Neurosci*. Jun;80(4):257-266. PMID: 32115740.

MC, SC, and GS initially planned the study (animal model development, ethical approval, experiments). MC and SC performed the experiments. MD and BJB performed the imaging analyses and interpretation of data. MC obtained the results included in this manuscript, performed the statistical analysis, and created the figures. MC and SC drafted the manuscript. MD and BJB provided a critical review of the manuscript. All the work was conducted under the supervision of GS.

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

REVIEW OF THE RELEVANT LITERATURE

The literature review will focus on: (1) the description of two human conditions of the term newborns leading to brain injury, their similarity in terms of causes and risk factors, (2) preclinical models used to mimic these pathologies, (3) mechanisms at play in brain injuries with a focus on the interleukin-1 (IL-1) β , and (4) therapeutic hypothermia (HT) and its limitations to prevent brain injuries.

1. Brain injury in the term newborn

The most common disorders leading to brain injury in term newborns are neonatal encephalopathy (NE) and neonatal arterial ischemic stroke (NAIS) (Austin, 2019). NE is the leading cause of acquired brain injury and neurodisability, with an incidence of 2 to 6 per 1000 live births (Kurinczuk et al., 2010). With a birth prevalence of 1-3000 to 1-6000, NAIS is the second most common cause of neonatal seizures and the most common cause of childhood hemiplegia (Dunbar and Kirton, 2018; Fluss et al., 2019; Kirton and Deveber, 2013).

1.1. Neonatal encephalopathy

NE is a syndrome characterized by clinical abnormalities of the central nervous system that occur in the term newborn (born after the 37th week of gestation), *i.e.* between birth and the 28th day of life (Ferriero and Koch, 1985). Patients with NE present a reduced level of consciousness up to coma, epileptic seizures, feeding and respiratory difficulties, low tone and abnormal archaic reflexes (Wu et al., 2004)(**Table 1**). The causes of NE are multiple. They can be combined and are not always clearly identified. In fact, the mechanisms and precise causes of NE remain unclear in a large proportion of patients (Wu et al., 2004). Nevertheless, efforts to clarify the

pathophysiological mechanisms leading to NE led to the establishment of diagnostic criteria defining a subcategory that is hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE). HIE – for which the cause is considered to be a limitation of oxygen and blood flow near the time of birth – accounts only for 10% to 30% of NE (Kurinczuk et al., 2010; Wachtel et al., 2019). The diagnostic criteria for HIE are a low APGAR score at 10 minutes of life, metabolic acidosis at birth, as well as the need to be maintained ventilated beyond 10 minutes of life. These events demonstrate the presence of an episode of HI without ruling out other associated cause(s), possibly preceding the HI. Acute HIE around the time of birth remains a major cause of death and life-long disabilities, including motor and non-motor impairments (*e.g.* cognitive dysfunction, behavioural and educational difficulties) (Azzopardi et al., 2014; Lemyre and Chau, 2018; Pin et al., 2009). Cerebral palsy (CP) – which is defined by permanent disorders of the development of movement and posture – occurs in more than 20% of term infants with an history of NE (Battin and Sadler, 2018; Colver et al., 2014; McIntyre et al., 2013).

Since 2010, HT has been the mandatory standard of care for HIE in neonates, which could improve their neurodevelopmental outcomes (Edwards et al., 2010; Hoehn et al., 2008), see paragraph 4.

Category	Moderate encephalopathy	Severe encephalopathy	
1. Level of consciousness	Lethargy	Stupor/coma	
2. Spontaneous activity	Decreased activity	No activity	
3. Posture	Distal flexion, full extension	Decerebrate (arms extended and internally rotated, legs extended with feet in forced plantar flexion)	
4. Tone	Hypotonia (focal, general)	Flaccid	
5. Primitive refle	exes		
Suck	Weak	Absent	
Moro	Incomplete	Absent	
6. Autonomic system			
Pupils	Constricted	Skew deviation/dilated/nonreactive to light	
Heart rate (HR)	Bradycardia	Variable HR	
Respirations	Periodic breathing	Apnea	

Table 1. Criteria defining moderate or severe encephalopathy. HIE is classified according to its severity: mild, moderate or severe depending on the level of consciousness of the child, his tone and reflexes, the presence of epileptic seizures and duration of symptoms for 7 days after birth. Figure reproduced with permission from (Lemyre and Chau, 2018), copyright from <u>Creative</u> <u>Commons Attribution License (CC BY)</u>.

1.2. Neonatal arterial ischemic stroke

NAIS is one of the commonest forms of pediatric stroke (Dunbar and Kirton, 2018; Fluss et al., 2019). NAIS results from the occlusion of one or several major cerebral arteries likely due to an embolus from placental origin leading to a permanent brain infarct (detailed explanation about the

physiopathological hypothesis are presented in the review article (Giraud et al., 2017) (see appendix #2). This condition is characterized by repeated focal seizures that occur in term / nearterm newborn between birth to 28 days of life. For less than 30% of them, they also present at birth an altered level of consciousness, abnormal tone and feeding, and/or respiratory (Fluss et al., 2019; Kirton et al., 2011). NAIS cause a heavy burden of life-long motor, cognitive, and/or behavioural disabilities. One third of affected newborns will have CP, one quarter will have epilepsy, and half of them will suffer from behavioural and learning difficulties (Fluss et al., 2019). The pathophysiology of NAIS remains largely unknown; hence, there is no evidence-based preventive or curative neuroprotective strategy available for patients affected by NAIS.

1.3. Brain regions mainly affected by HIE and NAIS

Term Newborns suffering from HIE have widespread brain injuries. There are three main patterns of damage that may be combined: (1) impairment of the neocortex and adjacent subcortical regions affecting mainly paracentral frontoparietal regions; (2) involvement of basal grey nuclei including lenticular nuclei and thalami (especially ventrolateral nuclei); (3) the so-called watershed which affects frontal or parieto-occipital junctions at the border of the main cerebral arterial territories (**Figure 1**) (Rutherford et al., 2010; Sorokan et al., 2018; Yager and Ashwal, 2009).



Figure 1. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) aspects from brain of term newborns suffering from HIE. T1-weighted MRI images in the axial plane of neonatal brain with (A) moderate basal ganglia and thalamic lesions, and (B) cortical lesions. Figure adapted with permission from (Rutherford et al., 2010), copyright from <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY)</u>.

MRI is the modality to make the distinction between HIE and NAIS, makes the diagnosis and provides supplementary information about the prognosis. In case of NAIS, focal ischemic infarct in the anatomical territory of a brain artery will be visible (see **Figure 2** for an example). Lesions are more commonly found in the left side of the anterior (carotidian) brain circulation (Fluss et al., 2016; Kirton et al., 2011; Sorokan et al., 2018).



Figure 2. Example of NAIS imaging. A median cerebral artery infarct was found in diffusion weighted MRI from a neonate presenting hypotonia and focal seizures. Figure reproduced with permission from (Fluss et al., 2019).

1.4. Causes and risk factors

The majority of NE cases are associated with antepartum aggressions (prior to delivery) (Badawi et al., 1998a). Retrospective epidemiological studies have identified conditions occurring during

pregnancy as a risk factor for NE. Among the major risk factors identified are perinatal bacterial infections (mainly due to group B streptococcus and Escherichia coli), maternal fever, maternal history of epileptic seizures without fever or other neurological disorders, thyroid disorders or treatments for infertility (Badawi et al., 1998a; Speer and Hankins, 2003). In addition, preeclampsia (*i.e.* hypertension and end-stage disease). chorioamnionitis renal (infection/inflammation of the placenta, membranes and amniotic fluid), placental thrombosis and infarction, maternal hemorrhage following placental abruption, umbilical cord prolapse, uterine rupture, prolonged rupture of membranes, or post-term birth (>41 weeks of gestation) are also risk factors for NE (Mcdonald, 2004; Redline and ORiordan, 2000; Redline, 2005; Redline et al., 2007). These factors have - or are associated with - perinatal infection/inflammation and/or decreased blood flow or oxygen delivery to the fetal brain, resulting in most cases from NE to HI aggression, either pure or combined with infectious and inflammatory factors (Badawi et al., 1998a; Speer and Hankins, 2003).

Intrapartum insults (during delivery) are major risk factors of NE and subsequent CP but are reported in only 8 to 10% of NE cases. These are mainly acute complications of childbirth: uterine rupture, placental abruption, cord compression or maternal bleeding (Badawi et al., 1998b; Martinez-Biarge et al., 2013).

Despite the fact that HIE and NAIS are two distinct pathologies, current evidence suggests that they shared similar determinants. Indeed, *peripartum* HI is known as a risk factor for NAIS (Fluss et al., 2019; Giraud et al., 2017; Martinez-Biarge et al., 2016). Besides, recent studies emphasize the role of perinatal infection/inflammation in NAIS (Giraud et al., 2017; Sorg et al., 2019) (see

also paragraph 1.5). Sorg and colleagues found that exposure to chorioamnionitis increased by a factor of 10 the risk of NAIS (Sorg et al., 2019). Co-occurrence of HIE and NAIS has been describe in the literature (Adami et al., 2016; Michoulas et al., 2011; Ramaswamy et al., 2004). Besides, it can be challenging to differentiate neonates having NAIS from HIE given overlapping clinical symptoms (Adami et al., 2016).

1.5. Role of infection/inflammation in HIE and NAIS

Infectious/inflammatory events exert their harmful effects most often before birth (e.g., chorioamnionitis) or sometimes after (neonatal infections), and increases the risk of perinatal asphyxia and cardiac depression with subsequent brain HI (Lieberman et al., 2000). An interaction between inflammatory events (such as a chorioamnionitis) – an antepartum inflammatory episode - and an intrapartum HI has been identified as a major cause of brain damage in neonates with NE (Aly et al., 2006; Blume et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2003). For instance, it has been shown that the risk of neurological impairment, such as CP, is increasing as a function of the number and severity of placental lesions (Redline and ORiordan, 2000). In line with this result, a meta-analysis indicated a positive association between CP and chorioamnionitis: term newborns were found to have higher risk of 4.7 for CP when signs of clinical chorioamnionitis were presents (Wu and Colford, 2000). A recent multivariable analysis included 32,326 infants with detailed information about the placental pathology and neurodevelopment (Chen et al., 2020). Placental inflammatory pathology was significantly associated with neurodevelopmental outcomes at 8 months, 4 and 7 years. Placental inflammation was associated with CP in offspring up to four years of age (odds ratio (OR) of 8 for histological chorioamnionitis and perinatal CP, whatever the level of severity of chorioamnionitis) (Chen et al., 2020). Moreover, CP patients were found to have higher

concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines within the blood, including IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and others, as compared with control patients (Nelson et al., 1998). Several review articles emphasize the role of infection/inflammation in neonatal brain injury (Fleiss et al., 2015; Girard et al., 2009; Giraud et al., 2017; Hagberg et al., 2015; Nelson and Penn, 2015; Nelson and Willoughby, 2000).

Perinatal infection/inflammation has recently emerged as one of the most significant risk factors of NAIS (Giraud et al., 2017; Sorg et al., 2019). A recent review article confirmed the role of chorioamnionitis in increasing the risk for NAIS (with an OR up to 10) (Chabrier and Sébire, 2020; Sorg et al., 2019)

This combination of inflammation plus HI, which is the most frequent and aggressive sequence for the brain, has been applied to our experimental model of neonatal brain injuries.

2. Preclinical model of HI and/or inflammatory-sensitized HI

2.1. Rationale of the inflammatory-sensitized HI model

The first rat model of HIE was developed by the Rice-Vannucci group in 1981 (Rice et al., 1981). The authors used pups on postnatal day 7 (P7) on which they performed ischemia (permanent ligation of the left common carotid artery) and hypoxia (3.5 h, at 8% O2) (Rice et al., 1981). However, P7 rat pups correspond in term of neuronal maturation, to the level of development of a premature newborn (32-36 weeks of gestation, Figure 3) (Patel et al., 2014). Hence, P7 pups are slightly immature in terms of brain development to appropriately reflect the stage of neuronal development of the term newborn (Sarkar et al., 2019; Yager and Ashwal, 2009) (Figure 3). Significant differences between P7 and P12 rat pups are found in (*i*) the pattern of brain injuries following HI insults, (*ii*) the electrical brain activity, and (*iii*) the myelination process. Briefly,

premature HI insults result in periventricular leukomalacia or diffuse white mater injury due to the vulnerability of the oligodendrocytes at this developmental stage (Patel et al., 2014; Rumajogee et al., 2016; Sarkar et al., 2019). On the other hand, term HI injuries will affect mainly grey structures, including deep grey nuclei (thalamus, basal ganglia and caudate-putamen) and cerebral cortex, with little or only secondary (Wallerian degeneration) involvement of white matter tracts (Patel et al., 2014; Towfighi et al., 1997). Besides, it has been described that the levels of cerebral activity using electroencephalography and myelination of P12 pups were similar to term brain newborns (Patel et al., 2014).



RATAGE
Figure 3. Summary of the time course of brain processes during development in humans and rats. Timeline of brain development starting with neurogenesis, followed by microglial invasion, astrogenesis, myelination, astrocytic proliferation and adult neurogenesis in both rat and human brains. Note that the myelination process started at P10 in rats. Figure reproduced with permission from (Sarkar et al., 2019).

Recently, the Vannucci's group and others have used P10-12 pups; which is therefore more appropriate from a translational point of view for the study of the pathophysiology of brain injuries in term human newborn (Brochu et al., 2011; Patel et al., 2015, 2014).

The vast majority of NE studies used HI insult only. However, HI represents only 10-30% of NE cases (Kurinczuk et al., 2010) and infection/inflammation has been identified as a risk factor for brain damage in neonates with NE (see paragraph 1.5). This is the reason why another group started to develop a novel double-hit rat model at P7 using an intraperitoneal injection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of *Escherichia coli* followed by HI as performed in the Rice-Vannucci model (Eklind et al., 2001). Even if this study was mainly descriptive (appearance and extent of damage) and using rat pups at a preterm level of brain development, it demonstrated for the first time the relevance to combine an inflammatory insult with a HI since this combination significantly increases the extent of injury (Eklind et al., 2001). Other preclinical studies later confirmed the synergistic effect of the LPS+HI double hit model (**Figure 4**) (Brochu et al., 2011; Coumans et al., 2003; Larouche et al., 2005). In 2004, a first behavioural study on the double hit rat model at P7 demonstrated an increased cognitive impairment in the LPS+HI group as compared to HI only (Ikeda et al., 2004). In the past, our group studied the neuroinflammatory response in

very preterm (P1) *versus* term (P12) rat pups after LPS, HI or LPS+HI exposure. The maximal inflammatory response was shown in term-like brain after the exposition of LPS+HI (Brochu et al., 2011). Our group and others further characterized the effect of LPS+HI on inflammatory processes leading to brain damage (Bonestroo et al., 2015; Savard et al., 2015, 2013).



Figure 4. Synergistic effect of LPS and HI in a term (P12) rat model. Sole HI (Rice-Vannucci model) causes macroscopic lesions in the cerebral cortex, as compared to control (the stars correspond to the total loss of tissue). Exposure to LPS does not induce macroscopic brain damage. Exposure to LPS plus HI increases brain damage compared to sole HI. The inflammation caused by the presence of LPS potentiates the inflammatory response and the brain injury caused by HI insult. Figure reproduced with permission from (Brochu et al., 2011), copyright from <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY)</u>.

2.2. Rationale for the LPS+HI model as an NAIS model

We already discussed earlier in this thesis introduction how inflammatory-induced NE and NAIS could be two pathologies that can coexists in clinic, and sometimes hardly distinguishable (Adami et al., 2016; Michoulas et al., 2011; Ramaswamy et al., 2004). Both pathologies shared similar risk

factors (see paragraph 1.5.), as well as induced comparable long-term consequences for infants; i.e. CP, epilepsy, and cognitive and behavioural impairments (see **Table 2.**) (Fluss et al., 2019; Giraud et al., 2017; McIntyre et al., 2013). MRI images of the brain is actually the main tool used to discriminate NE and NAIS (see paragraph 1.3.): with diffuse injuries observable in NE, and focal injuries in an arterial territory in NAIS (Fluss et al., 2019; Rutherford et al., 2010). Besides, in this model, the occlusion of the common carotid artery leading to focal brain injury is one of the key feature responsible for NAIS in human (see **Table 2.**) (Fluss et al., 2016; Suppiej et al., 2019).

	Neonatal encephalopathy (NE)	Neonatal arterial ischemic stroke (NAIS)	
Prevalence	2/1000 term births	1/3000 to 1/6000 term births	
Mortality	Around 30%	2%	
Initial symptoms	Abnormal consciousness level, seizures, abnormal tonus and reflexes	Focal seizures	
Long-term consequences	Cerebral palsy (20%), epilepsy (15-20%), cognitive and behavioral impairments	Cerebral palsy (33%), epilepsy (15%), cognitive and behavioral impairments	
Risk factors	Hypoxia + Ischemia (HI, 10-20%) Perinatal infection-inflammation (chorioamnionitis: OR=8)	<i>Peripartum</i> hypoxia Occlusion of the cervico-encephalic artery Infection-inflammation (chorioamnionitis: OR=10)	
Brain injuries (MRI)	permanent non-progressive mainly in the cortex or the basal ganglia	permanent non-progressive mainly in the area of the affected artery (middle cerebral artery, carotid artery)	

Table 2. Comparison of the main clinical characteristics between NE and NAIS. This table was realized based on a literature review of several clinical studies conducted on human cases of HIE and inflammatory-sensitized NE, as well as NAIS (Aly et al., 2006; Azzopardi et al., 2014; Blume et al., 2008; Chabrier and Sébire, 2020; Chen et al., 2020; Fluss et al., 2019, 2016; Giraud et al., 2017; Mcdonald, 2004; McIntyre et al., 2013; Nelson, 2009; Redline and ORiordan, 2000; Redline, 2005; Rutherford et al., 2010; Sorg et al., 2019; Suppiej et al., 2019).

This is why, to our opinion and based on these knowledges, we think that the combination of inflammation plus HI is relevant to both NE and NAIS.

3. Mechanisms of brain injury induced by HI \pm inflammation.

This paragraph focuses on the genesis of brain injury in term newborns. Most of the mechanisms detailed below have been described in pure or inflammatory-sensitized HI but can also be applied to NAIS.

3.1. Phases of brain injury

Brain damage resulting from pure HI origin - or HI combined to infection/inflammation - is caused by two consecutive energy failures. The first phase of injury occurs between 0 and 6 h after the exposition to HI alone or infection/inflammation plus HI. This primary energy failure leads to primary neuronal death, including unprogrammed cell death (*i.e.* excitatory cell death and necrosis, see paragraph 3.2.1) and programmed necrosis (so-called necroptosis, paragraph 3.2.2) followed by a first release of inflammatory molecules, including damage-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs), cytokines, chemokines, and other (Davidson et al., 2015; Giraud et al., 2017) (**Figure 5**). After a latent phase corresponding to cerebral re-oxygenation, the energy metabolism will stabilize, before deteriorating again. The second energy failure occurs from 24 to 72 hours after the first one and is characterized by neuronal damage caused by mitochondrial dysfunction and the initiation of the apoptotic cascade (Ma et al., 2012) (**Figure 5** and paragraph 3.2.3). During this second phase, there is also release of inflammatory mediators amplifying brain damage (Khwaja and Volpe, 2008; Leviton et al., 2005).



Figure 5. Phases of injury following HI \pm inflammation and mechanistic pathways leading to neuronal death. Figure reproduced with permission from (Giraud et al., 2017), copyright from <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY)</u>.

A phase of repair and reorganization will follow the massive destruction of neurons during the second phase of injury. During this third phase, new cells are created, and neural circuits are regenerated. However, the inflammation resulting from the HI still persists and the resulting apoptosis disrupts the production of new cells and neuronal survival for several months. Indeed, it was shown by Winerdal and colleagues that inflammation can persist up to three months after NE within the periphery and brain of neonates (Winerdal et al., 2012). The precise mechanisms that

induce the prolongation of the assault are not all known at present (Davidson et al., 2015; Fleiss and Gressens, 2012).

3.2. Cell death pathways at play in HIE and NAIS

3.2.1. Unprogrammed cell death

In physiological conditions, glutamate mediates excitatory synaptic transmission via the activation of glutamate receptors, including N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) to mediate the normal information processing. Upon an HI insult, the deprivation of glucose and oxygen within the brain leads to the deterioration of energy metabolism (Thornton and Hagberg, 2015; Zhao et al., 2007). The low levels of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) cause failure of the energy-dependent cell membrane ion channels that maintain cell integrity, which results in an acute intracellular influx of calcium (Ca^{2+}) and sodium and cell membrane depolarization, as well as accumulation of extracellular glutamate (Li et al., 2017). This significant increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ will then activate the calpains which will cleave the cytoskeleton proteins, the membrane receptors and transporters. Ultimately, this process will induce swelling of the organelles and the cytoplasm, as well as the rupture of the plasma membrane of the cell (Martin and Henry, 2013; Tovar-y-Romo et al., 2016). The necrotic cells will release their intracellular container: organelles and nucleus (DNA, RNA, nucleotides) as well as DAMPs such as IL-1a, the high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB-1), ATP, uric acid, and heat shock proteins. This release of DAMPs will induce the recruitment and activation of neutrophils, dendritic cells as well as macrophages, and promote an important inflammatory response. Indeed, the activation of inflammasomes and the transcription of the nuclear factor NFkB, via the binding of DAMPs to their Toll-like receptors (TLRs), Nodlike receptors (NLRs) induce the synthesis and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including

IL-1 β) (Pisetsky, 2011; Sangiuliano et al., 2014) (see also paragraph 3.3). This inflammation can eventually lead to apoptosis or necrosis of nearby cells.

3.2.2. Programmed necrosis

Necroptosis is an early cell death pathway (occurring within the 6 h of injury) which is triggered by inflammatory mediators led by Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α and TNF family death receptor (TNFR): TNFR-1, FAS, and TLR, namely TLR-3 and TLR-4 (Figure 5). The recruitment of adapter proteins such as tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1-associated death domain protein (TRADD) et fas-associated protein with death domain (FADD) by the ligands mentioned above, as well as the receptor interacting protein-1 (RIP-1) will induce the activation of caspase-8 and t-Bid, and lead to death by apoptosis. On the other hand, if caspase-8 is inhibited, TRADD will facilitate the interaction and activation of RIP-1 and RIP-3, followed by the recruitment and phosphorylation of mixed lineage kinase domain-like protein (MLKL), thus forming the necrosome (Kaiser et al., 2013; Mandal et al., 2014; Tovar-y-Romo et al., 2016; Walsh, 2014). The necrosome will then induce necroptosis of the cell by increasing the level of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and/or by inducing mitochondrial fission via dynamin-related protein 1 (Drp1). Normally, Drp-1 regulates mitochondrial dynamics (homeostasis between mitochondrial fusion and fission) by facilitating fission of the mitochondria. During intense cellular stress, there will be an intensification of the translocation of Drp1 to the mitochondria, inducing its fragmentation and leading to cell death (Figure 5) (Pradeep et al., 2014). All the mechanisms by which MLKL induces cell death are not totally elucidated. The induction of necroptosis via non-mitochondrial mechanisms is still under study. Furthermore, the release of mitochondrial ROS within the cytoplasm of the neuron can induce the activation of the inflammasome.

Necroptosis has been discovered quite recently and is a hot topic since then. It has been described in several pathologies, including neurodegenerative diseases such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Ito et al., 2016; Morrice et al., 2017; Re et al., 2014). Recent studies indicated that necroptosis is a neuronal death process involved in NE. It was shown in preclinical models that cerebral expression of TNF- α , as well as RIP-3 was triggered by LPS plus HI exposure (Savard et al., 2015, 2013). Besides, it was also shown that necrostatin-1—a RIP-1 inhibitor—administered after HI injury in P7 mice was neuroprotective: this inhibitor is able to prevent forebrain injury, as well as attenuates oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction (Raul Chavez-Valdez et al., 2012; R Chavez-Valdez et al., 2012; Northington et al., 2011). To date, no study describes any effect of HT on necroptosis in NE.

3.2.3. Apoptosis/autophagy and anoikis cell death

The secondary phase of injury (from 24 h to 72 h post-insult) implicates mainly apoptosis, anoikis and autophagy cell deaths. Many preclinical studies characterized the involvement of apoptotic cell death in the genesis of NE – due to pure HI or combined with infection/inflammation – and provided evidence in favor of neuroprotective strategies targeting apoptotic pathways (Baburamani et al., 2017; Carlsson et al., 2011; Chauvier et al., 2011; Hallin et al., 2006; Jia et al., 2019; Nijboer et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2010). It is described in the literature that apoptotic and autophagic cell death pathways crosstalk, and that autophagy can block apoptosis by sequestration of mitochondria. It is still debated if autophagy just after NE is a neuroprotective mechanism by limiting the release of cell content and the inflammation (Mariño et al., 2014; Xie et al., 2016). Anoikis is another form of apoptosis triggered by cell detachment from the extracellular matrix. Anoikis is induced by increased matrix metallopeptidases (MMPs), including MMP-9 and

activation of Fas receptor, which initiates the apoptosis cascade (Grossmann, 2002). This cell death was assessed following HI plus inflammation: Savard and colleagues describe an overexpression of MMP-9 after HI plus inflammation injury (Savard et al., 2015, 2013). They also showed that the use of an MMP-9 competitive inhibitor can limit the size of the brain injury (Savard et al., 2015). Recently, a clinical study reported elevated MMP-9 concentration in the serum of term newborns suffering from HIE (Salah et al., 2019). Higher MMP-9 level was observed in more severe cases of HIE, suggesting serum MMP-9 to be a predictor of important neurological sequelae and severity in NE (Salah et al., 2019).

3.3. IL-1β-driven neuroinflammation in LPS+HI-induced HIE and NAIS

IL-1 β is a cytokine with many biological effects, including the activation of several proinflammatory mechanisms. It is expressed as an inactive pro-protein (pro-IL-1 β) and must be cleaved into IL-1 β by caspase-1 through the activation of the inflammasome, in order to exert its functions (Allan et al., 2005). For instance, the recognition of DAMPs by an intracellular receptor called Nod-like receptor (NLR) will activate the inflammasome, which controls the maturation and expression of IL-1 β and IL-18. The main NLRs present in the central nervous system (CNS) are NLRP1 and NLRP3 (Schroder and Tschopp, 2010). IL-1 β binds to its receptor, IL-1R1, which then binds with the adapter protein of the IL-1 β receptor (IL-1RAcP) to carry out the intracellular signal. Signal transmission is via IL-1R1, NF- κ B factors and Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Korherr et al., 1997) (**Figure 5**). When stimulated with IL-1 β in vitro, all CNS cells respond conventionally by the NF- κ B and MAPK pathways by expressing secondary inflammatory factors (prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), IL-6, nitric oxide). However, CNS cells have been shown to respond differently to IL-1 β ; neurons will use the p38MAPK pathway while astrocytes will use the NF- κ B pathway (Srinivasan et al., 2004). The ligand-receptor system has an interesting feature: there is an endogenous antagonist – called the IL-1Ra – expressed by the same cells which inhibits the signaling of the receptor (Allan et al., 2005).

Il-1β can also be produced in response to molecular motifs from pathogens, called pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) that activate Toll-like receptors (TLR) or NLR, and regulate the expression of NFκB and MAPK (Brough et al., 2011). Besides, LPS is known to bind TLR-4 and activate IL-1β synthesis through the activation of myeloid differentiation primary response gene (MyD) 88 and NFκB (Bowie and O'Neill, 2000) (**Figure 5**). DAMPs released from dead cells can also activate the production of IL-1β (Brough et al., 2011). Exposure to LPS and/or HI results in release of PAMPs and DAMPs and, when combined, can lead to over-activation and overexpression of IL-1β (Brough et al., 2011) (**Figure 5**). Furthermore, it has been shown recently that necroptosis mediators (*i.e.* RIP3 and MLKL, see paragraph 3.2.2) can also activate NLRP3 and induce the expression of IL-1β, following LPS administration (Lawlor et al., 2015). Altogether, this will favor the establishment of a proinflammatory state, mediated by IL-1β and subsequent neurotoxic mechanisms such as IL-1β-induced other inflammatory mediators and/or exacerbation of the excitotoxicity (see paragraph 3.2.1)

3.3.1. Effects of IL-1 β on neural cells

IL-1 β has multiple effects on glial cells via the IL-1R1 (Allan et al., 2005). The most responsive cells to IL-1 β are astrocytes (Allan et al., 2005; Chen and Swanson, 2003). IL-1 β promotes astrogliosis (proliferation of astrocytes) and their activation (Chen and Swanson, 2003). Reactive astrocytes can help neurons by regulating the concentrations of ions and transmitters. They can also be a source of pro-inflammatory cytokines and become neurotoxic (Chen and Swanson, 2003).

A wide range of genes (around 1400) are express during activation of astrocytes by IL-1 β , including MMPs, cytokines (IL-6), chemokines, growth factors (such as nerve growth factor (NGF)), adhesion molecules and receptors (Allan et al., 2005). Microglia also responds directly to IL-1 β via IL-1R1 (Allan et al., 2005). This response results in the release of inflammatory neurotoxic mediators such as ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), lipid mediators (PGE2), cytokines (TNF α) and chemokines (monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1) (Basu et al., 2004). At the neuronal level, IL-1 β has been shown to be neurotoxic (Allan et al., 2005). IL-1 β allows calcium to enter the NMDAR which is involved in neuronal death (see paragraph 3.2).

It has been shown by our group and others that HI \pm inflammation induced an increase in the number and activity of astrocytes and microglia within the brain (Hagberg et al., 2015; Savard et al., 2013). However, Savard and colleagues did not identify these cells as major productor of IL-1 β in their LPS+HI model (Savard et al., 2013). Instead, they described that neuronal cells were the only cell type with increased expression of IL-1 β very early (namely 4 h) after the exposition to LPS+HI. NLRP1 was also expressed in neurons following LPS+HI insult (Savard et al., 2015). Microglia and astrocytes were more associated with an increase TNF- α expression 48 h after LPS+HI exposure (Savard et al., 2013).

3.3.2. Effect of IL-1 β on endothelial cells and blood brain barrier disruption

In vitro studies have described that IL-1 β can activate endothelial cells leading to the overexpression of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 and the vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 (Thornton et al., 2010). This effect has been confirmed in *in vivo* studies of focal ischemic stroke (Wong et al., 2019). After a stroke, IL-1 β was able to activate brain endothelial cells through binding with IL-1R1, leading to the upregulation of ICAM-1, VCAM-1

and chemokines. Ultimately, this will result in neutrophils adhesion and infiltration within the brain parenchyma (Wong et al., 2019). It has been also described that the infiltration of neutrophils following ischemic injury will amplify the cerebral response and exacerbate the disruption of the blood brain barrier (BBB), leading to increase brain injuries (Jin et al., 2010). After deleting specifically IL-1R1 in the brain endothelium of mice, Wong and colleague observed a significant reduction of the disruption of the BBB, as well as the reduction of the infarct volume and neurological improvements (Wong et al., 2019). In line with these results, Savard and colleague described increased of cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant (CINC-1) and MCP-1, as well as disruption of the BBB, in their model of inflammatory-sensitized HI (Savard et al., 2015). IL-1 blockade was able to restore the BBB and prevent neutrophils infiltration (Savard et al., 2015).

3.4. IL-1/IL-1Ra balance in the brain

IL-1 β is expressed constitutively and in small amounts in the brain (Allan et al., 2005; Vitkovic et al., 2000). IL-1 β has long been described as having physiological activity on the brain (Allan et al., 2005). Studies uncovered an important role for IL-1 β in sleep, neuronal plasticity, neurogenesis, and modulation of learning and memory (Liu and Quan, 2018; Mantovani et al., 2019; Vitkovic et al., 2000). But IL-1 probably have many other direct or indirect impacts on physiological activities within the brain (Liu and Quan, 2018). For a particular example, studies demonstrated that knock out mice for IL-1R have decreased sleep periods, synaptic plasticity deficits and poor spatial memory (Avital et al., 2003; Liu and Quan, 2018). IL-1Ra overexposure can also have deleterious effects on brain morphology and can results in behavioural impairments or memory deficits (Goshen et al., 2007; Spulber et al., 2011, 2009). Hence, modulation of the IL-1 system needs to be tightly controlled in order to avoid harmful impact on the brain.

3.5. hrIL-1Ra effects in term brain injury and perinatal inflammation

IL-1Ra is an endogenous ligand that prevents the activation of the IL-1R1 by blocking both IL-1 α and IL-1 β . A human recombinant called Anakinra (or Kineret®) is actually used to treat rheumatoid arthritis and chronic inflammatory conditions, including those affecting pregnant mothers and newborns (Dinarello and van der Meer, 2013; Rosenzweig et al., 2014). In neonates, the recommended dose is between 1-8 mg/kg per day (see appendix #1). However, due to change of species, this compound will be twelve-times less effective when administrated in rats (Quiniou et al., 2008).

We already discussed that HI \pm inflammation induce major postnatal brain injury through the release of inflammatory mediators, especially IL-1 β . Therefore, the administration of IL-1Ra may be a potential therapeutic intervention of brain injury. Several preclinical studies have shown the neuroprotective effects of hrIL-1Ra in postnatal brain injury models. It has been shown in rodent models of HI that hrIL-1Ra reduced the extent of brain damage (Hagberg et al., 1996; Hu et al., 2005; Martin et al., 1994). Furthermore, Hu and colleagues found a reduction of caspase-3-induced cell death and NF κ B activation following the administration of hrIL-1Ra. More recently, Savard and colleagues demonstrated the neuroprotective effect of hrIL-1Ra in their model of inflammatory-sensitized HI injury. In their studies, they found that hrIL-1Ra reduced the extent of brain injury by histologic and MRI observations (**Figure 6**) (Savard et al., 2015, 2013). For this study, hrIL-1Ra was used at the dose of 200 mg/kg. This dose has already been demonstrated to be the most effective in adult model of stoke (McCulloch et al., 2019; Relton et al., 1996; Savard et al., 2013).



Figure 6. Neuroprotective effect of hrIL-1Ra observed on brain MRI in an inflammatorysensitized HI rat model. The treatment with IL-1Ra decreased the extent of brain lesion (*i.e.* hypersignal area) in the right cortex. Figure reproduced with permission from (Savard et al., 2013), copyright from <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY)</u>.

Besides, hrIL-1Ra reduced LPS+HI-induced mortality, decreased the activation of caspase-3 and RIP-3-induced cell death, as well as improved motor behavioural impairments (Savard et al., 2015). Interestingly, a recent study uncovered that IL-1Ra – in addition to its effect on inflammatory pathway – is able to inhibit caspase 8 and 9; therefore, preventing apoptosis and necroptosis (Spinello et al., 2019).

In other preclinical studies, hrIL-1Ra was found to have beneficial effect in LPS-induced chorioamnionitis in fetal sheep (Berry et al., 2011), as well as in neonatal inflammation-induced

neuronal injury and long-term neurobehavioural deficits in adult rats (Lan et al., 2015; Pang et al., 2015).

In human, a randomised phase II trial of IL-1Ra in adult ischemic stroke showed promising results (Emsley et al., 2005). The administration of IL-1Ra was safe and well tolerated in acute stroke. Clinical outcomes after the stroke were more favourable in the IL-1Ra-treated group (Emsley et al., 2005). Despite promising results in preclinical studies, to date no clinical trial has been assessed to test its safety and efficacy in perinatal brain injury. Furthermore, no studies have yet been conducted to assess the efficacy of IL-1Ra in combination with HT.

4. Therapeutic HT

4.1. HT in HIE

Since 2010, therapeutic HT became the standard treatment for newborns suspected of having HIE (Edwards et al., 2010). Specific eligibility criteria are shown in the **Table 3**. This treatment consists in treating the affected newborn within 6 hours after birth. The whole body of the newborn is placed on HT to lower the body temperature to 33-34 °C. HT is maintained for 72 h, before a gradual rewarming (0.5 °C per hour) of the newborn. Neuroprotective mechanisms of HT are a decrease in: (*i*) brain energy metabolism, (*ii*) the accumulation of neurotoxic amino acids (glutamate), (*iii*) the release of ROS and RNS (Alva et al., 2013), and (*iv*) the activity of the apoptosis and necrosis pathways (Gancia and Pomero, 2010; Shankaran, 2012).

A. Cord pH \leq 7.0 or base deficit \geq -16, OR

B. pH 7.01 to 7.15 or base deficit -10 to -15.9 on cord gas or blood gas within 1 h AND

- 1. History of acute perinatal event (such as but not limited to cord prolapse, placental abruption or uterine rupture) AND
- 2. Apgar score ≤5 at 10 minutes or at least 10 minutes of positivepressure ventilation

C. Evidence of moderate-to-severe encephalopathy, demonstrated by the presence of seizures OR at least one sign in three or more of the six categories shown in Table 1.

Table 3. Eligibility criteria for HT treatment. The Canadian Pediatric Society indicates in their guidelines that infants who benefit from HT are term newborns (\geq 36 weeks of gestation) with HIE who are \leq 6 hours old and who meet either treatment criteria A or B, and also meet criteria C (Lemyre and Chau, 2018).

Preclinical studies in rodents first demonstrated beneficial effects of HT on HI: these studies noted alleviation in energy metabolism with the improvement in ATP level (Williams et al., 1997), a decrease in acidosis, as well as a reduction in brain damage (Laptook et al., 1995; Thoresen et al., 1996; Williams et al., 1997; Yager et al., 1993). The potential effect of HT on neuroinflammatory cytokines expression has been poorly investigated up to now in preclinical models as well as in term newborns (see paragraph 4.3.5).

Following this work, six randomized controlled therapeutic trials were carried out in order to verify and better characterize neuroprotective effects of HT in human newborns (Azzopardi et al., 2009; Gluckman et al., 2005; Jacobs et al., 2013; Shankaran et al., 2005; Simbruner et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2010). These clinical trials used two different cooling methods: selective head cooling (only the head is placed in HT) or whole-body HT. No significant difference in terms of speed and stability of cooling was observed between these two methods (Gluckman et al., 2005; Shankaran, 2012; Wassink et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2010). The different teams measured the survival rate of newborns as well as neurodevelopmental disabilities resulting from NE (the main outcome was based on a composite score integrating these two variables). The most convincing beneficial effect have been observed in infants with moderate encephalopathies (Gluckman et al., 2005; Gunn et al., 2008) (see Table 1 for the criteria of encephalopathy according to severity). Evidence of safety and efficacy of HT for newborns with mild and severe NE is still insufficient. Further studies on this particular point is needed (Chawla et al., 2020; Edwards et al., 2010; Kariholu et al., 2020; Nair and Kumar, 2018; Perretta et al., 2019; Wassink et al., 2019) (see also paragraph 4.3.1). The long-term beneficial effects of HT were further clarified by longer-term follow-up studies of cohorts of patients previously cited. These studies have shown that the risk of CP in HIE-exposed newborn is reduced by 15% with treatment with HT (Azzopardi et al., 2014; Jary et al., 2015) (Table 4). In addition, the authors noticed that children treated with HT were less at risk of developing severe motor disabilities. More children in the HT-treated versus untreated group survived without neurological problems (Table 4) (Azzopardi et al., 2014).

Variable	Hypothermia Group	Control Group	Relative Risk (95% CI)	P Value
	no./total no. (%)			
Grade of disability*				
No disability	65/96 (68)	37/83 (45)	1.52 (1.15–2.00)	0.002
Mild disability	10/96 (10)	15/83 (18)		
Moderate disability	8/96 (8)	11/83 (13)		
Severe disability	13/96 (14)	20/83 (24)		
Moderate or severe disability	21/96 (22)	31/83 (37)	0.59 (0.37-0.94)	0.03
Cerebral palsy†	21/98 (21)	31/86 (36)	0.59 (0.37–0.95)	0.03
Score on Gross Motor Function Classification System‡				
No abnormality	76/98 (78)	49/83 (59)	1.31 (1.07–1.62)	0.01
Level 1–2	6/98 (6)	13/83 (16)		
Level 3–5	16/98 (16)	21/83 (25)	0.65 (0.36-1.15)	0.14
Score on Manual Ability Classification System§				
No abnormality	75/98 (77)	51/83 (61)	1.25 (1.02–1.53)	0.04
Level 1–2	4/98 (4)	8/83 (10)		
Level 3–5	19/98 (19)	24/83 (29)	0.67 (0.40–1.13)	0.16
Visual impairment not corrected by eyeglasses	7/98 (7)	10/82 (12)	0.59 (0.23–1.47)	0.31
Blindness	1/98 (1)	1/82 (1)	0.84 (0.05-13.17)	1.00
Hearing impairment	4/98 (4)	8/83 (10)	0.42 (0.13–1.36)	0.15

* Two children in the hypothermia group could not be classified. P=0.002 for trend.

† Two children in the hypothermia group and two in the control group could not be classified and were subsequently found not to have cerebral palsy.

* Scoring on the Gross Motor Function Classification System is as follows: level 1, able to walk independently but may have some gait abnormalities; level 2, able to walk in most settings but with only minimal ability to perform gross motor skills such as running and jumping; level 3, walks with handheld assistive device and when seated may need seat belt for balance; level 4, requires physical assistance or powered mobility and needs adaptive seating; and level 5, severely limited in mobility, with limited ability to maintain antigravity head and trunk postures. P=0.01 for trend.

Scoring on the Manual Ability Classification System is as follows: level 1, handles objects easily and successfully; level 2, handles most objects but with somewhat reduced quality or speed of achievement; level 3, handles objects with difficulty; needs help to prepare or modify activities; level 4, handles a limited selection of easily managed objects in adapted situations; level 5, does not handle objects and has severely limited ability to perform even simple actions. P=0.04 for trend.

Table 4. Assessment of the efficacy of HT in children (6-7 years old) who survived an HIE at birth. Children in the hypothermia group had significantly reduced rates of cerebral palsy (21% *vs.* 36%) and moderate or severe disability (22% *vs.* 37%) and had significantly better scores for manual ability and gross motor function. Figure reproduced with permission from (Azzopardi et al., 2014), Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.

In a small prospective clinical study, HT may decrease the severity and spectrum of CP in survivors of HIE at 24 months – with only one third of CP cases being severe (Jary et al., 2015). However, in this study, HT did not decrease the total number of CP cases in the cohort (Jary et al., 2015). Long-term follow-up and other studies are required to confirm the finding of a reduction of severity of CP in HT-treated newborns.

4.2. HT in NAIS

No treatment – aside from supportive therapy – is available for newborns with NAIS. Recent studies highlight the fact that HT could beneficiate to those newborns (Gancia and Pomero, 2012). It has been described in adult rodent models of ischemic stroke that HT was able to reduce the infarct size by 44% (van der Worp et al., 2007). However, preclinical studies assessing the efficacy of HT in NAIS are still missing. In clinic, it happened that neonates treated with HT and initially thought to have HIE were later diagnosed with NAIS (Adami et al., 2016; Michoulas et al., 2011; Ramaswamy et al., 2004). A single-center prospective cohort study shows for the first time a potential beneficial effect of HT in human newborns in which NE and NAIS coexist (Harbert et al., 2011). Indeed, Harbert and colleagues reported an absence of seizures in HT-treated neonates with NAIS as compared to untreated patients (Harbert et al., 2011). Further research is necessary to further assess the beneficial effect of HT in NAIS.

4.3. Limitations of HT

4.3.1. Limited clinical efficacy of HT

Several clinical studies indicate that HT confers only a partial neuroprotection. More than 50% of newborns treated with HT will experience mild to severe neurological sequelae such as intellectual disabilities, disorders of the learning, autism spectrum disorder or attention deficit disorder (Azzopardi et al., 2014; Davidson et al., 2015). These studies also showed that the efficacy of HT would be limited in severe cases of NE (Azzopardi et al., 2014; Davidson et al., 2015). These studies also showed that the efficacy of HT would be limited in severe cases of NE (Azzopardi et al., 2014; Davidson et al., 2015). Besides, HT reduces the risk of mortality and morbidity by only 11% (from 58 to 47%) (Azzopardi et al., 2014; Davidson et al., 2015). Data from registries including the Canadian CP registry show that HT prevents only 4% of CP cases (Garfinkle et al., 2015). These findings have also been observed in preclinical studies performed in rat pups and piglets (Haaland et al., 1997; Sabir et al., 2012; Yager et al., 1993).

Almost all clinical data regarding the effect of HT on death and disabilities are combining together newborns having moderate and those having severe HIE (Azzopardi et al., 2014; Natarajan et al., 2016; Shankaran et al., 2005). However, there is not much evidence of the efficacy of HT for newborns suffering from severe HIE (Nair and Kumar, 2018). In the CoolCap study, death and severe disabilities (*i.e.* unfavourable outcome) were reported in 89% of HT-treated and 100% of untreated newborns suffering from severe HIE encephalopathy (Gunn et al., 2008). In contrast, HT-treated neonates with moderate encephalopathy had improved outcomes compared to untreated neonates. Unfavourable outcomes were reported in 31% in the HT-treated, compared with 64% in the untreated group (Gunn et al., 2008). Besides, HT reduced seizure burden in newborns with moderate, but not severe HIE (Srinivasakumar et al., 2013).

In addition, other clinical and preclinical studies have questioned the efficacy of HT when NE was the result of an infection/inflammation and HI combination (Johnson et al., 2016; Mir et al., 2015;

Osredkar et al., 2014; Wintermark et al., 2010). In a prospective study of placental histology relative to MRI outcomes, HT was less protective for infants with NE whose placentas exhibited chorioamnionitis (Wintermark et al., 2010). In adult clinical studies, HT has been found to be ineffective, and potentially harmful in the presence of severe meningitis or sepsis (Itenov et al., 2018; Mourvillier et al., 2013).

The limitations of neuroprotective efficacy of HT to combat pure HI, and the doubts about its effectiveness in mechanisms combining several insults such as inflammation and HI, require to study new therapies associated with HT in order to increase its therapeutic benefit, and further reduce the impact of NE on the survival of newborns and future neurological disabilities (Benninger et al., 2020) (see paragraph 4.4).

4.3.2. Optimization of HT protocol

The clinical limitation of HT can be partly due to the fact that the HT protocol still needs to be optimized. Indeed, the timing of HT induction after birth as well as the optimal temperature and duration of HT are still being questioned (Wassink et al., 2019).

The timing of induction of HT was set at 6 h maximum after birth, according to the results of preclinical studies indicating that HT was no longer effective after 6 h in moderate cases of HIE; and that HT is deleterious when induced after 12 h of delay in severe cases of HIE (Sabir et al., 2012). However, initiating HT within the 6 h time window can be difficult, especially in case of transportation of the neonate or delay in the diagnosis of HIE. A recent randomized clinical trial questioned the beneficial effect of late HT (from 6 to 24 h after birth) (Laptook et al., 2017). Data suggested that the induction of HT after 6 h still results in a reduction of death and disabilities (Laptook et al., 2017). However, data in this study have been criticized and raised controversy

(Bourque and Dietz, 2019, 2018; Laptook et al., 2019; Quintana et al., 2017; Walløe et al., 2019). Hence, further work is still required to clearly answer this question, before changing HT criteria in clinic.

Recent studies have sought to evaluate the effectiveness of HT when it was deeper (30 or 32°C instead of 33°C) and/or lasted for longer (24, 48 or even 120 h) compared to the classic protocol (Lee et al., 2010; Wood et al., 2016). Thomas Wood et al. have demonstrated that HT levels of 33.5°C, 32°C and 30°C are effective and safe in rat pups (Wood et al., 2016). However, Lee and colleagues did not find any differences between their HT protocol: neither prolonged the HT duration nor decreased the temperature (from 33 to 30°C) were found to further improve neurological outcomes (Lee et al., 2010). A clinical study evaluating the same question did not show any difference in terms of safety (cardiac arrest, persistent acidosis, thrombosis or bleeding of blood vessels and mortality) from prolonged HT (120 h) compared to conventional HT (72 h); similarly for HT at 32 °C versus 33.5 °C (Shankaran et al., 2014). The HT protocol still requires fine-tuning to be optimal.

4.3.3. Limitation in assessing the neuroprotective effect of HT in preclinical studies

HT was implemented as a standard of care based on previous preclinical work (Laptook et al., 1995; Thoresen et al., 1996; Williams et al., 1997; Yager et al., 1993). However, in these studies HT was modestly effective, and the criteria of neuroprotective effect mainly based on histological measures of the extent of brain damage. Very few studies used optimal tools such as MRI to visualize the integrality of brain injury, and magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) or positron emission tomography (PET) to measure the brain metabolism (Ahn et al., 2018; Doman et al.,

2018; Lee et al., 2010; Traudt et al., 2013). Different imaging techniques are now available in animal model of postnatal brain injury (Lodygensky et al., 2008). Besides, imaging findings can be correlated to histopathology and behavioural evaluations, providing more information regarding HT efficacy.

4.3.4. Effect of HT on pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters of drugs

Studies have questioned the effects of HT on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of other drugs used in combination with HT, or in the therapeutic window of HT in the clinic. In particular, it has been reported that HT could interfere with plasma concentration, volume of distribution and the elimination of certain drugs, creating unexplained and potentially toxic effects in newborns (de Haan et al., 2012; Ezzati et al., 2017; Pokorna et al., 2015; van den Broek et al., 2010; Zhou and Poloyac, 2011). This includes morphine, agonists of α and β adrenergic receptors, and antiepileptic drugs which are often used in newborns suffering from HIE. As an example, a recent preclinical study demonstrated that dexmedetomidine (a selective agonist of the α 2 adrenergic receptor used as a sedative) in combination with HT induces major cardiac and neurotoxic effects in a piglet model of HIE (Ezzati et al., 2017). Three recent clinical studies revealed alteration of pharmacokinetic and/or pharmacodynamic parameters of ampicillin, morphine, and melatonin following HT procedure on HIE newborns (Balduini et al., 2019; Cies et al., 2017; Favié et al., 2019). Information is still lacking for many medications regarding the impact of HT on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in newborns.

4.3.5. Effect of HT on HIE-induced cytokines release

Clinical studies only suggest an effect of HT on the peripheral immune responses in human newborns with HIE; some showed contradictory findings. HT was associated with increased median levels of IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and MCP-1 as compared to untreated neonates (Jenkins et al., 2012). Some patterns of cytokines and chemokines expression were more associated with good or adverse outcomes (Jenkins et al., 2012). In contrast, Róka and colleagues found that HT was associated with a reduction of serum IL-6 and IL-4 (Róka et al., 2013). Besides, Chalak et al. found no difference in cord/serum cytokines levels during HT and rewarming (Chalak et al., 2014). Another study made an association between a lower serum concentration of some pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-2 and favorable outcome at 24 h of HT treatment (Orrock et al., 2015). Given the conflicting results and small group tested, more data on cytokines profiles in larger cohorts of newborns with HIE will be needed to answer this question.

Preclinical studies of HIE \pm inflammation provide conflicting results concerning the role of HT in modulating pro/anti-inflammatory cytokine production. In their model of 10-day old rat pups with HIE, Yuan and colleagues observed a significant decrease of IL-1 β expression after a 24 h HT period (Yuan et al., 2014). They did not show any effect of HT on other inflammatory molecules they tested, namely: TNF- α , MCP-1 and interferon- γ (Yuan et al., 2014). In a similar model, Parks and colleagues did not found any significant difference in IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α levels in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of treated with HT versus untreated animals (Park et al., 2015). These results were also confirmed by our study which found that the neuroprotective effect of HT was independent of the IL-1 system (including IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-1Ra and MMP-9) but can be partly explain through its effect on antioxidant enzymes (Chevin et al., 2016). Besides, two other preclinical studies observe a pro-inflammatory effect after HT treatment. In an in vitro study on the effect of temperature on cytokines release from microglia, Matsui and Kakeda described a down-regulation of IL-10 (i.e. an anti-inflammatory cytokine) after HT treatment (Matsui and Kakeda, 2008). More recently, Rocha-Ferreira and colleagues observed a systemic pro-inflammatory status after the rewarming of HT in their piglet model of HIE (Rocha-Ferreira et al., 2017).

Additional work is needed to explore whether HT should be supplemented with anti-inflammatory treatment(s) for maximum benefit.

4.4. Other therapeutic approaches

Since HT is now the standard treatment for NE, other potential treatments should be evaluated in combination with HT (Davidson et al. 2015). None of these therapies - some are in phase I - III clinical trials in humans - have yet translated into routine care in neonates with NE.

4.4.1. Erythropoietin

Erythropoietin (EPO) is a hormone that acts as a growth factor for red blood cells (Steensma, 2007). EPO is now routinely used as a treatment for anemia in preterm infants. In the adult or newborn brain, EPO is able to bind to its receptor (EPO receptor) on neurons and glial cells, and thus promote the expression of anti-apoptotic genes but also attenuate ROS and the inflammatory response due to HI, and increase neurogenesis (Davidson et al., 2015; Oorschot et al., 2020; Robertson et al., 2012). Although recent studies indicate that human recombinant EPO (hrEPO) has neuroprotective effects after HIE, the efficacy of EPO in combination with HT is still debated (Fan et al., 2013; Fang et al., 2013; Traudt et al., 2013). Two phase I and II clinical trials investigating the combined effect of hrEPO and HT in children with HIE are in progress

(NCT01471015 / NCT01913340). These studies examine the safety, pharmacokinetics and effectiveness of treatment combining HT and hrEPO. The Neonatal Erythropoietin And Therapeutic Hypothermia Outcomes in Newborn Brain Injury (NEATO) study (NCT01913340) showed interesting preliminary results on the beneficial effect of EPO administration with HT on brain injury and improvement of motor function at 1 year old (Frymoyer et al., 2017; Mulkey et al., 2017; Razak and Hussain, 2019). Two phase III studies are ongoing in the US and Australia (NCT02811263 / ACTRN12614000669695) to investigate further the efficacy of EPO in addition to HT for newborns suffering from HIE (Juul et al., 2018; Oorschot et al., 2020).

4.4.2. Xenon

Xenon is a noble gas that acts as a non-competitive antagonist of the NMDA (Davidson et al., 2015). The neuroprotective effects of xenon involve the activation of anti-apoptotic factors and the inhibition of the permeability of the mitochondrial membrane (Lobo et al., 2013). Studies in rodents and piglets have shown that xenon in combination with HT has additive effects (Chakkarapani et al., 2010; Hobbs et al., 2008; Ma et al., 2005). The combination of HT and xenon was evaluated in two phase II clinical trials (TOBYXeNCT00934700 and CoolXenon2-NCT01545271). TOBYXe has shown that xenon has no additive effect on neuroprotection compared to HT after neonatal asphyxia (Azzopardi et al., 2016).

4.4.3. Allopurinol

Allopurinol is a xanthine oxidase inhibitor, reducing the production of ROS, such as superoxide. Superoxide radicals damage mitochondria resulting in secondary energy failure and apoptosis affecting neurons and glial cells after HIE (see paragraph 3.1). Human, compared to rodents, has little xanthine oxidase circulating in the blood (Robertson et al., 2012). Few clinical studies on human HIE suggested a neuroprotective effect of allopurinol (Annink et al., 2017). The beneficial allopurinol in combination with HT is currently assessed in a larger clinical trial (phase III) (Maiwald et al., 2019).

RATIONALE

NE and subsequent CP resulting from HI or inflammatory plus HI remain highly prevalent and lead to significant mortality, morbidity, and social costs. Few neuroprotective treatments are available against neonatal asphyxia: they are limited to symptomatic care and HT, leaving about 50% of patients with neurological sequelae (Azzopardi et al., 2014). Recent evidence shows that the benefit of HT remains to be determined when NE results from inflammatory-sensitized HI, i.e. HI combined to perinatal infection/inflammation.

Our work, and that of others uncovered that interleukin-1 (IL-1) is at the apex of the inflammatory cascade generating brain injury in NE (Quiniou et al., 2008; Rosenzweig et al., 2014; Savard et al., 2015, 2013). We recently showed that HT fails to counteract the IL-1 pathway (Chevin et al., 2016). The lack of effect of HT in alleviating IL-1 signaling, which drives core lesions of HI-induced infarcts, supports a neuroprotective benefit of IL-1 blockade as a targeted add-on therapy to HT. Previous evidence demonstrated that HT can alter the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters of drugs and induced unexpected or adverse effects (de Haan et al., 2012; van den Broek et al., 2010; Zhou and Poloyac, 2011). IL-1 blockade by IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) is effective and safe for the treatment of chronic inflammatory conditions, including those affecting pregnant women or newborns. Given that IL-1Ra is not currently approved for the treatment of NE and has not yet been tested in combination with HT – a mandatory standard of care –, further pre-clinical evaluation of its safety and efficacy is necessary before considering human therapeutic trials.

We **<u>hypothesized</u>** that HT alone or in combination with IL-1Ra will provide a neuroprotective effect in our rat model of inflammatory-sensitized HI. We further hypothesized that IL-1Ra will potentiate HT in treating forms of NE that are presently refractory to the current therapies.

Considering the potential effect of HT on pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic of other drugs, we wanted to assess if this could be the case with IL-1Ra. <u>Aim 1</u> will examine the safety of the combination of HT plus IL-1Ra in order to find the appropriate dose of IL-1Ra we can use in this model. <u>Aim 2</u> will investigate the efficacy of HT with or without IL-1Ra in NE resulting from inflammatory-sensitized HI. This aim will specifically investigate the added value of IL-1Ra to HT on mortality, brain injuries, as well as short and long-term motor improvements in rats.

PREFACE TO CHAPTER II

Neonatal encephalopathy and subsequent cerebral palsy resulting from hypoxia-ischemia (HI) or inflammatory-sensitized HI remain very prevalent and lead to significant mortality and morbidity. Few neuroprotective treatments are available against neonatal asphyxia: they are limited to symptomatic care and hypothermia (HT), leaving about 50% of patients with neurological sequelae. We recently showed that HT fails to counteract the interleukin-1 (IL-1) system (Chevin et al., 2016), which play a key role in neonatal encephalopathy. This supports a potential neuroprotective benefit of IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) as targeted add-on therapy to HT. However, few evidence already demonstrated that HT can alter the pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic of other drugs, inducing unexpected or adverse effect (van den Broek et al., 2010; Zhou and Poloyac, 2011). In line with these results, we aimed in manuscript 1 to further investigate the safety and efficacy of IL-1Ra in combination with HT, in our model of inflammatory-sensitized HI.

CHAPTER II: MANUSCRIPT 1

Effect of hypothermia on interleukin-1 receptor antagonist pharmacodynamics in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy of term newborns.

Mathilde Chevin, Clémence Guiraut, Guillaume Sébire

Department of Pediatrics, McGill University, Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, 1001 Decarie boulevard, Montreal (Quebec), H4A 3J1, Canada.

J Neuroinflammation. 2018 Jul 30; 15(1):214

© Journal of Neuroinflammation

Abstract

Background: Hypothermia is increasingly tested in several neurological conditions, such as neonatal encephalopathy, stroke, traumatic brain injury, subarachnoid hemorrhage, spinal cord injury, and neurological outcomes of cardiac arrest. Current studies aim to increase benefits of hypothermia with new add-on therapies including immunomodulatory agents. Hypothermia has been shown to affect the metabolism of commonly used drugs, including those acting on neuroimmune pathways.

Objective: This study focuses on the effect of hypothermia on Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist pharmacodynamics in a model of neonatal encephalopathy.

Methods: The effect of hypothermia on *(i)* the tissue concentration of the Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, *(ii)* the Interleukin-1 inflammatory cascade, and *(iii)* the neuroprotective potential of Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, has been assessed on our rat model of neonatal encephalopathy resulting from inflammation induced by bacterial compound plus hypoxia-ischemia.

Results: Hypothermia reduced the surface of core and penumbra lesions, as well as alleviated the brain weight loss induced by LPS+HI exposure. Hypothermia compared to normothermia significantly increased (range: 50-65%) the concentration of the Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist within the central nervous system. Despite this increase of intracerebral Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist concentration, the intracerebral Interleukin-1-induced tumor necrosis factor-alpha cascade was upregulated. In hypothermic condition, the known neuroprotective effect of Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist was neutralized (50 mg/kg/12 h for 72 h) or even reversed (200 mg/kg/12 h for 72 h) as compared to normothermic condition.

Conclusion: Hypothermia interferes with the pharmacodynamic parameters of the Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, through a bioaccumulation of the drug within the central nervous system and

46

a paradoxical upregulation of the Interleukin-1 pathway. These effects seem to be at the origin of the loss of efficiency or even toxicity of the Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist when combined with hypothermia. Such bioaccumulation could happen similarly with the use of other drugs combined to hypothermia in a clinical context.
Introduction

Pure hypoxia-ischemia (HI) and inflammatory-sensitized HI are the most prevalent clinical scenarios underlying neonatal encephalopathy (NE) of term newborns, one of the leading causes of neonatal death or cerebral palsy [1]. Neuroprotective treatments available against NE of term newborns consist in symptomatic cares and hypothermia (HT) [2, 3]. Ongoing researches focuses on new add-on therapies in combination to HT to increase its neuroprotective effect [2, 4]. However, recent evidence demonstrated that HT can alter the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters of drugs and induces unexpected and sometimes adverse effects [5– 8]. Our team and others recently showed that HT fails to counteract the IL-1 system [9, 10], which plays a key role in NE [11-14]. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) has already demonstrated a protective perinatal efficacy on several organs, especially the brain, exposed to inflammation induced by bacterial compounds and/or HI [11, 12, 15, 16]. These results support a potential neuroprotective benefit of IL-1Ra as a targeted add-on therapy to HT. An initial step in evaluating the effect of IL-1Ra in combination with HT is to test the effect of HT on its pharmacodynamics in this physiopathological context. Our hypothesis is that HT modifies the pharmacodynamic parameters of IL-1Ra under perinatal inflammatory and/or HI conditions. Our objectives will test the effect of HT on (i) the tissue concentration of IL-1Ra, including the central nervous system; (ii) the inflammatory cascade of the IL-1 system; and (iii) the neuroprotective potential of IL-1Ra.

Material and methods

Rat model

Our preclinical model was designed as previously described [9, 14, 15]. Briefly, pups at postnatal day (P) 5-7 were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Saint-Constant, QC). At P12, they received a single intraperitoneal (ip) injection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS: 50 μ g/kg diluted in 50 μ L of pyrogen-free saline) from *E. coli* (Sigma-Aldrich, ON). HI was induced 4 h after LPS administration by permanent ligation of the right common carotid artery followed by 8% O₂ exposure at 36°C for 1.5 h [9, 15, 17]. HT was induced 30 min after hypoxia, as previously described [9]. Briefly, pups were kept on a hot plate at 32°C in order to lower their core body temperature until 32.5°C±0.5°C (Fig. 1). HT was maintained in a reproducible manner for 4 h. LPS+HI and LPS+HI+IL-1Ra pups stayed with the dam during the time their peers underwent HT [9].

Human recombinant (hr) IL-1Ra was used at a concentration of 50 or 200 mg/kg (diluted in 50µl of pyrogen-free saline). Both doses are commonly used in the perinatal preclinical context to protect the organs against inflammation and/or HI [15, 16]. The first injection was given ip, 30 min before LPS injection. Five other injections were given every 12 h thereafter (Fig. 1). The end of hypoxia referred to as 0 h. Pups were euthanized at 4 h (which correspond to the end of HT), 24 h (P13) or 8 days (P20) post-HI. A total of 181 pups were included in the study. Pups were randomized in 5 experimental groups, namely: 35 pups in LPS+HI condition, 32 pups in LPS+HI+HT condition, 24 pups in LPS+HI+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) condition, 52 pups in LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg). Among all pups subjected to LPS+HI±HT±IL-1Ra (n=181), the mortality rate was 17% (death occurred for all

pups during hypoxia, except for 3 pups who died within 10 h following hypoxia). No significant difference was observed in the mortality rate between all experimental groups.

The experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee of the McGill University (protocol #2015-7691) in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines: <u>http://www.ccac.ca/en_/standards/guidelines</u>.

Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) collection

CSF was collected by cisternal puncture of anesthetized rat pups at 4 or 24 h post-HI, as described [18, 19]. The mean volume of CSF collected was 28 μ l (range: 10-45 μ l) with 96% of successful collection. CSF samples were kept frozen at -80°C. Immediately after CSF collection, rat pups were euthanized by decapitation, and their forebrain rapidly removed and frozen by immersion in methylbutane on dry ice.

Histology

The brains were removed and fixed (paraformaldehyde 4%, glutaraldehyde 0.1%) at room temperature, paraffin-embedded, and cut in 5 μ m slices using a microtome, as described [9, 15]. Hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) staining was performed to visualize brain injuries. Coronal sections were scanned and the surface of the hemispheres were located at the epicenter of the infarct (Bregma from -2.30 mm to -2.50 mm), as previously described [9, 14, 15]. Core *versus* penumbra areas of brain infarcts were defined as previously described [9, 15]. Briefly, core injuries were associated with infarcted areas bearing cavitary lesions, whereas penumbra injuries were identified as regions surrounding the core where pycnotic neurons and/or loss of normal neuronal architecture were observed [9, 15].

ELISA

Protein extracts were prepared from right hemisphere forebrains as previously described [9, 14, 15]. ELISAs were performed on these protein extracts using ELISA Kits (R&D System, MN, USA), as previously described [9, 14, 15].

Behavioral test

The open field test was used to determine spontaneous locomotor activity and exploratory behavior of juvenile rats (P20), as described previously [20]. The following parameters were assessed in the open field apparatus using Any-Maze Video Tracking System[™] (IL, USA) software: total distance traveled during the test period, mobile time, time in the center, and number of square visited.

Data analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM Statistics 24 (SPSS) and GraphPad software version 6.02. The data are presented as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Normality were assessed across experimental conditions. Data were analyzed by independent samples t-test or one-way analysis of variances (ANOVA) with a Tukey's HSD test. Mann-Whitney U test was used when data were not normally distributed. Male and female data were combined, because no significant interaction was observed between sex and treatment. The statistical significance level was set at $p \le 0.05$.

Results

Effect of HT on hrIL-1Ra titers within the tissues of interest

At 4 h post-HI, HT did not modify the titer of hrIL-1Ra, at the dose of 50 mg/kg, within the organ tested, namely: plasma, liver, CSF and right forebrain hemisphere exposed to LPS+HI (Fig. 2). At 24 h post-HI, HT induced a significant increase (50 to 65%) of the hrIL-1Ra titers within the plasma, CSF and right forebrain hemisphere exposed to LPS+HI (Fig. 2A-C).

Effect of HT+hrIL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) on the inflammatory cascade-induced by LPS+HI exposure

IL-1Ra administration interferes with the autocrine loop of IL-1 β synthesis and shuts down the downstream inflammatory cascades including TNF- α production [11, 15, 21, 22]. In HT conditions at 4 and 24 h post-HI, hrIL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) failed to counteract these pathways (Fig.3), or conversely induced paradoxical upregulations of the IL-1 β production at 4 h post-HI (Fig. 3B), and of the TNF- α production at 24 h post-HI in the LPS+HI-exposed right hemisphere (Fig. 4A).

Dose-dependent neurotoxic effect of hrIL-1Ra added to HT

HT alone exerted a neuroprotective effect on the extent of LPS+HI-induced core (Fig. 5A) and penumbral injuries (Fig. 5B-D). HT also protected against the loss of brain weight observed in such condition (Fig. 5E). hrIL-1Ra at the dose of 50 mg/kg did not provide any neuroprotective added value when combined to HT (Fig. 5A-D). hrIL-1Ra at the dose of 200 mg/kg increased LPS+HI-induced penumbral - but not core – injuries (Fig. 5B). Open field experiments in juvenile rats (P20) did not show any difference between LPS+HI+HT *versus* LPS+HI+HT+hrIL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) conditions (Fig. 6A-D).

Discussion

Our results showed that HT altered the pharmacodynamic parameters of hrIL-1Ra in our model of NE-induced by inflammation plus HI. HT increased the concentration of hrIL-1Ra (at 24 h post-HI) within the LPS+HI-exposed plasma, CSF, and forebrain. Paradoxically, this effect was not associated with an IL-1Ra-induced anti-inflammatory effect on the IL-1 system. We also observed a lack of effectiveness of the combination of hrIL-1Ra with HT, as compared to sole hrIL-1Ra in the same model of LPS+HI-induced NE [14, 15].

According to the pharmacokinetic study performed in a rat model of arthritis [23], and also taking into account the short half-life (4-6 h) of IL-1Ra, it is unlikely that an accumulation of IL-1Ra would be due in our experimental design to the repeated administration of IL-1Ra every 12 h. We hypothesize that the blood brain barrier (BBB) dysfunction induced by LPS+HI exposures might increase over time, with a more important BBB leak at 24 h (allowing the IL-1Ra to diffuse within the brain) as compared to 4 h post-HI. Few studies dealt with the impact of HT on the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic of drugs used in the human neonatal context. However, it was shown that several drugs - e.g. isoflurane, morphine, ligands of $\beta 1$ and $\beta 2$ adrenoreceptors had reduced metabolism and clearance on HT as compared to non-HT condition [5, 6]. Affinity between ligands and their cognate receptors as well as alterations of downstream signaling are also reported on HT [5, 6, 8]. Our results suggest that the bioaccumulation of hrIL-1Ra within the brain and CSF in LPS+HI+HT condition might result from a decreased clearance of hrIL-1Ra and/or from a decreased affinity of hrIL-1Ra for the IL-1R, and also possibly from the blockade of the IL-1R signaling pathway. hrIL-1Ra is rapidly eliminated (half-life of 4-6 h) mainly by the kidney through glomerular filtration (GFR) [24]. It is known in human studies that the GFR is decreased

under hypothermic condition [5, 6]. Besides, acute kidney injury can be associated to HI encephalopathy in the term neonate [25, 26]. Hence, HI could potentially affect the renal filtration, especially in the HT condition, and decrease the clearance of IL-1Ra.

The increased hrIL-1Ra bioaccumulation in HT condition might explain the switch from protective [14, 15] to toxic effects of our highest dose of hrIL-1Ra (200 mg/kg/12 h for 72 h). hrIL-1Ra (200 mg/kg/12 h for 72 h) might reach in HT condition a toxic concentration within the brain inducing non-specific ligand-receptors interactions deleterious for neural cells.

This study has some limitations. The concentration of hrIL-1Ra was assessed only at 4 and 24 h post-HI. In future experiments blood samples could be taken at additional time-points to study in more detail the pharmacology of this drug. However, to our knowledge this is the first study focusing on the pharmacology of IL-1Ra in neonatal rats.

Conclusion

Our study addresses for the first time the impact of HT on hrIL-1Ra pharmacodynamics. HT might decrease the clearance of hIL-1Ra, inducing its bioaccumulation and loss of efficiency within the brain [11, 14, 15, 22, 27]. According to this hypothesis, current and future studies aiming to develop HT therapies - as already performed in neurological conditions, such as neonatal encephalopathy, stroke, traumatic brain injury, subarachnoid hemorrhage, spinal cord injury, and neurological outcomes of cardiac arrest [28–30] - should take into account the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic impact of HT and the inherent modification of the safety profile of drugs.

List of abbreviation

CSF: cerebrospinal fluid

GFR: glomerular filtration
HI: hypoxia-ischemia
HT: hypothermia
hrIL-1Ra: human recombinant of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
IL: interleukin
ip: intraperitoneally
LPS: lipopolysaccharide from *E.coli*NE: neonatal encephalopathy
P: postnatal day
SEM: standard error of the mean
TNF-α: tumor necrosis factor α

Ethic approval

Our research protocol was approved by the Ethic Committee from the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Center (#2015-7691).

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Availability of data and materials

The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding

This work was supported by grants from the Canadian Institute of Health Research, Foundation of Stars, Montreal Children Hospital Foundation (Hoppenheim Fund), and Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada. This project has been made possible by Brain Canada Foundation through the Canada Brain Research Fund, with the financial support of Health Canada and the funding partners. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of the Minister of Health or the Government of Canada.

Author's contribution

MC and CG carried out the experiments. MC performed the statistical analyses and drafted the manuscript. CG edited the manuscript. GS conceived the study, coordinated the project, and further edited the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Marie-Julie Allard for statistical advice and Dr Pia Wintermark for helpful discussion. We would like to than Noha Gerges for editing the manuscript.

References

1. Colver A, Fairhurst C, Pharoah PO. Cerebral palsy. The Lancet. 2014;383:1240–9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61835-8.

2. Davidson JO, Wassink G, van den Heuij LG, Bennet L, Gunn AJ. Therapeutic Hypothermia for Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy - Where to from Here? Front Neurol. 2015;6:198. doi:10.3389/fneur.2015.00198.

3. Azzopardi D, Strohm B, Marlow N, Brocklehurst P, Deierl A, Eddama O, et al. Effects of hypothermia for perinatal asphyxia on childhood outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:140–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1315788.

4. Hassell KJ, Ezzati M, Alonso-Alconada D, Hausenloy DJ, Robertson NJ. New horizons for newborn brain protection: enhancing endogenous neuroprotection. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2015;100:F541-52. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2014-306284.

5. van den Broek MPH, Groenendaal F, Egberts ACG, Rademaker CMA. Effects of hypothermia on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: a systematic review of preclinical and clinical studies. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2010;49:277–94. doi:10.2165/11319360-00000000-00000.

6. Zhou J, Poloyac SM. The effect of therapeutic hypothermia on drug metabolism and response: cellular mechanisms to organ function. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2011;7:803–16. doi:10.1517/17425255.2011.574127.

7. de Haan TR, Bijleveld YA, van der Lee JH, Groenendaal F, van den Broek MPH, Rademaker CMA, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of medication in asphyxiated newborns during controlled hypothermia. The PharmaCool multicenter study. BMC Pediatr. 2012;12:45. doi:10.1186/1471-2431-12-45.

8. Ezzati M, Kawano G, Rocha-Ferreira E, Alonso-Alconada D, Hassell JK, Broad KD, et al.

Dexmedetomidine Combined with Therapeutic Hypothermia Is Associated with Cardiovascular Instability and Neurotoxicity in a Piglet Model of Perinatal Asphyxia. Dev Neurosci. 2017;39:156–70. doi:10.1159/000458438.

9. Chevin M, Guiraut C, Maurice-Gelinas C, Deslauriers J, Grignon S, Sébire G. Neuroprotective effects of hypothermia in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2016;55:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2016.09.002.

10. Rocha-Ferreira E, Kelen D, Faulkner S, Broad KD, Chandrasekaran M, Kerenyi Á, et al. Systemic pro-inflammatory cytokine status following therapeutic hypothermia in a piglet hypoxiaischemia model. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14:44. doi:10.1186/s12974-017-0821-x.

11. Leitner K, Al Shammary M, McLane M, Johnston MV, Elovitz MA, Burd I. IL-1 receptor blockade prevents fetal cortical brain injury but not preterm birth in a mouse model of inflammation-induced preterm birth and perinatal brain injury. Am J Reprod Immunol. 2014;71:418–26. doi:10.1111/aji.12216.

12. Rosenzweig JM, Lei J, Burd I. Interleukin-1 receptor blockade in perinatal brain injury. Front Pediatr. 2014;2:108. doi:10.3389/fped.2014.00108.

13. Medel-Matus J-S, Álvarez-Croda D-M, Martínez-Quiroz J, Beltrán-Parrazal L, Morgado-Valle C, López-Meraz M-L. IL-1β increases necrotic neuronal cell death in the developing rat hippocampus after status epilepticus by activating type I IL-1 receptor (IL-1RI). Int J Dev Neurosci. 2014;38:232–40. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2014.09.006.

14. Savard A, Lavoie K, Brochu M-E, Grbic D, Lepage M, Gris D, et al. Involvement of neuronal IL-1 β in acquired brain lesions in a rat model of neonatal encephalopathy. J Neuroinflammation. 2013;10:110. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-110.

15. Savard A, Brochu M-E, Chevin M, Guiraut C, Grbic D, Sébire G. Neuronal self-injury

mediated by IL-1 β and MMP-9 in a cerebral palsy model of severe neonatal encephalopathy induced by immune activation plus hypoxia-ischemia. J Neuroinflammation. 2015;12:111. doi:10.1186/s12974-015-0330-8.

16. Berry CA, Nitsos I, Hillman NH, Pillow JJ, Polglase GR, Kramer BW, et al. Interleukin-1 in lipopolysaccharide induced chorioamnionitis in the fetal sheep. Reprod Sci. 2011;18:1092–102. doi:10.1177/1933719111404609.

 Brochu M-E, Girard S, Lavoie K, Sébire G. Developmental regulation of the neuroinflammatory responses to LPS and/or hypoxia-ischemia between preterm and term neonates: An experimental study. J Neuroinflammation. 2011;8:55. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-55.
 Mahat MYA, Fakrudeen Ali Ahamed N, Chandrasekaran S, Rajagopal S, Narayanan S, Surendran N. An improved method of transcutaneous cisterna magna puncture for cerebrospinal fluid sampling in rats. J Neurosci Methods. 2012;211:272–9. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2012.09.013.
 Consiglio AR, Lucion AB. Technique for collecting cerebrospinal fluid in the cisterna magna of non-anesthetized rats. Brain Research Protocols. 2000;5:109–14. doi:10.1016/S1385-299X(99)00062-8.

20. Girard S, Kadhim H, Beaudet N, Sarret P, Sébire G. Developmental motor deficits induced by combined fetal exposure to lipopolysaccharide and early neonatal hypoxia/ischemia: a novel animal model for cerebral palsy in very premature infants. Neuroscience. 2009;158:673–82. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.10.032.

21. Girard S, Sébire H, Brochu M-E, Briota S, Sarret P, Sébire G. Postnatal administration of IL-1Ra exerts neuroprotective effects following perinatal inflammation and/or hypoxic-ischemic injuries. Brain Behav Immun. 2012;26:1331–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.09.001.

22. Lan K-M, Tien L-T, Pang Y, Bhatt AJ, Fan L-W. IL-1 receptor antagonist attenuates neonatal

59

lipopolysaccharide-induced long-lasting learning impairment and hippocampal injury in adult rats. Toxicol Lett. 2015;234:30–9. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2015.02.002.

23. Zuurmond A-M, Koudijs A, van El B, Doornbos RP, van Manen-Vernooij BCT, Bastiaans JHMW, et al. Integration of efficacy, pharmacokinetic and safety assessment of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in a preclinical model of arthritis. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 2011;59:461–70. doi:10.1016/j.yrtph.2011.01.014.

24. Liu D, Lon H-K, Dubois DC, Almon RR, Jusko WJ. Population pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic-disease progression model for effects of anakinra in Lewis rats with collageninduced arthritis. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn. 2011;38:769–86. doi:10.1007/s10928-011-9219-z.

25. Durkan AM, Alexander RT. Acute kidney injury post neonatal asphyxia. J Pediatr. 2011;1582 Suppl:e29-33. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.11.010.

26. Sweetman DU, Riordan M, Molloy EJ. Management of renal dysfunction following term perinatal hypoxia-ischaemia. Acta Paediatr. 2013;102:233–41. doi:10.1111/apa.12116.

27. Pang Y, Tien L-T, Zhu H, Shen J, Wright CF, Jones TK, et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist reduces neonatal lipopolysaccharide-induced long-lasting neurobehavioral deficits and dopaminergic neuronal injury in adult rats. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16:8635–54. doi:10.3390/ijms16048635.

28. Han Z, Liu X, Luo Y, Ji X. Therapeutic hypothermia for stroke: Where to go? Exp Neurol. 2015;272:67–77. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.06.006.

29. Karnatovskaia LV, Wartenberg KE, Freeman WD. Therapeutic hypothermia for neuroprotection: history, mechanisms, risks, and clinical applications. Neurohospitalist. 2014;4:153–63. doi:10.1177/1941874413519802.

60

30. Zhang XW, Xie JF, Chen JX, Huang YZ, Guo FM, Yang Y, et al. The effect of mild induced hypothermia on outcomes of patients after cardiac arrest: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Crit Care. 2015;19:417. doi:10.1186/s13054-015-1133-0.

Figures

Figure 1



Hosting with --- dams

Figure 1. Experimental design.

The first hrIL-1Ra (50-200 mg/kg) or saline injection was administrated 30 min before the ip injection of LPS from *E.coli* (50µg/kg) in pups at P12. Four hours later, the right common carotid artery was ligated, and hypoxia was induced (8% O_2 for 1.5 h). Rat pups were subjected or not to hrIL-1Ra (50-200 mg/kg q12 h from P12 to P14) and treated or not by HT (32.5°C±0.5°C for 4 h). *Abbreviations:* HI: hypoxia-ischemia; HT: hypothermia; hrIL-1Ra: human recombinant of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; ip: intraperitoneally; LPS: lipopolysaccharide from *E.coli*; P: postnatal day.





Figure 2. hrIL-1Ra titers within tissues of interest from pups exposed to LPS+HI+IL-1Ra±HT. hrIL-1Ra titers measured by ELISA at 24 h post-HI were increased within the plasma (**A**), right cerebral hemisphere (**B**), and CSF (**C**) in LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) as compared to LPS+HI+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) condition. The concentrations of hrIL-1Ra were similar in both conditions at 4 h post-HI, as well as at 24 h post-HI within the liver (**D**). The number (n) of rats used was: LPS+HI+IL-1Ra (n=5-8 from 4 litters), LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (n=5-8 from 4 litters). The bars indicate the mean \pm SEM. *p≤0.05, **p≤0.01; Independent T-test. *Abbreviations:* CSF: cerebrospinal fluid; HI: hypoxia-ischemia; HT: hypothermia; hrIL-1Ra: human recombinant of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; LPS: lipopolysaccharide from *E.coli*.





Figure 3. IL-1 β expression within tissues of interest from pups exposed to LPS+HI+IL-1Ra±HT. IL-1 β concentration measured by ELISA at 4 h and 24 h post-HI within the plasma (**A**), right cerebral hemisphere (**B**), and liver (**C**) in LPS+HI+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) and LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) conditions. HT increased the expression of IL-1 β within the right hemisphere at 4 h post-HI (**B**). The number (n) of rats used was: LPS+HI+IL-1Ra (n=5-7 from 4 litters), LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (n=4-8 from 4 litters). The bars indicate the mean ± SEM. *p≤0.05; Independent T-test. *Abbreviations:* HI: hypoxia-ischemia; HT: hypothermia; hrIL-1Ra: human

recombinant of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; IL-1β: interleukin-1β; LPS: lipopolysaccharide from *E.coli*.





Figure 4. TNF- α titers within tissues of interest from pups exposed to LPS+HI+IL-1Ra±HT. TNF- α concentrations measured by ELISA were increased at 24 h post-HI within the right cerebral hemisphere (**A**) and the liver (**B**) in LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) as compared to LPS+HI+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) conditions. The TNF- α titers were similar in both conditions at 4 h post-HI. The number (n) of rats used was: LPS+HI+IL-1Ra (n=5-8 from 4 litters), LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (n=6-8 from 4 litters). The bars indicate the mean ± SEM. *p≤0.05; Independent T-test. *Abbreviations:* HI: hypoxia-ischemia; HT: hypothermia; hrIL-1Ra: human recombinant of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; LPS: lipopolysaccharide from *E.coli*; TNF- α : tumor necrosis- α .





Figure 5. Comparison of the extent of brain injuries between LPS+HI±HT±IL-1Ra conditions. Comparisons of the extent of core and penumbra injuries (within the neocortex, hippocampus, and caudate-putamen) between pups exposed to LPS+HI±HT±IL-1Ra (50-200 mg/kg) by H&E staining of the right forebrains at P20. HT reduced the surface of core and penumbra lesions (**A**-**D**), as well as alleviated the brain weight loss observed after LPS+HI exposure (**E**). The surface of core and penumbral lesions were similar in LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) as compared to LPS+HI+HT condition (**A**-**D**). HT+hrIL-1Ra (200 mg/kg) increased the extent of penumbra injury as compared to the LPS+HI condition (**B**), as well as core and penumbral injuries as compared to LPS+HI+HT and LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) (**A**-**D**). The number (n) of rats used was: LPS+HI (n=14-16 from 9 litters), LPS+HI+HT (n=13-15 from 9 litters), LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra 50 mg/kg (n=17-19 from 9 litters), LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra 200 mg/kg (n=6-7 from 3 litters). The bars indicate the mean ± SEM. *p≤0.05, **p≤0.01, ****p≤0.001; One-way ANOVA. *Abbreviations:* HI: hypoxia-ischemia; HT: hypothermia; hrIL-1Ra: human recombinant of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; LPS: lipopolysaccharide from *E.coli*.

Figure 6



Figure 6. Open Field experiment at P20 in pups exposed to LPS+HI+HT±IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg). No difference was observed between the two conditions for the different Open Field parameters tested: the distance travelled (**A**), the mobile time (**B**), the time in the center (**C**), and the visited squares in the apparatus (**D**). The number (n) of rats used was: LPS+HI+HT (n=8-9 from 6 litters),

LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra 50 mg/kg (n=6-7 from 5 litters). Independent T-test. *Abbreviations:* HI: hypoxia-ischemia; HT: hypothermia; hrIL-1Ra: human recombinant of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; LPS: lipopolysaccharide from *E.coli*.

PREFACE TO CHAPTER III

Neuroprotective treatment available against neonatal encephalopathy of term newborns consist in hypothermia (HT), leaving 50% of treated newborns with long-term sequelae (Azzopardi et al., 2014; Davidson et al., 2015). Ongoing researches focuses on new add-on therapies in combination to HT to increase its neuroprotective effect (Davidson et al., 2015; Hassell et al., 2015). Among them, interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) has already demonstrated a protective perinatal efficacy on several organs, especially the brain, exposed to inflammation and/or hypoxia-ischemia (Berry et al., 2011; Leitner et al., 2014; Rosenzweig et al., 2014; Savard et al., 2015, 2013). In their model of inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy, Savard and colleagues already demonstrated a neuroprotective effect of sole IL-1Ra (Savard et al., 2015, 2013). IL-Ra has been shown, in particular, to reduce the mortality and improve the motor behaviour of rats (Savard et al., 2015). The following research letter aimed to add a piece of information concerning the efficacy of IL-1Ra combined with HT on these specific parameters.

CHAPTER III: MANUSCRIPT 2

Added value of interleukin-1 blockade to hypothermia in the treatment of neonatal encephalopathy.

Mathilde Chevin ^a, Khadidja Chelabi ^a, Stéphane Chabrier ^{a,b}, Guillaume Sébire ^a

^a Department of Pediatrics, McGill University, Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, 1001 Decarie boulevard, Montreal (Quebec), H4A 3J1, Canada
^b Inserm, Université Jean Monnet de Saint-Étienne, Université de Lyon, UMR1059 Sainbiose, F-42023 Saint-Étienne, France

Am j Obstet Gynecol. 2020 Sep;223(3):458-460.

© American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology

Objective

Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE) occurs in 2-9 per 1000 term newborns. To date, the only evidence-based treatment is therapeutic hypothermia (HT), which leaves however 50% of patients with long-term disabilities (1). Beside hypoxia-ischemia (HI), perinatal inflammation is an important determinant of HIE injuries (2,3). However, there is few evidence in favor of an anti-inflammatory role of HT in HIE (4). This suggests that anti-inflammatory drugs, such as interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) – whose neuroprotective effect is well established preclinically in neonatal encephalopathy due to combined inflammatory and HI aggressions (3,5) – might have an added value on sole HT (4). Using this inflammatory plus HI model of neonatal encephalopathy, we studied the efficacy of IL-1Ra plus HT *vs* sole HT on mortality and motor outcome.

Study Design

Our established rat model of HI plus inflammation was used, as described (3,4). Briefly, postnatal day 12 (P12) pups – corresponding to term human newborns – received a single intraperitoneal (ip) dose of 50 μ g/kg of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of *E.coli*. HI was induced 4 h after LPS administration by permanent ligation of the right common carotid artery followed by 8% O₂ exposure at 36 °C for 1.5 h.

HT (32.5 °C \pm 0.5 °C) was induced 30 min after hypoxia during 4 h. Human recombinant IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg/12 h for 72 h) was started 30 min before LPS injection. Rat pups were randomly allocated to LPS+HI+HT (n=63) *vs* IL-1Ra+LPS+HI+HT (n=87) groups. The mortality rate was calculated in each group. To avoid the litter effect, motor outcome was tested in only 1 to 2 survivors per litter (n=10) of both sexes at P14. Travelled distance in 1 min was measured in the

Open Field apparatus, and duration of effective upswing (Figure, C) was assessed by Elevated Body Swing Test (3). χ^2 and unpaired t-test (IBM Statistics 25 (SPSS)) were used to analyze data. The statistical significance level was set at p<0.05.

The experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee of the McGill University (protocol #2015-7691) in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines.

Results

During hypoxia, 12 out of 63 pups died in the LPS+HI+HT *vs* 7 out of 87 in the IL-1Ra+LPS+HI+HT groups (19% *vs* 8%, p=0.045; Figure, A). No mortality occurred thereafter. In the Open Field apparatus, there was an increased distance travelled in the IL-1Ra+LPS+HI+HT *vs* LPS+HI+HT conditions (1.4 m *vs* 0.8 m, p=0.043; Figure, B). The amount of time spent in the effective upswing position in the elevated body swing test was increased in the IL-1Ra+HT-treated compared to the HT-treated groups (17.1 s *vs* 13.1 s, p=0.016; Figure, C).

Conclusions

This is the first study showing a benefit of IL-1Ra as add-on therapy to HT in neonatal encephalopathy. This benefit was demonstrated on both mortality and motor outcome. Evaluation of other cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- α that might still participate to injuries would be important to study. This finding paves the way for novel human therapeutic trials taking advantage of this preclinical cumulative effect of IL-1Ra plus HT in neonatal encephalopathy to further alleviate its heavy burden of mortality and morbidities.

Declaration

The authors report no conflict of interest.

Research reported in this publication was supported by grants from the Canadian Institute of Health Research, Foundation of Stars, Montreal Children Hospital Foundation (Hoppenheim Fund), Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, Université Jean Monnet de Saint-Étienne and Région Auvergne-Rhône-Alpes, France. This project has been made possible by Brain Canada Foundation through the Canada Brain Research Fund, with the financial support of Health Canada and the funding partners (M Chevin). The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of the Minister of Health or the Government of Canada.

References

- Azzopardi D, Strohm B, Marlow N, Brocklehurst P, Deierl A, Eddama O, et al. Effects of hypothermia for perinatal asphyxia on childhood outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2014 Jul 10;371(2):140–9.
- Liu F, McCullough LD. Inflammatory responses in hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2013 Sep;34(9):1121–30.
- Savard A, Brochu M-E, Chevin M, Guiraut C, Grbic D, Sébire G. Neuronal self-injury mediated by IL-1β and MMP-9 in a cerebral palsy model of severe neonatal encephalopathy induced by immune activation plus hypoxia-ischemia. J Neuroinflammation. 2015 May 30;12:111.
- Chevin M, Guiraut C, Maurice-Gelinas C, Deslauriers J, Grignon S, Sébire G. Neuroprotective effects of hypothermia in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2016 Dec;55:1–8.
- Rosenzweig JM, Lei J, Burd I. Interleukin-1 receptor blockade in perinatal brain injury. Front Pediatr. 2014 Oct 7;2:108.

Figure



Figure. IL-1Ra+HT compared to sole HT improved mortality and motor outcome.

(A) Mortality rates in LPS+HI+HT- *vs* IL-1Ra+LPS+HI+HT- exposed pups at P12. Number (N) of rats: n=63 in the LPS+HI+HT group, n=87 in the IL-1Ra+HI+HT group. *p<0.05, using a χ^2 test. (B) Distance travelled (m) during 1 min in the Open Field at P14. N of rats: n=9 in the LPS+HI+HT group, n=7 in the IL-1Ra+LPS+HI+HT group. Data are expressed as mean±SEM. *p<0.05, using a two-tailed unpaired t-test. (C) Duration (s) of effective upswing by survivors during 30 s in the EBST. The threshold was set at an angle of 90° for an efficient upswing. N of rats: n=7 in each group. Data are expressed as mean±SEM. *p<0.05, using a two-tailed unpaired t-test. *Abbreviations: HI: hypoxia-ischemia; HT: therapeutic hypothermia; IL-1Ra: interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; LPS: lipopolysaccharide of E.coli*.

PREFACE TO CHAPTER IV

Over the past decades, the Rice-Vannucci model has been extensively used to recreate neonatal hypoxic-ischemic injury, which has been characterized through histological analysis and behavioral test. However, few studies used magnetic resonance imaging and positron emission topography to further characterize the extent of brain infarct and metabolism activity within the injured hemisphere. Furthermore, the neuroprotective effect of HT when neonatal encephalopathy (NE) results from infection/inflammation plus HI remains unclear (Osredkar et al., 2014; Wintermark et al., 2010).

On the other hand, our adapted Rice-Vannucci model combining inflammatory component exposure plus ischemia and global hypoxia seems also relevant to model neonatal arterial ischemic stroke (NAIS) (Gennaro et al., 2019). Perinatal infection/inflammation, peripartum asphyxia, and arterial occlusion of the carotid tree are the main determinants we used in our model to recreate brain injury (Giraud et al., 2017).

The following manuscript aimed to further assessed the neuroprotective effect of HT in inflammatory-sensitized brain injury, such as NE or NAIS.
CHAPTER IV: MANUSCRIPT 3

Benefits of hypothermia in neonatal arterial ischemic strokes: a preclinical study.

Mathilde Chevin^a, Stéphane Chabrier^{a,b,c}, Mickaël Dinomais^{d,e}, Barry J. Bedell^f,

Guillaume Sébire ^a

^a Department of Pediatrics, McGill University, Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.

^b CHU Saint-Étienne, INSERM, Centre national de référence de l'AVC de l'enfant, CIC1408, F-42055 Saint-Étienne, France.

^c INSERM, Université Saint-Étienne, Université Lyon, UMR1059 Sainbiose, F-42023 Saint-Étienne, France.

^d CHU Angers, Université d'Angers, Département de Médecine Physique et de Réadaptation, Centre national de référence de l'AVC de l'enfant, F-49933 Angers, France.

^e Laboratoire Angevin de recherche en ingénierie des systèmes (LARIS) EA7315, Université d'Angers, Angers, France.

^f Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.

Int J Dev Neurosci. 2020 Jun;80(4) :257-266.

© International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience

Abstract

Background: There is currently no targeted treatment available for neonatal arterial ischemic strokes (NAIS). Epidemiological studies demonstrated that perinatal infection/inflammation, *peripartum* hypoxia, and occlusion of the internal carotid tree are the main determinants of NAIS. The well-established benefit of therapeutic hypothermia (HT) in neonatal encephalopathy due to diffuse hypoxia-ischemia provides a rationale for the potential use of HT as a neuroprotective strategy in NAIS.

Methods: We used a rat model to reproduce the most prevalent human physiopathological scenario of NAIS. The neuroprotective effect of HT was measured by morphometric magnetic resonance imaging, [¹⁸F] fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) metabolic activity by positron emission tomography/computed tomography, and behavioral tests.

Results: HT (*i*) prevented the occurrence of 44% of NAIS cases, (*ii*) reduced the volume of strokes by 37%, (*iii*) enhanced [¹⁸F] FDG metabolic activity within the territory of the occluded carotid artery, and (*iv*) improved motor behavior. Both morphometric and metabolic techniques showed consistently that HT provided a neuroprotective effect located in the motor cortex, hippocampus and caudate-putamen.

Conclusion: Through combining anatomical, metabolic imaging and behavioral studies, our study provides evidence of neuroprotective effects of HT in NAIS. These results are potentially translational to human NAIS.

Introduction

NAIS affects up to 1-2/6,000 newborns and results in lifelong sequelae, such as cerebral palsy and epilepsy, as well as cognitive and behavioral impairments (Dunbar and Kirton, 2018; Fluss et al., 2019; Giraud et al., 2017). Clinical studies show that perinatal infection/inflammation – often due to chorioamnionitis – is the main independent risk factor of NAIS (Giraud et al., 2017; Martinez-Biarge et al., 2013; Sorg et al., 2019). To date, no controlled clinical trials have addressed the safety and efficacy of HT in NAIS (Austin et al., 2013; Harbert et al., 2011). The few preclinical studies assessing the effect of HT in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic (HI) brain injuries provided inconsistent results (Chevin et al., 2018, 2016, Osredkar et al., 2015, 2014). Hence, the potential benefit of HT in NAIS remains to be determined.

Using a preclinical model, our aim was to test the efficacy of HT in treating NAIS and reducing the likelihood of its unfavorable outcomes (Chevin et al., 2018, 2016; Savard et al., 2015). We hypothesized that HT would lessen the effects of NAIS on: (*i*) the volume of stroke measured by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), (*ii*) the [¹⁸F] FDG metabolic activity measured by positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT), and (*iii*) the motor behavior at a juvenile age.

Materials and Methods

Rat model

The experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee of McGill University (protocol #2015-7691) in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines: <u>http://www.ccac.ca/en_/standards/guidelines</u>. As attempts to model neonatal selective occlusion of the middle cerebral artery were difficult (Gennaro et al., 2019), we adapted the Rice-

Vanucci rat model (Chevin et al., 2018, 2016, Savard et al., 2015, 2013) (perinatal inflammation, unilateral common carotid occlusion, and global hypoxia) to reproduce the most prevalent human physiopathological scenario of NAIS. A total of 35 Lewis pups at postnatal day (P) 6 - from five different litters - were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Kingston, NY). (Chevin et al., 2018) At P12 (corresponding to the level of rat brain development equivalent to that of a term human newborn (Patel et al., 2014; Towfighi et al., 1997)), pups received a single intraperitoneal (ip) injection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS: 50 μ g/kg diluted in 50 μ L of pyrogen-free saline) from E. coli (Sigma-Aldrich, ON). HI was induced 4 hours (h) after LPS administration by permanent ligation of the right common carotid artery (RCCA) followed by 8 % O₂ exposure at 36 °C for 1.5 h (Fig. 1A) (Brochu et al., 2011; Chevin et al., 2016; Savard et al., 2015). A control (CTL) group underwent ip saline injection followed by a sham surgery consisting of common carotid artery exposure without ligation, and without hypoxia and HT (Fig. 1A). HT was induced 30 min after hypoxia, as previously described (Chevin et al., 2018, 2016). Pups were kept on a hot plate at 32 °C for four hours in order to lower their core body temperature to 32.5±0.5 °C (Fig. 1B) (Buckley et al., 2015; Chevin et al., 2018, 2016). Among all pups subjected to LPS+HI (n=25), the mortality rate was 20 %. Death occurred for all pups during hypoxia, except for one pup who died within 24 h following hypoxia. The remaining pups (n=20) were randomly assigned in either the LPS+HI or LPS+HI+HT group. No mortality occurred in CTL animals (n=10). Three rats died during imaging acquisitions. Therefore, the following rats were excluded from the study: one LPS+HI during the MRI, one LPS+HI+HT during the MRI, and one LPS+HI+HT during the PET-CT. All experimenters were blind to experimental conditions during outcome assessments.

MRI and PET/CT of the rat brain

MRI and PET/CT scans were performed at the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre Small Animal Imaging Labs (http://rimuhc.ca/small-animal-imaging-labs). MRI and PET-CT parameters were adapted for rat pups using previously described methods from our group (Assadian et al., 2008; Grand'maison et al., 2013; Thompson et al., 2014). MRI scans were performed at P26-28 using the 7T Bruker BioSpec 70/30USR system (Bruker Biospin, Ettlingen, Germany) and a rodent brain surface coil. All the pups were placed and positioned in the same way with the same landmarks in order to obtain a reproducible brain scan between each animal. MRI studies were performed under 1.8-2 % isoflurane with the respiration rate controlled at 55-60 breaths/min. Rat's body temperature was maintained at 37±0.3 °C using the Small Animal Instruments Inc. system (Stony Brook, NY). Anatomical images were acquired using a 3D balanced Steady-State free precession (bSSFP) sequence with repetition time=5.2 mm, echo time=2.6 mm, flip angle=30*, matrix size=192x192x192 mm, NEX=4, field of view=44.41x44.41x22.20 mm, spatial resolution=231x231x116 µm, and acquisition time 28 min. PET/CT experiments were performed one day after the MRIs on a nanoScan PET/CT for small animals (Mediso Medical Imaging Systems, Budapest, Hungary). The radiotracer FDG was performed by a bolus injection in the tail vein (9.16±0.94 MBq in 200 µl), and all animals were kept awake for 45 min before the scan. Afterwards, the animal was placed in the scanner under anesthesia (isoflurane 2%), with the brain at the center of the field-of-view. Each PET/CT session consisted of a 30 min PET emission scan, followed by a 10 min CT transmission scan. Temperature and heart rate were monitored throughout the procedure using the Mediso system. Images were reconstructed using expectation maximization, ordered subset expectation maximization, then normalized and corrected for scatter, dead time, and decay.

Analysis of MRI and PET/CT imaging data

SPM8 Image analysis performed using the software package was (https://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm), as well as an image analysis toolbox developed in house based on Mathworks' MATLAB (https://www.mathworks.com). Medical imaging software AMIDE 2003, pp. (Molecular Imaging Vol. 2. No. 3. July 131 - 137) and MRIcron (http://www.mccauslandcenter.sc.edu/mricro/) were also used for the purpose of generating illustrations. In order to conduct image analysis, all DICOM images from both MRI and PET/CT scanners were converted into NIFTY format.

Measure of the volume of the stroke

The volume of the stroke was calculated using MRI anatomic images at P26, i.e. 14 days after exposure to LPS+HI. The boundaries of the lesion area were readily identified and could be easily segmented on the MRI volumes using our image processing toolbox.

Group lesion maps

Using SPM8, each 3D MRI data were realigned (sampling distance: 0.1 mm, interpolation 7th degree B-spline) on a reference MRI scan (from a CTL MRI scan, which was chosen as the reference due to being considered as the most representative scan). Subsequently, the boundaries of the lesion were manually delineated on a slice-by-slice basis on the realigned individual anatomic images to create a binary lesion mask using the MRIcron software (Dinomais et al., 2015). Group lesion maps were then created by summing all individual realigned lesion maps (Dinomais et al., 2015) to identify damaged regions common to multiple rats. This process was done separately for the LPS+HI and LPS+HI+HT (Fig. 2B, Supporting Fig. I and II) groups. Group

lesion maps in LPS+HI and LPS+HI+HT rats were overlaid on our reference 3D MRI brain scan. All the 3D MRI data and lesion maps obtained from these steps were verified and checked by two of the authors (MC, MD).

Region-of-Interest (ROI) analysis of PET images

ROIs were adapted from a rat brain atlas on SPM8 that was modified to provide standard template images in MRI (T1 and T2), PET, as well as CT image format (Valdés-Hernández et al., 2011). In order to conduct ROI analysis, we performed a nonlinear transformation of the CT images to the atlas using SPM8. The transformations from the CT scans were applied to the correspondingly co-registered PET scans to map the PET images to the atlas. In order to normalize for difference of [¹⁸F] FDG uptake between animals, standardized uptake value response (SUV_r) was measured based on the average activity obtained in the ROIs and normalized on the reference region of the cerebellum (Assadian et al., 2008).

Behavioral tests

An open field test was used to measure spontaneous locomotor activity and exploratory behavior of the juvenile rats (P20-35), as previously described (Chevin et al., 2018; Girard et al., 2009). The following parameters were assessed in the open field apparatus using Any-Maze Video Tracking System[™] (IL, USA) software: total distance traveled during the test period, mobile time, time in the center, and the number of squares visited. The turning-in-alley test – classically used in rodent models of stroke (Chu et al., 2004; Zou et al., 2006) – was performed at P40 to measure a shift of lateralization due to motor impairment (Savard et al., 2015, 2013). Rats were placed facing the end of a closed alley. The amount of time required for the animal to turn around and face the open end

of the alley, as well as the specific turning direction were recorded repeatedly (10 times per rat) (Chu et al., 2004; Savard et al., 2015, 2013).

Data analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM Statistics 25 (SPSS) and GraphPad software version 8.02. Normality of data were assessed across experimental conditions by Shapiro-Wilk test. Male and female data were combined, as no significant interaction was detected between sex and treatment. There was no difference in sex distribution between the experimental groups. Data were analyzed by unpaired t-test (MRI volumes) or one-way analysis of variances (ANOVA). When significant, pairwise comparisons were performed using a Tukey's HSD test. For the PET-scan analysis, group average differences were calculated using SPSS, and a False Discovery Rate of q=0.05 was applied in order to correct for multiple comparisons. A Spearman correlation was used to assess the linear correlation between the latency to turn in the turning in alley test and the volume of brain infarct in MRI, as normality assumptions were not met. Chi-square tests for independence were used to assess the difference of proportions between samples. In the case of multiple t-tests, we used the Bonferroni t correction to avoid type I error. Data were presented as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or mean \pm 95% confidence intervals for Chi-square tests, with the statistical significance level being set at p<0.05.

Results

Effect of HT on LPS+HI-induced stroke.

A 2.7-fold decrease of the volume of the stroke was observed in the LPS+HI+HT compared to LPS+HI groups: respectively $86.3\pm17.5 \text{ mm}^3$ versus $32.2\pm12.5 \text{ mm}^3$, p=0.02 (Fig. 2A). Nine out

of nine brains presented a stroke in the MRI in the LPS+HI group *versus* five out of nine brains in the LPS+HI+HT group (χ^2 : p=0.08). There was no sex difference in terms of volume of stroke within the experimental groups (Fig. 2A). Group lesion maps showed that in the LPS+HI group, lesions appeared more extensive than in the LPS+HI+HT group (Fig. 2B). Group lesion maps demonstrated that the epicenter of strokes was located in the LPS+HI condition to the caudateputamen, the hippocampal CA2 and CA3 areas, as well as the somatosensory and part of the adjacent motor (M1) cortex (Fig. 2B, see also supporting figure I). In LPS+HI+HT condition, group lesion maps showed that the epicenter of strokes was restricted to part of the primary somatosensory cortex (S1), but spared the hippocampus, the motor cortex, and the caudateputamen as compared to LPS+HI condition (Fig. 2B, see also supporting figure II).

Effect of HT on neurometabolic activity.

As compared to CTL, LPS+HI induced a decrease in the mean [18 F] FDG activity within the RCCA territory; namely, the primary somatosensory cortex, the motor cortex, the internal capsule, the hippocampus and the caudate-putamen (p<0.01; Fig. 3 A, B). Following LPS+HI exposure, HT-treated rats had improved metabolic activities in the motor cortex, the hippocampus, and the caudate-putamen – but not in the primary somatosensory cortex and internal capsule (data not shown) – as compared to untreated rats (p<0.05; Fig. 3C).

Effect of HT on motor behavior.

Whatever the experimental conditions, a linear correlation (p=0.003) was observed between the volume of stroke and the latency to turn in the turning in alley test (Fig. 4A). The required time for turning was significantly prolonged in the LPS+HI as compared to the CTL group (13.5 s

versus 6.7 s, p<0.001; Fig. 4B). After LPS+HI exposure, this required time was decreased in HTtreated compared to untreated rats (p=0.06; Fig. 4B). Furthermore, a change in lateralization was observed in the turning in alley test: the proportion of rats turning on the right *versus* left side was 59 % in the CTL group compared to 38% in the LPS+HI group (p<0.05; Fig. 4C). Following LPS+HI, the proportion of rats turning on the right *versus* left side was 64 % in the HT-treated group as compared to 38 % in the untreated animals (p<0.01; Fig. 4C). Hence, HT fully prevents the right/left shift of LPS+HI-exposed animals in the turning in alley test as the LPS+HI+HT rats performed identically to the CTL group (Fig. 4C). Open field tests performed between P20 and P35 did not show any significant difference between the experimental groups (data not shown).

Discussion

Our results show a neuroprotective effect of HT in NAIS, preventing the occurrence of 44 % of the stroke cases. HT reduced the volume of the stroke and improved the brain's metabolic activity, as well as the animal's motor behavior. The beneficial effect of HT against NAIS was observed on both MRI and PET/CT imaging in the RCCA territory. In addition, MRI as well as [¹⁸F] FDG metabolism show that HT provides a consistent neuroprotective effect between both techniques in the spatial distribution, namely in the motor cortex, the hippocampus, and the caudate-putamen of the lesioned hemisphere. In line with these results, the turning in alley test shows an improvement of the motor behavior in HT-treated as compared to untreated rats. These results are highly relevant and potentially translational to human NAIS in which 30 to 40 % of neonates will further develop a unilateral spastic form of cerebral palsy (Wu et al., 2006).

Four preclinical studies demonstrated inconsistent results regarding the benefit of HT in inflammatory-sensitized HI brain lesions (Chevin et al., 2018, 2016, Osredkar et al., 2015, 2014). Among them, two studies showing no benefit of HT in LPS+HI-induced stroke (Osredkar et al., 2015, 2014) present some limitations, namely: (i) the use of rodents with a level of brain maturation equivalent to preterm human newborns, which does not exactly match with the gestational age of NAIS, which affects term newborns (Patel et al., 2014); (ii) the assessment of the neuroprotective effect of HT subjected to potential sample biases due to measures of surface – but not volume – of only a few selected forebrain sections; (iii) the absence of morphometric and metabolic imaging outcome measures, and (iv) the absence of neurobehavioral outcome measures (Osredkar et al., 2015, 2014). Combining cutting-edge imaging technologies and quantified behavioral studies, our study provides compelling evidence of the neuroprotective effect of HT in NAIS, with promising potential for human newborns.

In contrast with the two previous studies dealing with the neuroprotective effect of HT in HIexposed pups, we did not observe any sex difference in any of the parameters we assessed (Fan et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2016). However, these studies focused on pups at P7, which were exposed to pure HI *i.e.* a different experimental design as compared to ours.

As HT is already used as a standard of care in neonates suffering diffuse neonatal HI encephalopathy, the therapeutic translation of HT to NAIS would, therefore, be facilitated by a repurpose of indication. Consistent with the idea of a randomized clinical trial assessing the safety and efficacy of HT in NAIS, a single-center prospective cohort study recently shows for the first

time a potential beneficial effect of HT in human newborns in which neonatal encephalopathy and NAIS coexist (Harbert et al., 2011).

While presenting innovative and promising findings, our study has some limitations. Motor behavior was based on turning in alley and open field tests. Further evaluation of motor and cognitive functions might refine the assessment of the behavioral effect of HT. Our model also does not strictly reproduce the ecological physiopathological event of *in utero* chorioamnionitis leading to NAIS. Such modeling is not feasible in rodents since the level of maturation of immediately postnatal pups is equivalent to very preterm brain development; hence, not matching with the timing of NAIS affecting term human newborns. Due to the efficient anastomosis of the circle of Willis in pups, our experimental design requires adding hypoxic stress to the ischemiainduced by RCCA ligation to trigger a stroke. However, the triple-hit (namely, bacterial (LPS) component exposure plus focal ischemia plus global hypoxia) used in our experimental design is relevant with the most prevalent causal pathway of human NAIS featured by the sequence of chorioamnionitis (Giraud et al., 2017; Martinez-Biarge et al., 2013; Sorg et al., 2019), peripartum asphyxia identified in up to 26 % of NAIS (Fluss et al., 2019; Martinez-Biarge et al., 2013; Michoulas et al., 2011; Ramaswamy et al., 2004; Sorg et al., 2019), and arterial occlusion of the carotid tree (Fluss et al., 2016; Husson et al., 2016; Kirton et al., 2011; Suppiej et al., 2019).

Conclusion

This is the first preclinical study showing a benefit of HT in NAIS. Through analysing cases of treated and untreated juvenile rats, the benefit of HT was demonstrated with structural and functional brain assessments, as well as motor behavior. Our findings provide a potential avenue

– among others (Chang et al., 2005; Felling et al., 2006; Ferriero et al., 2019) – for novel human therapeutic trials in NAIS to further alleviate its heavy burden morbidities and reduce its negative effects (Dunbar and Kirton, 2018; Fluss et al., 2019).

Acknowledgment

We are very grateful to all members of the Small Animal Imaging Labs of the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre for their help with the acquisition of imaging data. We would like to thank Randy Pinsky and Marie-Julie Allard for editing the manuscript.

Funding

Research reported in this publication was supported by grants from the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR), The Foundation of Stars, The Montreal Children's Hospital Foundation (Hoppenheim Fund), and The Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada; *La Région Auvergne-Rhône-Alpes* and Université Jean Monnet at Saint-Étienne, France. This project has been made possible by Brain Canada Foundation through the Canada Brain Research Fund and Fonds de Recherche du Qébec-Santé, with the financial support of Health Canada and its funding partners (MC). The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent those of the Minister of Health or the Government of Canada.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Ethic approval statement

The experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee of McGill University (protocol #2015-7691) in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines: <u>http://www.ccac.ca/en_/standards/guidelines.</u>

Data availability

The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Supporting information

Supporting figure I (TIFF): LPS+HI group lesion maps.

Group lesion maps of our LPS+HI rats (n=9), overlaid on our reference 3D MRI brain scans on the axial, sagittal, and coronal axes. Distance between images=1 mm.

Supporting figure II (TIFF): LPS+HI+HT group lesion maps.

Group lesion maps of our LPS+HI+HT rats (n=5), overlaid on our reference 3D MRI brain scans on the axial, sagittal, and coronal axes. Distance between images=1 mm.

References

Assadian, S., Aliaga, A., Del Maestro, R.F., Evans, A.C., Bedell, B.J., 2008. FDG-PET imaging for the evaluation of antiglioma agents in a rat model. Neuro. Oncol. 10, 292–299. doi:10.1215/15228517-2008-014

Austin, T., Shanmugalingam, S., Clarke, P., 2013. To cool or not to cool? Hypothermia treatment outside trial criteria. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 98, F451-3. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2012-302069

Brochu, M.-E., Girard, S., Lavoie, K., Sébire, G., 2011. Developmental regulation of the neuroinflammatory responses to LPS and/or hypoxia-ischemia between preterm and term neonates: An experimental study. J. Neuroinflammation 8, 55. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-55

Buckley, E.M., Patel, S.D., Miller, B.F., Franceschini, M.A., Vannucci, S.J., 2015. In vivo Monitoring of Cerebral Hemodynamics in the Immature Rat: Effects of Hypoxia-Ischemia and Hypothermia. Dev Neurosci 37, 407–416. doi:10.1159/000381704

Chang, Y.S., Mu, D., Wendland, M., Sheldon, R.A., Vexler, Z.S., McQuillen, P.S., Ferriero, D.M., 2005. Erythropoietin improves functional and histological outcome in neonatal stroke. Pediatr. Res. 58, 106–111. doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000163616.89767.69

Chevin, M., Guiraut, C., Maurice-Gelinas, C., Deslauriers, J., Grignon, S., Sébire, G., 2016. Neuroprotective effects of hypothermia in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 55, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2016.09.002

Chevin, M., Guiraut, C., Sébire, G., 2018. Effect of hypothermia on interleukin-1 receptor antagonist pharmacodynamics in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy of term newborns. J. Neuroinflammation 15, 214. doi:10.1186/s12974-018-1258-6

Chu, K., Kim, M., Park, K.-I., Jeong, S.-W., Park, H.-K., Jung, K.-H., Lee, S.-T., Kang, L., Lee, K., Park, D.-K., Kim, S.U., Roh, J.-K., 2004. Human neural stem cells improve sensorimotor deficits in the adult rat brain with experimental focal ischemia. Brain Res. 1016, 145–153. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2004.04.038

Dinomais, M., Hertz-Pannier, L., Groeschel, S., Chabrier, S., Delion, M., Husson, B., Kossorotoff, M., Renaud, C., Nguyen The Tich, S., AVCnn Study Group, 2015. Long term motor function after neonatal stroke: Lesion localization above all. Hum. Brain Mapp. 36, 4793–4807. doi:10.1002/hbm.22950

Dunbar, M., Kirton, A., 2018. Perinatal stroke: mechanisms, management, and outcomes of early cerebrovascular brain injury. Lancet Child Adolesc. Health 2, 666–676. doi:10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30173-1

Fan, X., van Bel, F., van der Kooij, M.A., Heijnen, C.J., Groenendaal, F., 2013. Hypothermia and erythropoietin for neuroprotection after neonatal brain damage. Pediatr. Res. 73, 18–23. doi:10.1038/pr.2012.139

Felling, R.J., Snyder, M.J., Romanko, M.J., Rothstein, R.P., Ziegler, A.N., Yang, Z., Givogri, M.I., Bongarzone, E.R., Levison, S.W., 2006. Neural stem/progenitor cells participate in the regenerative response to perinatal hypoxia/ischemia. J. Neurosci. 26, 4359–4369. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1898-05.2006 Ferriero, D.M., Fullerton, H.J., Bernard, T.J., Billinghurst, L., Daniels, S.R., DeBaun, M.R., deVeber, G., Ichord, R.N., Jordan, L.C., Massicotte, P., Meldau, J., Roach, E.S., Smith, E.R., American Heart Association Stroke Council and Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing, 2019. Management of stroke in neonates and children: A scientific statement from the american heart association/american stroke association. Stroke 50, e51–e96. doi:10.1161/STR.000000000000183

Fluss, J., Dinomais, M., Chabrier, S., 2019. Perinatal stroke syndromes: Similarities and diversities in aetiology, outcome and management. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 23, 368–383. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2019.02.013

Fluss, J., Garcia-Tarodo, S., Granier, M., Villega, F., Ferey, S., Husson, B., Kossorotoff, M., Muehlethaler, V., Lebon, S., Chabrier, S., 2016. Perinatal arterial ischemic stroke related to carotid artery occlusion. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 20, 639–648. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2016.03.003

Gennaro, M., Mattiello, A., Pizzorusso, T., 2019. Rodent models of developmental ischemic stroke for translational research: strengths and weaknesses. Neural Plast. 2019, 5089321. doi:10.1155/2019/5089321

Girard, S., Kadhim, H., Beaudet, N., Sarret, P., Sébire, G., 2009. Developmental motor deficits induced by combined fetal exposure to lipopolysaccharide and early neonatal hypoxia/ischemia: a novel animal model for cerebral palsy in very premature infants. Neuroscience 158, 673–682. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.10.032

Giraud, A., Guiraut, C., Chevin, M., Chabrier, S., Sébire, G., 2017. Role of perinatal inflammation in neonatal arterial ischemic stroke. Front. Neurol. 8, 612. doi:10.3389/fneur.2017.00612

Grand'maison, M., Zehntner, S.P., Ho, M.-K., Hébert, F., Wood, A., Carbonell, F., Zijdenbos, A.P., Hamel, E., Bedell, B.J., 2013. Early cortical thickness changes predict β -amyloid deposition in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Dis. 54, 59–67. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2013.02.005

Harbert, M.J., Tam, E.W.Y., Glass, H.C., Bonifacio, S.L., Haeusslein, L.A., Barkovich, A.J., Jeremy, R.J., Rogers, E.E., Glidden, D.V., Ferriero, D.M., 2011. Hypothermia is correlated with seizure absence in perinatal stroke. J. Child Neurol. 26, 1126–1130. doi:10.1177/0883073811408092

Husson, B., Hertz-Pannier, L., Adamsbaum, C., Renaud, C., Presles, E., Dinomais, M., Kossorotoff, M., Landrieu, P., Chabrier, S., 2016. MR angiography findings in infants with neonatal arterial ischemic stroke in the middle cerebral artery territory: A prospective study using circle of Willis MR angiography. Eur. J. Radiol. 85, 1329–1335. doi:10.1016/j.ejrad.2016.05.002 Kirton, A., Armstrong-Wells, J., Chang, T., Deveber, G., Rivkin, M.J., Hernandez, M., Carpenter, J., Yager, J.Y., Lynch, J.K., Ferriero, D.M., International Pediatric Stroke Study Investigators, 2011. Symptomatic neonatal arterial ischemic stroke: the International Pediatric Stroke Study. Pediatrics 128, e1402-10. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-1148

Martinez-Biarge, M., Diez-Sebastian, J., Wusthoff, C.J., Mercuri, E., Cowan, F.M., 2013. Antepartum and intrapartum factors preceding neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Pediatrics 132, e952-9. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-0511 Michoulas, A., Basheer, S.N., Roland, E.H., Poskitt, K., Miller, S., Hill, A., 2011. The role of hypoxia-ischemia in term newborns with arterial stroke. Pediatr. Neurol. 44, 254–258. doi:10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2010.10.013

Osredkar, D., Sabir, H., Falck, M., Wood, T., Maes, E., Flatebø, T., Puchades, M., Thoresen, M., 2015. Hypothermia Does Not Reverse Cellular Responses Caused by Lipopolysaccharide in Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischaemic Brain Injury. Dev Neurosci 37, 390–397. doi:10.1159/000430860

Osredkar, D., Thoresen, M., Maes, E., Flatebø, T., Elstad, M., Sabir, H., 2014. Hypothermia is not neuroprotective after infection-sensitized neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Resuscitation 85, 567–572. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.12.006

Patel, S.D., Pierce, L., Ciardiello, A.J., Vannucci, S.J., 2014. Neonatal encephalopathy: preclinical studies in neuroprotection. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 42, 564–568. doi:10.1042/BST20130247 Ramaswamy, V., Miller, S.P., Barkovich, A.J., Partridge, J.C., Ferriero, D.M., 2004. Perinatal stroke in term infants with neonatal encephalopathy. Neurology 62, 2088–2091. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000129909.77753.c4

Savard, A., Brochu, M.-E., Chevin, M., Guiraut, C., Grbic, D., Sébire, G., 2015. Neuronal selfinjury mediated by IL-1 β and MMP-9 in a cerebral palsy model of severe neonatal encephalopathy induced by immune activation plus hypoxia-ischemia. J. Neuroinflammation 12, 111. doi:10.1186/s12974-015-0330-8

Savard, A., Lavoie, K., Brochu, M.-E., Grbic, D., Lepage, M., Gris, D., Sebire, G., 2013. Involvement of neuronal IL-1 β in acquired brain lesions in a rat model of neonatal encephalopathy. J. Neuroinflammation 10, 110. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-110

Smith, A.L., Rosenkrantz, T.S., Fitch, R.H., 2016. Effects of Sex and Mild Intrainsult Hypothermia on Neuropathology and Neural Reorganization following Neonatal Hypoxic Ischemic Brain Injury in Rats. Neural Plast. 2016, 2585230. doi:10.1155/2016/2585230

Sorg, A.-L., von Kries, R., Klemme, M., Gerstl, L., Weinberger, R., Beyerlein, A., Lack, N., Felderhoff-Müser, U., Dzietko, M., 2019. Risk factors for perinatal arterial ischaemic stroke: a large case-control study. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. doi:10.1111/dmcn.14347

Suppiej, A., Toffoli, E., Festa, I., Cervesi, C., Cappellari, A., Manara, R., Magarotto, M., Cainelli, E., 2019. Perinatal carotid artery ischemic stroke: Report of two cases. J. Neonatal. Perinatal. Med. doi:10.3233/NPM-1816

Thompson, S.J., Millecamps, M., Aliaga, A., Seminowicz, D.A., Low, L.A., Bedell, B.J., Stone, L.S., Schweinhardt, P., Bushnell, M.C., 2014. Metabolic brain activity suggestive of persistent pain in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Neuroimage 91, 344–352. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.01.020

Towfighi, J., Mauger, D., Vannucci, R.C., Vannucci, S.J., 1997. Influence of age on the cerebral lesions in an immature rat model of cerebral hypoxia–ischemia: a light microscopic study. Developmental Brain Research 100, 149–160. doi:10.1016/S0165-3806(97)00036-9

Valdés-Hernández, P.A., Sumiyoshi, A., Nonaka, H., Haga, R., Aubert-Vásquez, E., Ogawa, T., Iturria-Medina, Y., Riera, J.J., Kawashima, R., 2011. An in vivo MRI Template Set for Morphometry, Tissue Segmentation, and fMRI Localization in Rats. Front Neuroinformatics 5,

26. doi:10.3389/fninf.2011.00026

Wu, Y.W., Croen, L.A., Shah, S.J., Newman, T.B., Najjar, D.V., 2006. Cerebral palsy in a term population: risk factors and neuroimaging findings. Pediatrics 118, 690–697. doi:10.1542/peds.2006-0278

Zou, L.Y., Cheung, R.T.F., Liu, S., Li, G., Huang, L., 2006. Melatonin reduces infarction volume in a photothrombotic stroke model in the wild-type but not cyclooxygenase-1-gene knockout mice. J Pineal Res 41, 150–156. doi:10.1111/j.1600-079X.2006.00349.x

Figures

Figure 1



Figure 1. Experimental design.

(A) CTL animals who received saline ip injection followed by a sham surgery, did not undergo hypoxia nor hypothermia. LPS from *E.coli* (50 μ g/kg) was administered by ip injection in rat pups at P12. Four hours later, the RCCA was ligated, and hypoxia was induced (8.1±0.1 % O₂) for one hour and a half. Pups were divided into groups, one of which was treated by HT (32-33 °C) for four hours. (**B**) Rat pups that underwent HT reached the targeted temperature (32.5±0.4 °C) 30±10 min after being isolated from the mother. Rectal temperature was measured every 20 min using a calibrated probe. Number (n) of LPS+HI+HT rats: n=10. *Abbreviations:* CTL, control; HI, hypoxia-ischemia; HT, hypothermia; ip, intraperitoneally; LPS, lipopolysaccharide of *Escherichia coli*; P, postnatal day; RCCA, right common carotid artery; RT, rectal temperature.





Figure 2. Comparison of the volume of the stroke between LPS+HI±HT-exposed rats.

(A) After LPS+HI exposure, HT significantly reduced the volume of the stroke measured by MRI from 86.3±17.5 mm³ to 32.2±12.5 mm³. Following LPS+HI exposure, 44 % of HT-treated rats did not present stroke on the MRI, compared to 0 % in the untreated group. The bars indicate the mean±SD. * p<0.05; independent T-test. (B) Examples of lesion overlap plots for LPS+HI (n=9) and LPS+HI+HT (n=5; 4 animals had no stroke) group. The color range indicates the number of overlapping lesions by coding increasing frequencies from violet (n=1 rat) to red (n=9 rats). Distance between images: 1 mm. *Abbreviations:* HI, hypoxia-ischemia; HT, hypothermia; LPS, lipopolysaccharide of *Escherichia coli*; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; RCCA, right common carotid artery.



Figure 3

Figure 3. Comparison of the [¹⁸F] FDG metabolic activity within the rat brain between CTL and LPS+HI±HT-exposed rats.

(A) Mean [¹⁸F] FDG activity in the RCCA territory in CTL (n=3), LPS+HI (n=9), and LPS+HI+HT (n=8) group: [¹⁸F] FDG metabolism was reduced in the LPS+HI compared to CTL group. After LPS+HI exposure, HT improved [¹⁸F] FDG activity in the RCCA territory. (**B**) Representative examples of PET, MRI, and co-registered PET-MRI images in the three experimental conditions. (**C**) Mean [¹⁸F] FDG activity in the primary somatosensory cortex, the motor cortex, the hippocampus, and the caudate-putamen in CTL (n=3), LPS+HI (n=9), and LPS+HI+HT (n=8) group. Following LPS+HI exposure, HT-treated rats had improved [¹⁸F] FDG metabolism in the motor cortex, the hippocampus, and the caudate-putamen. Data are expressed in fold increased with CTL being set at 1. The bars indicate the mean±SD. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01; one-way ANOVA, FDR=0.05. *Abbreviations:* CTL, control; CPu, caudate-putamen; H, hippocampus; HI, hypoxia-ischemia; HT, hypothermia; LPS, lipopolysaccharide of *Escherichia coli*; M, motor cortex; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; PET, positron emission tomography; RCCA, right common carotid artery; S1, primary somatosensory cortex.

Figure 4



Figure 4. Comparison of the motor behavior between CTL and LPS+HI±HT-exposed rats.

(A) A linear correlation was found between the volume of the stroke (mm³) and the latency to turn in (s) using a Spearman correlation, p<0.001. Number (n) of rats: n=20, including CTL (n=3), LPS+HI (n=9), and LPS+HI+HT (n=8). (B) The required time for turning in alley was significantly prolonged in the LPS+HI compared to CTL group and decreased in HT-treated compared to untreated rats. (C) Following LPS+HI exposure, a shift in lateralization toward the left side was observed compared to CTL. This shift was fully prevented in HT-treated as compared to untreated animals. There was a mean of 10 trials per animal. The bars indicate the mean±SD (B) and the mean±95% confidence intervals (C). * p<0.05, ** p<0.01; one-way ANOVA.

Abbreviations: CTL, control; HI, hypoxia-ischemia; HT, hypothermia; LPS, lipopolysaccharide of *Escherichia coli*.

Additional files

Additional figure I



Additional figure I. LPS+HI group lesion maps.

Group lesion maps of our LPS+HI rats (n=9), overlaid on our reference 3D MRI brain scans on the axial, sagittal, and coronal axes. Distance between images=1 mm.

Additional figure II



Additional figure II. LPS+HI+HT group lesion maps.

Group lesion maps of our LPS+HI+HT rats (n=5), overlaid on our reference 3D MRI brain scans on the axial, sagittal, and coronal axes. Distance between images=1 mm.

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

The general objective of this research was to investigate the neuroprotective effect of HT in combination or not with IL-1Ra in the treatment of NE resulting from inflammatory-sensitized HI. We specifically aimed to investigate (1) the effect of HT on pharmacodynamic parameters of IL-1Ra, and (2) the efficacy of HT with or without IL-1Ra in terms of mortality, and brain injury assessed by histology or imaging technics, as well as motor behaviour improvement at short and long-term.

Using our rat model of inflammatory sensitized-HI brain injury, I demonstrated that:

- (1) HT modified the pharmacodynamics of IL-1Ra inducing an opposite effect than expected resulting in the paradoxical up-regulation of the innate immune response. This alteration led to an upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines within the brain.
- (2) IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) plus HT vs sole HT significantly decreased the mortality rate occurring during hypoxia as well as improved the short-term motor outcome. However, no added value of IL-1Ra to HT was observed in term of reduction of brain injury assessed by histology and imaging measures.
- (3) Sole HT prevented the occurrence of 44% of brain injury, reduced the volume of the infarct by 37% on MRI, enhanced the brain metabolic activity within the carotid artery territory, and improved the long-term motor behavior.

The two first manuscript dealt with the safety and efficacy of the combination of HT with IL-1Ra in the treatment of LPS+HI -induced NE. The first manuscript revealed the effect of HT on some pharmacodynamic parameters of IL-1Ra leading to its bioaccumulation within the brain. These results could explain why we observed added value of IL-1Ra to HT on only certain outcome parameters but not on the surface of brain lesions at the tested doses. Manuscript two described that IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) plus HT *vs* sole HT significantly decreased the mortality rate occurring during hypoxia and improved the short-term motor outcome in rats. The rationale of the third manuscript was to deepen investigation of the effect of HT in the context of NE resulting from inflammation plus HI. The use of cutting-edge imaging tools helped us to further characterize the neuroprotective effect of sole HT in our model.

COMPREHENSIVE DISCUSSION

The following sections will present a more detailed discussion of the findings, the limitations, and future direction of this thesis work.

1. HT effects on pharmacodynamic parameters of hrIL-1Ra

Manuscript 1 revealed an effect of HT on IL-1Ra concentration in our model. We observed a bioaccumulation of IL-1Ra under HT condition within the plasma, CSF and forebrain of LPS+HI exposed pups. Only few studies dealt with the impact of HT on the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic of drugs used in the human neonatal context (de Haan et al., 2012; Pokorna et al., 2015; van den Broek et al., 2010; Zhou and Poloyac, 2011). In the same line, current evidence demonstrated that HT decreases the clearance of a variety of drugs used in neonates with NE, such as antibiotics (Choi et al., 2018; Cies et al., 2017), antiepileptics (van den Broek et al., 2012), and others (Balduini et al., 2019; Favié et al., 2020, 2019). Besides, to our knowledge, no other study focused on the impact of HT on the pharmacodynamics of hrIL-1Ra. We hypothesized that the bioaccumulation of hrIL-1Ra might result from a decreased of renal clearance under HT condition. In a preclinical pharmacology study on Lewis rats with arthritis, it has been shown that hrIL-1Ra is eliminated rapidly (elimination half-life of 4-6 h) mainly through the kidney by glomerular filtration (Kim et al., 1995; Liu et al., 2011). It has been shown in human studies that HT can reduce glomerular filtration (van den Broek et al., 2010; Zhou and Poloyac, 2011). hrIL-1Ra clearance is influenced by kidney function in human (Yang et al., 2003), and neonates suffering from HIE can have acute kidney injury (Durkan and Alexander, 2011; Sweetman et al., 2013). Hence, HIE and HT could both affect renal filtration and decrease the clearance of hrIL-1Ra.
Further work is necessary to assess the elimination of hrIL-1Ra and kidney function in our LPS+HI+HT condition.

1.1. hrIL-1Ra bioaccumulation and toxicity

Under HT condition, we demonstrated a bioaccumulation of hrIL-1Ra within the ipsilateral hemisphere and CSF of LPS+HI-exposed animals (Chevin et al., 2018). This was assessed with the mild dose (*i.e.* 50 mg/kg/12 h) of IL-1Ra. Regarding the short half-life (4-6 h) and the twelve-time effectiveness of hrIL-1Ra in rats as compared to human, we did not anticipated toxicity due to an overdose of the drug at this dose. This result could explain the toxicity observed in brain of rats exposed to the highest dose (*i.e.* 200 mg/kg/12 h) of IL-1Ra combined with HT.

Indeed, in this particular experimental group, we observed an increase in the penumbra injury (*i.e.* the region surrounding the loss of tissue with pycnotic neurons and/or loss of architecture), as well as a loss in the weight of pups during hrIL-1Ra administration and lasting up to the end of the study (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. Weight gain of rat pups after LPS+HI exposure. Rats in the LPS+HI+HT+IL-1Ra (200

mg/kg) group lost more weight after LPS+HI exposure than in the other experimental conditions. They did not regain a normal weight before the end of the study (*i.e.* 8 days after exposition to LPS+HI). We did not observe the same pattern with rats treated with IL-1Ra at 50 mg/kg/12 h. If we think about a potential translation of hrIL-1Ra plus HT from the rat to humans and regarding some change in the half-life and effectiveness between species: a dose of 50 mg/kg/12 h will be similar to a dose of 8 mg/kg/d in humans (which is the maximal dose recommended for neonates). A dose of 200 mg/kg/ 12 h will represent an approximate dose of 33 mg/kg/d in humans, which is above the maximal recommended dose of 8 mg/kg/d (see appendix #1). However, we decided to use this dose as it previously showed important neuroprotective effects in the same LPS+HI model (Savard et al., 2015, 2013). Besides, if we consider the impact of HT on pharmacodynamics of hrIL-1Ra, we suggest in the future to deeply study this effect on a longer timeframe (*i.e.* from 4 h to 72 h, for instance) and with a wider range of doses between 12 to 50 mg/kg/12 h (which represents dose varying between 1 to 10 mg/kg/d in neonates, as per recommendation in the appendix #1).

We hypothesized that this hrIL-1Ra bioaccumulation in HT condition might perturbate the IL-1/IL-1Ra balance within the brain (Spulber et al., 2009); therefore, inducing deleterious effect for neural cells. In keeping with these findings, experimental studies using transgenic mice chronically overexpressing human IL-1Ra within the CNS have observed alteration of the brain morphology (smaller volume of the cerebral cortex and hippocampus) and behavioural impairments (Spulber et al., 2011). Besides, this lifetime IL-1 blockade on mice was not able to prevent brain infarct induced by permanent focal ischemia (Oprica et al., 2004), in contrast with transient administration of IL-1Ra in the same model (McCann et al., 2016). To our knowledge, the mechanistic explanation behind this deleterious effect of IL-1Ra overexpression is still unknown but could be due to non-specific ligand-receptors interactions or compensatory mechanisms (Oprica et al., 2004). Using the same transgenic mice in a model of traumatic brain injury, Tehranian and colleagues observed an increased in TNF- α levels in cerebral cortex as compared to wild type mice (Tehranian et al., 2002). They conclude that this could be due to a compensatory mechanism in response to the inhibition of IL-1R activation by an excess of IL-1Ra in the brain and subsequent reduction of IL-1 signalling (Tehranian et al., 2002). This early overexpression of TNF- α may contribute to neuronal death, in particular by necroptosis (see paragraph 3.2.2), and the subsequent inflammatory burst. This finding is in line with our results showing overexpression of IL-1 β and TNF- α at 4 h and 24 h respectively within the ipsilateral hemisphere in the HT+hrIL-1Ra-treated rats (Chevin et al., 2018).

Another possible mechanism that could explain this toxicity can be through the blockade of NF κ B. NF κ B is known for its dual role in neuroprotection and neurotoxicity in the brain (Shih et al., 2015). In particular, data demonstrated a physiological role of NF κ B in maintaining survival and proliferation of neurons (Bhakar et al., 2002; Shih et al., 2015). Using a "super-repressor" (*i.e.* non-degradable I κ B), the permanent inhibition of NF κ B in neurons lead to neuronal death and learning impairments in adult mice (Bhakar et al., 2002; Meffert and Baltimore, 2005), supporting that NF κ B plays key roles in physiological neuronal function and neuronal networks. Overall, these findings support the fact that the dosage and administration window of IL-1Ra needs to be carefully targeted in order to avoid a harmful impact on the brain.

On the other hand, a larger dose effect study of hrIL-1Ra has been done in our model. We tested doses of 12.5 to 200 mg/kg/12 h for 72 h. Even with the small dose of 12.5 mg/kg combined with

HT - a dose we chose to test in the context of the potential toxicity due to bioaccumulation of hrIL-1ra on HT condition – we did not observe any benefit on histological measures of brain infarct. In contrast to the dose of 50 mg/kg, we did not find any reduction of the total loss of tissue for the dose of 12.5 mg/kg as compared to untreated rats (**Figure 2**).



Figure 2. Histology measurements of the total loss of tissue induced by LPS+HI exposure. The total loss of tissue was significantly reduced by HT and HT+IL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) treatments, as compared with untreated rats. hrIL-1Ra did not provide any added value to HT at the doses we tested.

Note that the dose of hrIL-1Ra at 12.5 mg/kg added to HT reverse the neuroprotective effect of HT alone. This result is difficult to explain as we previously reported that HT did not counteract the IL-1 signalling (Chevin et al., 2016) but how exactly interacts hrIL-1Ra under low temperature is still unknown.

Histological measures as we did in this study can be challenged. These data are based on surface – and not volume – measures of two consecutive brain sections; thus, did not represent the entirety

of brain injury after LPS+HI exposure. HT plus hrIL-1Ra (50 mg/kg) results on brain infarct (*i.e.* no added value as compared to HT alone) should be taken with caution since they contradict the observed benefits of the combined treatment in term of mortality and short-term motor behaviour (**manuscript 2**). The combination of hrIL-1Ra to HT may still have an interest in neuroprotection if we refine the dose of hrIL-1Ra to administrate (around 50 mg/kg) and use imaging technics to more precisely analyze brain injuries.

1.2. IL-1Ra administration window

In our studies, the timing of injection of IL-1Ra (*i.e.* 30 min before LPS administration) was based on previous preclinical works on adult ischemic stroke (Loddick and Rothwell, 1996; McColl et al., 2007; Relton and Rothwell, 1992; Touzani et al., 2002) and previous studies from our laboratory (Savard et al., 2015, 2013). Such timing could be of interest for clinical purpose, as hrIL-1Ra is already approved in pregnant women having arthritis (see appendix 1). Therefore, using hrIL-1Ra prenatally when there is signs of infection-inflammation during pregnancy could be of interest to reduce the mortality occurring in those cases of infection-inflammation-induced neurodevelopmental disabilities (Chen et al., 2020; Chevin et al., 2020b). However, preadministration of IL-1Ra could induce unexpected effects. As IL-1 signaling has also important roles in normal brain functions, its early blockade could interfere with neurophysiological processes (Liu and Quan, 2018; Mantovani et al., 2019; Spulber et al., 2009). It would be of interest to test if acute or delayed administration of IL-1Ra in combination with HT could have better effects in our model. It is known in the literature that a delayed administration of 3 h post insult of IL-1Ra still have neuroprotective effects after ischemic stroke in adult rats (Pradillo et al., 2017, 2012). In contrast, 24 h delayed IL-1Ra treatment did not provide any effect in the same model

(Girard et al., 2014).

Further clinical studies are needed to answer the potential effect of hrIL-1Ra during the pregnancy to alleviate mortality. Moreover, further preclinical works could be of interest to study the delayed administration of hrIL-1Ra after LPS+HI exposure.

1.3. Sex difference in HI±LPS±HT injury

There is more and more evidence in the literature of sex-difference in rodent models of HI injury (Charriaut-Marlangue et al., 2017; Netto et al., 2017). Most sex-differences were found on specific parameters such as behavioural responses, cell death pathway and oxidative stress (Netto et al., 2017). However, these results might be different depending on the age of animals due for instance to the immaturity, and rapidly evolving functions of hormonal systems between juvenile and adult animals, as well as between preterm and term newborn animals (Csernus, 1986). Throughout our studies, we did not find sex-dimorphic effect in any parameters we assessed. Although for some parameters, it might be due to a lack of power (*i.e.* the experimental numbers might not allow for statistic demonstration of any dimorphic effect); for others, such as brain histology (Chevin et al., 2018) we did not observe any difference between males and females. Interestingly, only one study combining endotoxin plus HI injury investigated sex-differences in their model (Fleiss et al., 2012). They observed a similar volume of tissue loss, number of glial cells, and cytokine expressions between females and males following LPS+HI exposure (Fleiss et al., 2012). Similarly, our previous works using inflammatory-sensitized HI injury did not bring evidence of sex-differences on the same parameters tested (Girard et al., 2012; Savard et al., 2015, 2013). Sexdifferences vary according to the age, type of aggression (LPS or others) as well as treatment(s) administered after the HI insult. Only few preclinical studies investigated sex-dimorphic effects in

HI+HT models (Fan et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2016, 2015). These studies reported that females appear to have slightly more benefits from HT than male for specific behavioural tasks (*i.e.* motor learning) (Fan et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2015). Protective effects of HT were similar for males and females in terms of brain injury (Fan et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2013).

2. Effect of HT on inflammatory-sensitized HI

In preclinical studies investigating the neuroprotective effect of HT, NE is modelled using pure HI brain injury. However, in the clinical setting, the etiology of NE is often multifactorial. Evidence emphasized an important role of perinatal infection/inflammation in addition to HI events (Nelson, 2009; Nelson and Penn, 2015; Nelson and Willoughby, 2000). The benefit of HT in this context of infection/inflammation sensitized HI is still controversial.

Using the same inflammatory-sensitized HI model during a previous research project, I demonstrated a neuroprotective effect of HT in penumbra brain injury possibly through an increased in antioxidant enzymes (Chevin et al., 2016). We further described a protective effect of HT in the total loss of brain tissue, as well as in the reduction of the atrophy of the caudate-putamen and the hippocampus (Chevin et al., 2018), which are areas of the brain among the most exquisitely sensitive to HI. In contrast with these findings, Osredkar and colleagues found that HT was not neuroprotective in a similar model of inflammation-sensitized HI brain injury (Osredkar et al., 2015, 2014). However, their studies comport some limitations as they used P7 rat pups (*i.e.* rodents with a level of brain maturation equivalent to preterm human newborns) in contrast with HIE affecting full term newborns (Patel et al., 2014) and focused their work mainly on hippocampus (Osredkar et al., 2015, 2014). That is why, our results using P12 pups (corresponding to a level of maturation equivalent to full-term newborns) may be more suitable in term of brain injury of the

term neonate. Besides, their studies were restricted to surface measurements on few selected forebrain sections and did not include volumetric (*e.g.* by imaging) measures of brain lesions or neuro-behavioural outcome measures (Osredkar et al., 2015, 2014).

One of the aims of manuscript 3 was to confirm the neuroprotective effect of HT observed previously in our model using powerful imaging technics allowing us to obtain morphometric and metabolic imaging outcome measures and tested the effect of HT on motor behavioural tasks. Interestingly, HT was found to limit the extent of the infarct and promote full recovery in 44% of treated rats, as well as improve the motor behaviour at juvenile age (Chevin et al., 2020a). Imaging data suggest that the effects are located to the motor cortex, hippocampus and caudate-putamen. In our study, the motor behaviour was assessed by turning in alley and open field tests. Beyond the improvement of the motor behaviour in HT-treated rats, the negative results in open field tests suggest that the general motor functions of the rats may not be affected after LPS+HI-induced brain lesion. The positive correlation found between the volume of brain infarct and the latency to turn suggest that cognitive functions may be altered. Indeed, rats with large brain infarct were still able to turn at the end of the alley; however, they will need more time to perform the test. This finding underlines the importance of assessing, in future work, specific motor task that required both motor and cognitive functions, such as Morris Water Maze, Foot Fault, and novel object recognition tests.

2.1. LPS+HI as a model of NAIS

Our adjusted Rice-Vannucci model can be used as a model of NAIS (Gennaro et al., 2019). As we confirmed in MRI, LPS+HI induced a consistent focal injury in the territory of the carotid artery (Chevin et al., 2020a). This model could be a good alternative to the one using transient or

permanent occlusion of the middle cerebral artery (MCAO), producing a high rate of mortality (Ashwal et al., 2007; Gennaro et al., 2019). One preclinical study comparing HI and transient MCAO models observed a similar volume of injury on MRI, with a greater cortical involvement in the HI model (Ashwal et al., 2007). In our model, we showed that lesions were located mainly in motor areas and can be correlated with the motor behaviour observed in the turning in alley test (Chevin et al., 2020a). Besides, the weakness on the left side we observed in the LPS+HI-exposed rats are relevant to hemiplegia often seen in human patients after NAIS (Chevin et al., 2020a, 2020b; Husson et al., 2010). It could be of interest to further study hemiplegia and other symptoms of CP in our model (Nelson, 2002; Wu et al., 2006).

2.2. Early diagnostic for an early intervention of NAIS

Neuroimaging using MRI is the gold standard to diagnose NAIS, which may, however, takes time to obtain in the clinical setting or not always feasible in instable neonates (Nevalainen et al., 2019; Wagenaar et al., 2019). Besides, it is crucial to shorten the diagnosis in order to initiate new therapeutic intervention, such as HT, to limit the extend of the infarct and/or promote recovery (Basu, 2014; Chevin et al., 2020a). As investigated in HIE clinical and preclinical studies, HT may not be effective after 10 h post insult (Laptook et al., 2017; Li et al., 2009; Sabir et al., 2012). HT was found to have deleterious effect after 12 h in a severe model of HIE (Sabir et al., 2012). An interesting option to shorten the diagnosis of NAIS in neonates could be the use of electrophysiological tests. Nevalainen and colleagues have shown the very good diagnostic sensitivity of electroencephalography (EEG) coupled with somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs) at bedside. This SEP measure also have a strong early predictive value for progression to hemiplegia (Nevalainen et al., 2019). Another study demonstrated that the monitoring cerebral

activity and oxygenation, using EEG and near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS), may provide useful information for early prognosis in NAIS (Wagenaar et al., 2019). Although these diagnostic technics could be relatively complicated to put in place at bedside in clinical daily practice (availability of the material and training is necessary). The two articles showed, however, that electrophysiology has its place alongside MRI as a diagnostic and prognostic tool for NAIS.

3. Future directions

By combining two individually effective treatments – IL-1Ra and HT – we hoped that two treatments would be better than one. We found a partial benefit of IL-1Ra as an add-on therapy to HT on mortality and short-term motor outcome. In future studies, it would be preferable to use imaging technics to evaluate neuroprotective effects more precisely and on the entire brain infarct.

3.1. Further evaluation of the effect of HT on IL-1Ra pharmacology

Results we obtained indicate that further study concerning IL-1Ra pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in combination with HT is required. For instance, the use of radiolabelled IL-1Ra and PET imaging can be of interest to further study the biodistribution and metabolism of IL-1Ra in combination or not with HT (Cawthorne et al., 2011). Such study could inform us on the brain uptake of [¹⁸F] IL-1Ra after LPS+HI-exposure, as well as its metabolism and excretion via the kidneys. Radiolabelled metabolites quantification can be easily done and compared throughout time in different organs, under HT condition or not. This could give us another way to quantify the amount of IL-1Ra entering the brain. This additional study should allow us to find an explanation to the alteration of some pharmacodynamics parameters by HT as well as find the lowest effective dose of IL-1Ra in our model.

3.2. Further evaluation of motor behaviour and CP-like symptoms

In our studies, the refined analysis of motor behaviour has not been carried out; therefore, we cannot conclude on the presence or not of hemiplegia and spastic or dystonic symptoms associated with CP. It could be of interest to further study this question as motor outcome seems to vary depending on the model of HI used. Rat model of HI injury did not present aberrant reflexes or severe spastic, or dystonic impairments observed in human patients; however, most of them did not report long-term motor functions or used premature (P4) or late preterm (P7) – instead of term – rat pups (Cavarsan et al., 2019; Fan et al., 2005; Rumajogee et al., 2016). The use of rodent models can be challenged due to important differences in terms of level of cortical development and its different implications in motor control, and the maturation of corticospinal tract with human (Clowry et al., 2014; Gennaro et al., 2019, 2017). In contrast, LPS or HI model of rabbit reported spasticity (Derrick et al., 2004; Saadani-Makki et al., 2008). It is of importance to evaluate more precisely motor anomaly in these models in order to better validate their relevance in CP (Cavarsan et al., 2019).

3.3. Evaluation of the effect of HT on necroptosis

Neuroprotective effects of HT were assessed through the size of the brain lesion (by histology or MRI measurements), brain metabolic activity, and behavioural studies. Further work needs to be done concerning the potential effect of HT on cell death pathways. Our laboratory is also interested to investigate the effect of HT on necroptosis (*i.e.* a caspase-independent form of cell death that can induced a massive neuronal loss) (Kaiser et al., 2013; Mandal et al., 2014; Tovar-y-Romo et al., 2016; Walsh, 2014). Only one preclinical study investigated the role of necroptosis after HI injury in mice at P7 (Northington et al., 2011). Our preliminary study revealed that key molecules

of necroptosis, namely MLKL and RIP-3, were overexpressed after LPS+HI-exposure (unpublished data). Phosphorylated forms of these markers were detected in the motor cortex, hippocampus and caudate-putamen of the ipsilateral hemisphere. A study is underway to investigate the potential effect of HT, in combination or not with a specific necroptosis blocker, on these necroptotic molecules.

3.4. Evaluation of the neuroprotective effect of HT after gram-positive bacteria + HIexposure

Like our study, other preclinical models of inflammatory-sensitized HI-brain injury used LPS (a constituent of gram-negative bacterial membrane) to trigger inflammation. However, gram-positive bacteria, such as Group B Streptococcus (GBS) is the leading cause of neonatal sepsis (Fjalstad et al., 2016). It could be of interest to test whether gram-positive bacteria also sensitized the neonatal brain and if HT is neuroprotective in this context. One recent preclinical study investigated the sensitizing effect of TLR-2 activation combined with mild HI on an immature rat brain. HT was found to reduce the hippocampal and hemispheric area loss in this context (Falck et al., 2018, 2017). Our laboratory developed and characterized two models of end-gestational exposure to inactivate or activated GBS (Allard et al., 2019, 2017; Bergeron et al., 2016). To our knowledge, no preclinical study tested the effect of HT on infection – and not only inflammation – sensitized HI brain injury.

3.5. Benefits of HT in NAIS: a clinical study?

There is currently no targeted treatment for NAIS. Epidemiological studies of NAIS showed that

131

perinatal infection/inflammation, *peripartum* hypoxia, and occlusion of the internal carotid tree are the main determinants of NAIS (Fluss et al., 2019, 2016; Giraud et al., 2017; Kirton et al., 2011). The well-established benefit of HT in NE due to diffuse hypoxia-ischemia provides a rationale for the potential use of HT as a neuroprotective strategy in NAIS. Besides, 5 to 20% of term newborns suffering from NE treated by HT are found to have NAIS and conversely 10-15% of babies with NAIS share the biological criteria for HIE (Adami et al., 2016; Martinez-Biarge et al., 2016; Michoulas et al., 2011; Ramaswamy et al., 2004; Sorg et al., 2019). It could be of interest to compare NE *versus* NAIS patients – treated or not with HT – in terms of clinical outcomes, such as percent of CP, language delay, and other long-term outcomes.

4. Limitations

Rodents are considered a model of choice to study perinatal brain injuries, although no animal model can fully replicate human diseases or conditions. It is important to note the difference between rodents and humans in the overall complexity of brain organization, and the discrepancies in the rate of maturation (Rumajogee et al., 2016; Sarkar et al., 2019). For instance, our model does not strictly reproduce *antepartum* aggression, such as *in utero* infection/inflammation (*e.g.* chorioamnionitis), leading to brain injury. However, using fetuses or immediately postnatal pups is equivalent to very preterm brain development, which is in contradiction to the level of maturation of term human newborns suffering from NE or NAIS.

In our studies, we used human recombinant IL-1Ra instead of IL-1Ra from the rat. Although its efficacity is around 10 to 12 times less than in humans (Quiniou et al., 2008), hrIL-1Ra remains very specific and very used for IL-1 blockade in rats (Lan et al., 2015; Leitner et al., 2014; McCann et al., 2016; Quiniou et al., 2008; Savard et al., 2015, 2013). Furthermore, it allowed us to evaluate

the concentration and distribution of hrIL-1Ra within organs, including the brain, using ELISA and immunohistochemistry with monoclonal antibodies specific to human IL-1Ra (Chevin et al., 2018; Savard et al., 2015, 2013). Other concentration and timing of administration of hrIL-1Ra – in combination or not with HT – could be evaluated in future preclinical studies.

The pharmacology study of hrIL-1Ra was only based on the drug and pro-inflammatory cytokines concentrations at 4 and 24 h post-LPS+HI-exposure. These measurements were not assessed after the completion of hrIL-1Ra administration. Blood samples could be taken at additional time-points to study in more detail the pharmacology of this drug. Pharmacokinetic parameters were not investigated in our study. In future experiments, clearance of the drug and renal function of rats should be assessed under HT condition. However, to date, this is the first study dealing with the pharmacology of hrIL-1Ra in neonatal rats.

In our studies, motor behaviour was based on elevated body swing, open field, and turning in alley tests from P14 (2 days after the insult) to P40 (juvenile rats). Further evaluation of motor and cognitive functions might refine the assessment of the behavioural effect of HT with or without IL-1Ra. Other behavioural tests at adult age (P90-120) could be of interest to complement these studies.

CONCLUSION

In this thesis, I present three major findings:

(1) HT influences IL-1Ra pharmacodynamic parameters. HT induced an augmentation of the concentration of IL-1Ra, leading to a paradoxical upregulation of inflammatory cytokines within the brain (Chevin et al., 2018). This effect, which has been little studied, can have a significant impact on the safety of drugs used in neonates suffering from NE and treated by HT. In the same way, it could have an impact on current and future studies aiming to test the beneficial effect of HT in other neurological diseases (*i.e.* spinal cord injury, traumatic brain injury, adult and neonatal stroke, and others) (Han et al., 2015; Karnatovskaia et al., 2014).

(2) The combination of hrIL-1Ra to HT provides encouraging results in terms of mortality and short-term behaviour (Chevin et al., 2020b). These observations are clinically relevant, as further preventing mortality and morbidities arising from NE is still a research priority. These results also confirm the causal role of IL-1 in neuro-morbidities that currently remain uncontrolled in HT-treated neonates. At this point, further preclinical evaluation of hrIL-1Ra added to HT is still required before launching human clinical therapeutic trials.

(3) In contrast with previous preclinical observations, HT has major neuroprotective effects in our model of inflammatory-sensitized HI brain injury (Chevin et al., 2020a). Using cutting-edge imaging tools, we demonstrated that HT prevented the occurrence of brain infarct in 44% of cases; and reduced the extent of brain injury in other cases by 37%. HT alleviated brain metabolic activity in the affected territory and improved the long-term motor behaviour (Chevin et al., 2020a). These results open new research avenues on the potential benefit of HT in other postnatal brain injury sharing common determinants with NE, such as NAIS.

CHAPTER VI: BIBLIOGRAPHY

bibliography

- Adami, R.R., Grundy, M.E., Poretti, A., Felling, R.J., Lemmon, M., Graham, E.M., 2016. Distinguishing Arterial Ischemic Stroke From Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy in the Neonate at Birth. Obstet. Gynecol. 128, 704–712. doi:10.1097/AOG.00000000001631
- Ahn, S.Y., Chang, Y.S., Sung, D.K., Sung, S.I., Park, W.S., 2018. Hypothermia broadens the therapeutic time window of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation for severe neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. Sci. Rep. 8, 7665. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-25902-x
- Allan, S.M., Tyrrell, P.J., Rothwell, N.J., 2005. Interleukin-1 and neuronal injury. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 5, 629–640. doi:10.1038/nri1664
- Allard, M.-J., Bergeron, J.D., Baharnoori, M., Srivastava, L.K., Fortier, L.-C., Poyart, C., Sébire, G., 2017. A sexually dichotomous, autistic-like phenotype is induced by Group B Streptococcus maternofetal immune activation. Autism Res. 10, 233–245. doi:10.1002/aur.1647
- Allard, M.-J., Giraud, A., Segura, M., Sebire, G., 2019. Sex-specific maternofetal innate immune responses triggered by group B Streptococci. Sci. Rep. 9, 8587. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-45029-x
- Alva, N., Palomeque, J., Carbonell, T., 2013. Oxidative stress and antioxidant activity in hypothermia and rewarming: can RONS modulate the beneficial effects of therapeutic hypothermia? Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2013, 957054. doi:10.1155/2013/957054
- Aly, H., Khashaba, M.T., El-Ayouty, M., El-Sayed, O., Hasanein, B.M., 2006. IL-1beta, IL-6 and TNF-alpha and outcomes of neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. Brain Dev. 28, 178–182. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2005.06.006
- Annink, K.V., Franz, A.R., Derks, J.B., Rudiger, M., Bel, F. van, Benders, M.J.N.L., 2017. Allopurinol: old drug, new indication in neonates? Curr. Pharm. Des. 23, 5935–5942. doi:10.2174/1381612823666170918123307
- Ashwal, S., Tone, B., Tian, H.R., Chong, S., Obenaus, A., 2007. Comparison of two neonatal ischemic injury models using magnetic resonance imaging. Pediatr. Res. 61, 9–14. doi:10.1203/01.pdr.0000251612.16069.4b
- Austin, T., 2019. The development of neonatal neurointensive care. Pediatr. Res. doi:10.1038/s41390-019-0729-5
- Avital, A., Goshen, I., Kamsler, A., Segal, M., Iverfeldt, K., Richter-Levin, G., Yirmiya, R., 2003. Impaired interleukin-1 signaling is associated with deficits in hippocampal memory processes and neural plasticity. Hippocampus 13, 826–834. doi:10.1002/hipo.10135
- Azzopardi, D., Robertson, N.J., Bainbridge, A., Cady, E., Charles-Edwards, G., Deierl, A., Fagiolo, G., Franks, N.P., Griffiths, J., Hajnal, J., Juszczak, E., Kapetanakis, B., Linsell, L., Maze, M., Omar, O., Strohm, B., Tusor, N., Edwards, A.D., 2016. Moderate hypothermia within 6 h of birth plus inhaled xenon versus moderate hypothermia alone after birth asphyxia (TOBY-Xe): a proof-of-concept, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 15, 145–153. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00347-6
- Azzopardi, D., Strohm, B., Edwards, A.D., Halliday, H., Juszczak, E., Levene, M., Thoresen, M., Whitelaw, A., Brocklehurst, P., Steering Group and TOBY Cooling Register participants, 2009. Treatment of asphyxiated newborns with moderate hypothermia in routine clinical practice: how cooling is managed in the UK outside a clinical trial. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 94, F260-4. doi:10.1136/adc.2008.146977
- Azzopardi, D., Strohm, B., Marlow, N., Brocklehurst, P., Deierl, A., Eddama, O., Goodwin, J., Halliday, H.L., Juszczak, E., Kapellou, O., Levene, M., Linsell, L., Omar, O., Thoresen,

M., Tusor, N., Whitelaw, A., Edwards, A.D., TOBY Study Group, 2014. Effects of hypothermia for perinatal asphyxia on childhood outcomes. N. Engl. J. Med. 371, 140–149. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1315788

- Baburamani, A.A., Sobotka, K.S., Vontell, R., Mallard, C., Supramaniam, V.G., Thornton, C., Hagberg, H., 2017. Effect of Trp53 gene deficiency on brain injury after neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Oncotarget 8, 12081–12092. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.14518
- Badawi, N., Kurinczuk, J.J., Keogh, J.M., Alessandri, L.M., O'Sullivan, F., Burton, P.R., Pemberton, P.J., Stanley, F.J., 1998a. Antepartum risk factors for newborn encephalopathy: the Western Australian case-control study. BMJ 317, 1549–1553.
- Badawi, N., Kurinczuk, J.J., Keogh, J.M., Alessandri, L.M., O'Sullivan, F., Burton, P.R., Pemberton, P.J., Stanley, F.J., 1998b. Intrapartum risk factors for newborn encephalopathy: the Western Australian case-control study. BMJ 317, 1554–1558. doi:10.1136/bmj.317.7172.1554
- Balduini, W., Weiss, M.D., Carloni, S., Rocchi, M., Sura, L., Rossignol, C., Longini, M., Bazzini, F., Perrone, S., Ott, D., Wadhawan, R., Buonocore, G., 2019. Melatonin pharmacokinetics and dose extrapolation after enteral infusion in neonates subjected to hypothermia. J Pineal Res 66, e12565. doi:10.1111/jpi.12565
- Basu, A., Krady, J.K., Levison, S.W., 2004. Interleukin-1: a master regulator of neuroinflammation. J. Neurosci. Res. 78, 151–156. doi:10.1002/jnr.20266
- Basu, A.P., 2014. Early intervention after perinatal stroke: opportunities and challenges. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 56, 516–521. doi:10.1111/dmcn.12407
- Battin, M., Sadler, L., 2018. Neonatal encephalopathy: How can we improve clinical outcomes? J. Paediatr. Child Health 54, 1180–1183. doi:10.1111/jpc.14081
- Benninger, K.L., Inder, T.E., Goodman, A.M., Cotten, C.M., Nordli, D.R., Shah, T.A., Slaughter, J.C., Maitre, N.L., 2020. Perspectives from the Society for Pediatric Research. Neonatal encephalopathy clinical trials: developing the future. Pediatr. Res. doi:10.1038/s41390-020-0859-9
- Bergeron, J., Gerges, N., Guiraut, C., Grbic, D., Allard, M.-J., Fortier, L.-C., Vaillancourt, C., Sébire, G., 2016. Activation of the IL-1β/CXCL1/MMP-10 axis in chorioamnionitis induced by inactivated Group B Streptococcus. Placenta 47, 116–123. doi:10.1016/j.placenta.2016.09.016
- Berry, C.A., Nitsos, I., Hillman, N.H., Pillow, J.J., Polglase, G.R., Kramer, B.W., Kemp, M.W., Newnham, J.P., Jobe, A.H., Kallapur, S.G., 2011. Interleukin-1 in lipopolysaccharide induced chorioamnionitis in the fetal sheep. Reprod Sci 18, 1092–1102. doi:10.1177/1933719111404609
- Bhakar, A.L., Tannis, L.-L., Zeindler, C., Russo, M.P., Jobin, C., Park, D.S., MacPherson, S., Barker, P.A., 2002. Constitutive nuclear factor-kappa B activity is required for central neuron survival. J. Neurosci. 22, 8466–8475.
- Blume, H.K., Li, C.I., Loch, C.M., Koepsell, T.D., 2008. Intrapartum fever and chorioamnionitis as risks for encephalopathy in term newborns: a case-control study. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 50, 19–24. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8749.2007.02007.x
- Bonestroo, H.J.C., Heijnen, C.J., Groenendaal, F., van Bel, F., Nijboer, C.H., 2015. Development of cerebral gray and white matter injury and cerebral inflammation over time after inflammatory perinatal asphyxia. Dev Neurosci 37, 78–94. doi:10.1159/000368770
- Bourque, S.L., Dietz, R.M., 2018. Does late therapeutic hypothermia reduce risk of death or disability? Acta Paediatr. 107, 1103. doi:10.1111/apa.14334

- Bourque, S.L., Dietz, R.M., 2019. Late initiation of therapeutic hypothermia: not the new standard of care. Acta Paediatr. 108, 770. doi:10.1111/apa.14671
- Bowie, A., O'Neill, L.A., 2000. The interleukin-1 receptor/Toll-like receptor superfamily: signal generators for pro-inflammatory interleukins and microbial products. J. Leukoc. Biol. 67, 508–514.
- Brochu, M.-E., Girard, S., Lavoie, K., Sébire, G., 2011. Developmental regulation of the neuroinflammatory responses to LPS and/or hypoxia-ischemia between preterm and term neonates: An experimental study. J. Neuroinflammation 8, 55. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-55
- Brough, D., Tyrrell, P.J., Allan, S.M., 2011. Regulation of interleukin-1 in acute brain injury. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 32, 617–622. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2011.06.002
- Carlsson, Y., Schwendimann, L., Vontell, R., Rousset, C.I., Wang, X., Lebon, S., Charriaut-Marlangue, C., Supramaniam, V., Hagberg, H., Gressens, P., Jacotot, E., 2011. Genetic inhibition of caspase-2 reduces hypoxic-ischemic and excitotoxic neonatal brain injury. Ann. Neurol. 70, 781–789. doi:10.1002/ana.22431
- Cavarsan, C.F., Gorassini, M.A., Quinlan, K.A., 2019. Animal models of developmental motor disorders: parallels to human motor dysfunction in cerebral palsy. J. Neurophysiol. 122, 1238–1253. doi:10.1152/jn.00233.2019
- Cawthorne, C., Prenant, C., Smigova, A., Julyan, P., Maroy, R., Herholz, K., Rothwell, N., Boutin, H., 2011. Biodistribution, pharmacokinetics and metabolism of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RA) using [¹⁸F]-IL1RA and PET imaging in rats. Br. J. Pharmacol. 162, 659–672. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.01068.x
- Chabrier, S., Sébire, G., 2020. Perinatal inflammation and placental programming of neonatal stroke. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 62, 413–414. doi:10.1111/dmcn.14375
- Chakkarapani, E., Dingley, J., Liu, X., Hoque, N., Aquilina, K., Porter, H., Thoresen, M., 2010. Xenon enhances hypothermic neuroprotection in asphyxiated newborn pigs. Ann. Neurol. 68, 330–341. doi:10.1002/ana.22016
- Chalak, L.F., Sánchez, P.J., Adams-Huet, B., Laptook, A.R., Heyne, R.J., Rosenfeld, C.R., 2014. Biomarkers for severity of neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy and outcomes in newborns receiving hypothermia therapy. J. Pediatr. 164, 468–74.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.10.067
- Charriaut-Marlangue, C., Besson, V.C., Baud, O., 2017. Sexually Dimorphic Outcomes after Neonatal Stroke and Hypoxia-Ischemia. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19. doi:10.3390/ijms19010061
- Chauvier, D., Renolleau, S., Holifanjaniaina, S., Ankri, S., Bezault, M., Schwendimann, L., Rousset, C., Casimir, R., Hoebeke, J., Smirnova, M., Debret, G., Trichet, A.P., Carlsson, Y., Wang, X., Bernard, E., Hébert, M., Rauzier, J.M., Matecki, S., Lacampagne, A., Rustin, P., Mariani, J., Hagberg, H., Gressens, P., Charriaut-Marlangue, C., Jacotot, E., 2011. Targeting neonatal ischemic brain injury with a pentapeptide-based irreversible caspase inhibitor. Cell Death Dis. 2, e203. doi:10.1038/cddis.2011.87
- Chavez-Valdez, R, Martin, L.J., Flock, D.L., Northington, F.J., 2012. Necrostatin-1 attenuates mitochondrial dysfunction in neurons and astrocytes following neonatal hypoxiaischemia. Neuroscience 219, 192–203. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.05.002
- Chavez-Valdez, Raul, Martin, L.J., Northington, F.J., 2012. Programmed Necrosis: A Prominent Mechanism of Cell Death following Neonatal Brain Injury. Neurol Res Int 2012, 257563. doi:10.1155/2012/257563
- Chawla, S., Bates, S.V., Shankaran, S., 2020. Is It Time for a Randomized Controlled Trial of

Hypothermia for Mild Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy? J. Pediatr. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2019.11.030

- Chen, C., Lu, D., Xue, L., Ren, P., Zhang, H., Zhang, J., 2020. Association between Placental Inflammatory Pathology and Offspring Neurodevelopment at 8 Months and 4 and 7 Years of Age. J. Pediatr. 225, 132–137.e2. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.05.049
- Chen, Y., Swanson, R.A., 2003. Astrocytes and brain injury. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 23, 137–149. doi:10.1097/01.WCB.0000044631.80210.3C
- Chevin, M., Chabrier, S., Dinomais, M., Bedell, B.J., Sébire, G., 2020a. Benefits of hypothermia in neonatal arterial ischemic strokes: A preclinical study. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. doi:10.1002/jdn.10022
- Chevin, M., Chelabi, K., Chabrier, S., Sébire, G., 2020b. Added value of interleukin-1 blockade to hypothermia in the treatment of neonatal encephalopathy. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2020.03.007
- Chevin, M., Guiraut, C., Maurice-Gelinas, C., Deslauriers, J., Grignon, S., Sébire, G., 2016. Neuroprotective effects of hypothermia in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 55, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2016.09.002
- Chevin, M., Guiraut, C., Sébire, G., 2018. Effect of hypothermia on interleukin-1 receptor antagonist pharmacodynamics in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy of term newborns. J. Neuroinflammation 15, 214. doi:10.1186/s12974-018-1258-6
- Choi, D.W., Park, J.H., Lee, S.Y., An, S.H., 2018. Effect of hypothermia treatment on gentamicin pharmacokinetics in neonates with hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Pharm Ther 43, 484–492. doi:10.1111/jcpt.12711
- Cies, J.J., Fugarolas, K.N., Moore, W.S., Mason, R.W., Menkiti, O.R., 2017. Population Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamic Target Attainment of Ampicillin in Neonates with Hypoxemic-Ischemic Encephalopathy in the Setting of Controlled Hypothermia. Pharmacotherapy 37, 456–463. doi:10.1002/phar.1916
- Clowry, G.J., Basuodan, R., Chan, F., 2014. What are the best animal models for testing early intervention in cerebral palsy? Front. Neurol. 5, 258. doi:10.3389/fneur.2014.00258
- Colver, A., Fairhurst, C., Pharoah, P.O.D., 2014. Cerebral palsy. Lancet 383, 1240–1249. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61835-8
- Coumans, A.B.C., Middelanis, J.S., Garnier, Y., Vaihinger, H.-M., Leib, S.L., Von Duering, M.U., Hasaart, T.H.M., Jensen, A., Berger, R., 2003. Intracisternal application of endotoxin enhances the susceptibility to subsequent hypoxic-ischemic brain damage in neonatal rats. Pediatr. Res. 53, 770–775. doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000059221.40073.82
- Csernus, V., 1986. Production of sexual steroids in rats during pre- and early postnatal life. Exp Clin Endocrinol 88, 1–5.
- Davidson, J.O., Wassink, G., van den Heuij, L.G., Bennet, L., Gunn, A.J., 2015. Therapeutic Hypothermia for Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy - Where to from Here? Front. Neurol. 6, 198. doi:10.3389/fneur.2015.00198
- de Haan, T.R., Bijleveld, Y.A., van der Lee, J.H., Groenendaal, F., van den Broek, M.P.H., Rademaker, C.M.A., van Straaten, H.L.M., van Weissenbruch, M.M., Vermeulen, J.R., Dijk, P.H., Dudink, J., Rijken, M., van Heijst, A., Dijkman, K.P., Gavilanes, D., van Kaam, A.H., Offringa, M., Mathôt, R.A.A., 2012. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of medication in asphyxiated newborns during controlled

hypothermia. The PharmaCool multicenter study. BMC Pediatr. 12, 45. doi:10.1186/1471-2431-12-45

- Derrick, M., Luo, N.L., Bregman, J.C., Jilling, T., Ji, X., Fisher, K., Gladson, C.L., Beardsley, D.J., Murdoch, G., Back, S.A., Tan, S., 2004. Preterm fetal hypoxia-ischemia causes hypertonia and motor deficits in the neonatal rabbit: a model for human cerebral palsy? J. Neurosci. 24, 24–34. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2816-03.2004
- Dinarello, C.A., van der Meer, J.W.M., 2013. Treating inflammation by blocking interleukin-1 in humans. Semin. Immunol. 25, 469–484. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2013.10.008
- Doman, S.E., Girish, A., Nemeth, C.L., Drummond, G.T., Carr, P., Garcia, M.S., Johnston, M.V., Kannan, S., Fatemi, A., Zhang, J., Wilson, M.A., 2018. Early Detection of Hypothermic Neuroprotection Using T2-Weighted Magnetic Resonance Imaging in a Mouse Model of Hypoxic Ischemic Encephalopathy. Front. Neurol. 9, 304. doi:10.3389/fneur.2018.00304
- Dunbar, M., Kirton, A., 2018. Perinatal stroke: mechanisms, management, and outcomes of early cerebrovascular brain injury. Lancet Child Adolesc. Health 2, 666–676. doi:10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30173-1
- Durkan, A.M., Alexander, R.T., 2011. Acute kidney injury post neonatal asphyxia. J. Pediatr. 158, e29-33. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.11.010
- Edwards, A.D., Brocklehurst, P., Gunn, A.J., Halliday, H., Juszczak, E., Levene, M., Strohm, B., Thoresen, M., Whitelaw, A., Azzopardi, D., 2010. Neurological outcomes at 18 months of age after moderate hypothermia for perinatal hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy: synthesis and meta-analysis of trial data. BMJ 340, c363. doi:10.1136/bmj.c363
- Eklind, S., Mallard, C., Leverin, A.L., Gilland, E., Blomgren, K., Mattsby-Baltzer, I., Hagberg, H., 2001. Bacterial endotoxin sensitizes the immature brain to hypoxic--ischaemic injury. Eur. J. Neurosci. 13, 1101–1106. doi:10.1046/j.0953-816x.2001.01474.x
- Emsley, H.C.A., Smith, C.J., Georgiou, R.F., Vail, A., Hopkins, S.J., Rothwell, N.J., Tyrrell, P.J., Acute Stroke Investigators, 2005. A randomised phase II study of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in acute stroke patients. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 76, 1366– 1372. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2004.054882
- Ezzati, M., Kawano, G., Rocha-Ferreira, E., Alonso-Alconada, D., Hassell, J.K., Broad, K.D., Fierens, I., Fleiss, B., Bainbridge, A., Price, D.L., Kaynezhad, P., Anderson, B., Hristova, M., Tachtsidis, I., Golay, X., Gressens, P., Sanders, R.D., Robertson, N.J., 2017. Dexmedetomidine Combined with Therapeutic Hypothermia Is Associated with Cardiovascular Instability and Neurotoxicity in a Piglet Model of Perinatal Asphyxia. Dev Neurosci 39, 156–170. doi:10.1159/000458438
- Falck, M., Osredkar, D., Maes, E., Flatebø, T., Wood, T.R., Sabir, H., Thoresen, M., 2017.
 Hypothermic Neuronal Rescue from Infection-Sensitised Hypoxic-Ischaemic Brain
 Injury Is Pathogen Dependent. Dev Neurosci 39, 238–247. doi:10.1159/000455838
- Falck, M., Osredkar, D., Maes, E., Flatebø, T., Wood, T.R., Walløe, L., Sabir, H., Thoresen, M., 2018. Hypothermia Is Neuroprotective after Severe Hypoxic-Ischaemic Brain Injury in Neonatal Rats Pre-Exposed to PAM3CSK4. Dev Neurosci 40, 189–197. doi:10.1159/000487798
- Fan, L.-W., Lin, S., Pang, Y., Lei, M., Zhang, F., Rhodes, P.G., Cai, Z., 2005. Hypoxia-ischemia induced neurological dysfunction and brain injury in the neonatal rat. Behav. Brain Res. 165, 80–90. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2005.06.033
- Fan, X., van Bel, F., van der Kooij, M.A., Heijnen, C.J., Groenendaal, F., 2013. Hypothermia

and erythropoietin for neuroprotection after neonatal brain damage. Pediatr. Res. 73, 18–23. doi:10.1038/pr.2012.139

- Fang, A.Y., Gonzalez, F.F., Sheldon, R.A., Ferriero, D.M., 2013. Effects of combination therapy using hypothermia and erythropoietin in a rat model of neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Pediatr. Res. 73, 12–17. doi:10.1038/pr.2012.138
- Favié, L.M.A., Groenendaal, F., van den Broek, M.P.H., Rademaker, C.M.A., de Haan, T.R., van Straaten, H.L.M., Dijk, P.H., van Heijst, A., Dudink, J., Dijkman, K.P., Rijken, M., Zonnenberg, I.A., Cools, F., Zecic, A., van der Lee, J.H., Nuytemans, D.H.G.M., van Bel, F., Egberts, T.C.G., Huitema, A.D.R., PharmaCool study group, 2019. Pharmacokinetics of morphine in encephalopathic neonates treated with therapeutic hypothermia. PLoS One 14, e0211910. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0211910
- Favié, L.M.A., Peeters-Scholte, C.M.P.C.D., Bakker, A., Tjabbes, H., Egberts, T.C.G., van Bel, F., Rademaker, C.M.A., Vis, P., Groenendaal, F., 2020. Pharmacokinetics and short-term safety of the selective NOS inhibitor 2-iminobiotin in asphyxiated neonates treated with therapeutic hypothermia. Pediatr. Res. 87, 689–696. doi:10.1038/s41390-019-0587-1
- Ferriero, D., Koch, T.K., 1985. Computed tomography in white matter diseases. Ann. Neurol. 17, 314–315. doi:10.1002/ana.410170320
- Fjalstad, J.W., Stensvold, H.J., Bergseng, H., Simonsen, G.S., Salvesen, B., Rønnestad, A.E., Klingenberg, C., 2016. Early-onset Sepsis and Antibiotic Exposure in Term Infants: A Nationwide Population-based Study in Norway. Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J. 35, 1–6. doi:10.1097/INF.00000000000000006
- Fleiss, B., Gressens, P., 2012. Tertiary mechanisms of brain damage: a new hope for treatment of cerebral palsy? Lancet Neurol. 11, 556–566. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70058-3
- Fleiss, B., Nilsson, M.K.L., Blomgren, K., Mallard, C., 2012. Neuroprotection by the histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A in a model of lipopolysaccharide-sensitised neonatal hypoxic-ischaemic brain injury. J. Neuroinflammation 9, 70. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-70
- Fleiss, B., Tann, C.J., Degos, V., Sigaut, S., Van Steenwinckel, J., Schang, A.-L., Kichev, A., Robertson, N.J., Mallard, C., Hagberg, H., Gressens, P., 2015. Inflammation-induced sensitization of the brain in term infants. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 57 Suppl 3, 17–28. doi:10.1111/dmcn.12723
- Fluss, J., Dinomais, M., Chabrier, S., 2019. Perinatal stroke syndromes: Similarities and diversities in aetiology, outcome and management. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 23, 368–383. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2019.02.013
- Fluss, J., Garcia-Tarodo, S., Granier, M., Villega, F., Ferey, S., Husson, B., Kossorotoff, M., Muehlethaler, V., Lebon, S., Chabrier, S., 2016. Perinatal arterial ischemic stroke related to carotid artery occlusion. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 20, 639–648. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2016.03.003
- Frymoyer, A., Juul, S.E., Massaro, A.N., Bammler, T.K., Wu, Y.W., 2017. High-Dose Erythropoietin Population Pharmacokinetics in Neonates with Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy Receiving Hypothermia. Pediatr. Res. 81, 865–872. doi:10.1038/pr.2017.15
- Gancia, P., Pomero, G., 2010. Brain cooling therapy. Minerva Pediatr 62, 173–175.
- Gancia, P., Pomero, G., 2012. Therapeutic hypothermia in the prevention of hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy: new categories to be enrolled. J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 25 Suppl 4, 94–96. doi:10.3109/14767058.2012.715023

- Garfinkle, J., Wintermark, P., Shevell, M.I., Platt, R.W., Oskoui, M., Canadian Cerebral Palsy Registry, 2015. Cerebral Palsy after Neonatal Encephalopathy: How Much Is Preventable? J. Pediatr. 167, 58–63.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2015.02.035
- Gennaro, M., Mattiello, A., Mazziotti, R., Antonelli, C., Gherardini, L., Guzzetta, A., Berardi, N., Cioni, G., Pizzorusso, T., 2017. Focal Stroke in the Developing Rat Motor Cortex Induces Age- and Experience-Dependent Maladaptive Plasticity of Corticospinal System. Front. Neural Circuits 11, 47. doi:10.3389/fncir.2017.00047
- Gennaro, M., Mattiello, A., Pizzorusso, T., 2019. Rodent models of developmental ischemic stroke for translational research: strengths and weaknesses. Neural Plast. 2019, 5089321. doi:10.1155/2019/5089321
- Girard, S., Kadhim, H., Roy, M., Lavoie, K., Brochu, M.-E., Larouche, A., Sébire, G., 2009. Role of perinatal inflammation in cerebral palsy. Pediatr. Neurol. 40, 168–174. doi:10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2008.09.016
- Girard, S., Murray, K.N., Rothwell, N.J., Metz, G.A.S., Allan, S.M., 2014. Long-term functional recovery and compensation after cerebral ischemia in rats. Behav. Brain Res. 270, 18–28. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.05.008
- Girard, S., Sébire, H., Brochu, M.-E., Briota, S., Sarret, P., Sébire, G., 2012. Postnatal administration of IL-1Ra exerts neuroprotective effects following perinatal inflammation and/or hypoxic-ischemic injuries. Brain Behav. Immun. 26, 1331–1339. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.09.001
- Giraud, A., Guiraut, C., Chevin, M., Chabrier, S., Sébire, G., 2017. Role of perinatal inflammation in neonatal arterial ischemic stroke. Front. Neurol. 8, 612. doi:10.3389/fneur.2017.00612
- Gluckman, P.D., Wyatt, J.S., Azzopardi, D., Ballard, R., Edwards, A.D., Ferriero, D.M., Polin, R.A., Robertson, C.M., Thoresen, M., Whitelaw, A., Gunn, A.J., 2005. Selective head cooling with mild systemic hypothermia after neonatal encephalopathy: multicentre randomised trial. Lancet 365, 663–670. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)17946-X
- Goshen, I., Kreisel, T., Ounallah-Saad, H., Renbaum, P., Zalzstein, Y., Ben-Hur, T., Levy-Lahad, E., Yirmiya, R., 2007. A dual role for interleukin-1 in hippocampal-dependent memory processes. Psychoneuroendocrinology 32, 1106–1115. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2007.09.004
- Grossmann, J., 2002. Molecular mechanisms of "detachment-induced apoptosis--Anoikis". Apoptosis 7, 247–260.
- Gunn, A.J., Wyatt, J.S., Whitelaw, A., Barks, J., Azzopardi, D., Ballard, R., Edwards, A.D., Ferriero, D.M., Gluckman, P.D., Polin, R.A., Robertson, C.M., Thoresen, M., CoolCap Study Group, 2008. Therapeutic hypothermia changes the prognostic value of clinical evaluation of neonatal encephalopathy. J. Pediatr. 152, 55–8, 58.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2007.06.003
- Haaland, K., Løberg, E.M., Steen, P.A., Thoresen, M., 1997. Posthypoxic hypothermia in newborn piglets. Pediatr. Res. 41, 505–512. doi:10.1203/00006450-199704000-00009
- Hagberg, H., Gilland, E., Bona, E., Hanson, L.A., Hahin-Zoric, M., Blennow, M., Holst, M., McRae, A., Söder, O., 1996. Enhanced expression of interleukin (IL)-1 and IL-6 messenger RNA and bioactive protein after hypoxia-ischemia in neonatal rats. Pediatr. Res. 40, 603–609. doi:10.1203/00006450-199610000-00015
- Hagberg, H., Mallard, C., Ferriero, D.M., Vannucci, S.J., Levison, S.W., Vexler, Z.S., Gressens, P., 2015. The role of inflammation in perinatal brain injury. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 11, 192–

208. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2015.13

- Hallin, U., Kondo, E., Ozaki, Y., Hagberg, H., Shibasaki, F., Blomgren, K., 2006. Bcl-2 phosphorylation in the BH4 domain precedes caspase-3 activation and cell death after neonatal cerebral hypoxic-ischemic injury. Neurobiol. Dis. 21, 478–486. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2005.08.013
- Han, Z., Liu, X., Luo, Y., Ji, X., 2015. Therapeutic hypothermia for stroke: Where to go? Exp. Neurol. 272, 67–77. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.06.006
- Harbert, M.J., Tam, E.W.Y., Glass, H.C., Bonifacio, S.L., Haeusslein, L.A., Barkovich, A.J., Jeremy, R.J., Rogers, E.E., Glidden, D.V., Ferriero, D.M., 2011. Hypothermia is correlated with seizure absence in perinatal stroke. J. Child Neurol. 26, 1126–1130. doi:10.1177/0883073811408092
- Hassell, K.J., Ezzati, M., Alonso-Alconada, D., Hausenloy, D.J., Robertson, N.J., 2015. New horizons for newborn brain protection: enhancing endogenous neuroprotection. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 100, F541-52. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2014-306284
- Hobbs, C., Thoresen, M., Tucker, A., Aquilina, K., Chakkarapani, E., Dingley, J., 2008. Xenon and hypothermia combine additively, offering long-term functional and histopathologic neuroprotection after neonatal hypoxia/ischemia. Stroke 39, 1307–1313. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.499822
- Hoehn, T., Hansmann, G., Bührer, C., Simbruner, G., Gunn, A.J., Yager, J., Levene, M., Hamrick, S.E.G., Shankaran, S., Thoresen, M., 2008. Therapeutic hypothermia in neonates. Review of current clinical data, ILCOR recommendations and suggestions for implementation in neonatal intensive care units. Resuscitation 78, 7–12. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2008.04.027
- Hu, X., Nesic-Taylor, O., Qiu, J., Rea, H.C., Fabian, R., Rassin, D.K., Perez-Polo, J.R., 2005. Activation of nuclear factor-kappaB signaling pathway by interleukin-1 after hypoxia/ischemia in neonatal rat hippocampus and cortex. J. Neurochem. 93, 26–37. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02968.x
- Husson, B., Hertz-Pannier, L., Renaud, C., Allard, D., Presles, E., Landrieu, P., Chabrier, S., AVCnn Group, 2010. Motor outcomes after neonatal arterial ischemic stroke related to early MRI data in a prospective study. Pediatrics 126, 912–918. doi:10.1542/peds.2009-3611
- Ikeda, T., Mishima, K., Aoo, N., Egashira, N., Iwasaki, K., Fujiwara, M., Ikenoue, T., 2004. Combination treatment of neonatal rats with hypoxia-ischemia and endotoxin induces long-lasting memory and learning impairment that is associated with extended cerebral damage. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 191, 2132–2141. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2004.04.039
- Itenov, T.S., Johansen, M.E., Bestle, M., Thormar, K., Hein, L., Gyldensted, L., Lindhardt, A., Christensen, H., Estrup, S., Pedersen, H.P., Harmon, M., Soni, U.K., Perez-Protto, S., Wesche, N., Skram, U., Petersen, J.A., Mohr, T., Waldau, T., Poulsen, L.M., Strange, D., Juffermans, N.P., Sessler, D.I., Tønnesen, E., Møller, K., Kristensen, D.K., Cozzi-Lepri, A., Lundgren, J.D., Jensen, J.-U., Cooling and Surviving Septic Shock (CASS) Trial Collaboration, 2018. Induced hypothermia in patients with septic shock and respiratory failure (CASS): a randomised, controlled, open-label trial. Lancet Respir. Med. 6, 183– 192. doi:10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30004-3
- Ito, Y., Ofengeim, D., Najafov, A., Das, S., Saberi, S., Li, Y., Hitomi, J., Zhu, H., Chen, H., Mayo, L., Geng, J., Amin, P., DeWitt, J.P., Mookhtiar, A.K., Florez, M., Ouchida, A.T., Fan, J., Pasparakis, M., Kelliher, M.A., Ravits, J., Yuan, J., 2016. RIPK1 mediates axonal

degeneration by promoting inflammation and necroptosis in ALS. Science 353, 603–608. doi:10.1126/science.aaf6803

- Jacobs, S.E., Berg, M., Hunt, R., Tarnow-Mordi, W.O., Inder, T.E., Davis, P.G., 2013. Cooling for newborns with hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. CD003311. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003311.pub3
- Jary, S., Smit, E., Liu, X., Cowan, F.M., Thoresen, M., 2015. Less severe cerebral palsy outcomes in infants treated with therapeutic hypothermia. Acta Paediatr. 104, 1241–1247. doi:10.1111/apa.13146
- Jenkins, D.D., Rollins, L.G., Perkel, J.K., Wagner, C.L., Katikaneni, L.P., Bass, W.T., Kaufman, D.A., Horgan, M.J., Languani, S., Givelichian, L., Sankaran, K., Yager, J.Y., Martin, R.H., 2012. Serum cytokines in a clinical trial of hypothermia for neonatal hypoxicischemic encephalopathy. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 32, 1888–1896. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2012.83
- Jia, H., Qu, M., Fan, G., Wu, H., Wang, L., 2019. miR-499-5p suppresses C-reactive protein and provides neuroprotection in hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy in neonatal rat. Neurosci. Res. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2019.12.002
- Jin, R., Yang, G., Li, G., 2010. Inflammatory mechanisms in ischemic stroke: role of inflammatory cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 87, 779–789. doi:10.1189/jlb.1109766
- Johnson, C.T., Burd, I., Raghunathan, R., Northington, F.J., Graham, E.M., 2016. Perinatal inflammation/infection and its association with correction of metabolic acidosis in hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. J. Perinatol. 36, 448–452. doi:10.1038/jp.2015.221
- Juul, S.E., Comstock, B.A., Heagerty, P.J., Mayock, D.E., Goodman, A.M., Hauge, S., Gonzalez, F., Wu, Y.W., 2018. High-Dose Erythropoietin for Asphyxia and Encephalopathy (HEAL): A Randomized Controlled Trial - Background, Aims, and Study Protocol. Neonatology 113, 331–338. doi:10.1159/000486820
- Kaiser, W.J., Sridharan, H., Huang, C., Mandal, P., Upton, J.W., Gough, P.J., Sehon, C.A., Marquis, R.W., Bertin, J., Mocarski, E.S., 2013. Toll-like receptor 3-mediated necrosis via TRIF, RIP3, and MLKL. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 31268–31279. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.462341
- Kariholu, U., Montaldo, P., Markati, T., Lally, P.J., Pryce, R., Teiserskas, J., Liow, N., Oliveira, V., Soe, A., Shankaran, S., Thayyil, S., 2020. Therapeutic hypothermia for mild neonatal encephalopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 105, 225–228. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2018-315711
- Karnatovskaia, L.V., Wartenberg, K.E., Freeman, W.D., 2014. Therapeutic hypothermia for neuroprotection: history, mechanisms, risks, and clinical applications. Neurohospitalist 4, 153–163. doi:10.1177/1941874413519802
- Khwaja, O., Volpe, J.J., 2008. Pathogenesis of cerebral white matter injury of prematurity. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 93, F153-61. doi:10.1136/adc.2006.108837
- Kim, D.C., Reitz, B., Carmichael, D.F., Bloedow, D.C., 1995. Kidney as a major clearance organ for recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. J. Pharm. Sci. 84, 575–580. doi:10.1002/jps.2600840511
- Kirton, A., Armstrong-Wells, J., Chang, T., Deveber, G., Rivkin, M.J., Hernandez, M., Carpenter, J., Yager, J.Y., Lynch, J.K., Ferriero, D.M., International Pediatric Stroke Study Investigators, 2011. Symptomatic neonatal arterial ischemic stroke: the International Pediatric Stroke Study. Pediatrics 128, e1402-10. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-1148

- Kirton, A., Deveber, G., 2013. Life after perinatal stroke. Stroke 44, 3265–3271. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.000739
- Korherr, C., Hofmeister, R., Wesche, H., Falk, W., 1997. A critical role for interleukin-1 receptor accessory protein in interleukin-1 signaling. Eur. J. Immunol. 27, 262–267. doi:10.1002/eji.1830270139
- Kurinczuk, J.J., White-Koning, M., Badawi, N., 2010. Epidemiology of neonatal encephalopathy and hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy. Early Hum. Dev. 86, 329–338. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2010.05.010
- Lan, K.-M., Tien, L.-T., Pang, Y., Bhatt, A.J., Fan, L.-W., 2015. IL-1 receptor antagonist attenuates neonatal lipopolysaccharide-induced long-lasting learning impairment and hippocampal injury in adult rats. Toxicol. Lett. 234, 30–39. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2015.02.002
- Laptook, A., Tyson, J.E., Pedroza, C., Shankaran, S., Bell, E., Goldberg, R., Ambalavanan, N., Munoz, B., Das, A., 2019. Response to A different view concerning the NICHD neonatal research network late hypothermia trial. Acta Paediatr. 108, 772–773. doi:10.1111/apa.14725
- Laptook, A.R., Corbett, R.J., Burns, D., Sterett, R., 1995. Neonatal ischemic neuroprotection by modest hypothermia is associated with attenuated brain acidosis. Stroke 26, 1240–1246.
- Laptook, A.R., Shankaran, S., Tyson, J.E., Munoz, B., Bell, E.F., Goldberg, R.N., Parikh, N.A., Ambalavanan, N., Pedroza, C., Pappas, A., Das, A., Chaudhary, A.S., Ehrenkranz, R.A., Hensman, A.M., Van Meurs, K.P., Chalak, L.F., Khan, A.M., Hamrick, S.E.G., Sokol, G.M., Walsh, M.C., Poindexter, B.B., Faix, R.G., Watterberg, K.L., Frantz, I.D., Guillet, R., Devaskar, U., Truog, W.E., Chock, V.Y., Wyckoff, M.H., McGowan, E.C., Carlton, D.P., Harmon, H.M., Brumbaugh, J.E., Cotten, C.M., Sánchez, P.J., Hibbs, A.M., Higgins, R.D., Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network, 2017. Effect of Therapeutic Hypothermia Initiated After 6 Hours of Age on Death or Disability Among Newborns With Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 318, 1550–1560. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.14972
- Larouche, A., Roy, M., Kadhim, H., Tsanaclis, A.M., Fortin, D., Sébire, G., 2005. Neuronal injuries induced by perinatal hypoxic-ischemic insults are potentiated by prenatal exposure to lipopolysaccharide: animal model for perinatally acquired encephalopathy. Dev Neurosci 27, 134–142. doi:10.1159/000085985
- Lawlor, K.E., Khan, N., Mildenhall, A., Gerlic, M., Croker, B.A., D'Cruz, A.A., Hall, C., Kaur Spall, S., Anderton, H., Masters, S.L., Rashidi, M., Wicks, I.P., Alexander, W.S., Mitsuuchi, Y., Benetatos, C.A., Condon, S.M., Wong, W.W.-L., Silke, J., Vaux, D.L., Vince, J.E., 2015. RIPK3 promotes cell death and NLRP3 inflammasome activation in the absence of MLKL. Nat. Commun. 6, 6282. doi:10.1038/ncomms7282
- Lee, B.S., Woo, C.-W., Kim, S.-T., Kim, K.-S., 2010. Long-term neuroprotective effect of postischemic hypothermia in a neonatal rat model of severe hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: a comparative study on the duration and depth of hypothermia. Pediatr. Res. 68, 303–308. doi:10.1203/PDR.0b013e3181ef3007
- Leitner, K., Al Shammary, M., McLane, M., Johnston, M.V., Elovitz, M.A., Burd, I., 2014. IL-1 receptor blockade prevents fetal cortical brain injury but not preterm birth in a mouse model of inflammation-induced preterm birth and perinatal brain injury. Am J Reprod Immunol 71, 418–426. doi:10.1111/aji.12216

- Lemyre, B., Chau, V., 2018. Hypothermia for newborns with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Paediatr. Child Health 23, 285–291. doi:10.1093/pch/pxy028
- Leviton, A., Dammann, O., Durum, S.K., 2005. The adaptive immune response in neonatal cerebral white matter damage. Ann. Neurol. 58, 821–828. doi:10.1002/ana.20662
- Li, B., Concepcion, K., Meng, X., Zhang, L., 2017. Brain-immune interactions in perinatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Prog. Neurobiol. 159, 50–68. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2017.10.006
- Li, T., Xu, F., Cheng, X., Guo, X., Ji, L., Zhang, Z., Wang, X., Blomgren, K., Simbruner, G., Zhu, C., 2009. Systemic hypothermia induced within 10 hours after birth improved neurological outcome in newborns with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Hosp. Pract. (1995) 37, 147–152. doi:10.3810/hp.2009.12.269
- Lieberman, E., Lang, J., Richardson, D.K., Frigoletto, F.D., Heffner, L.J., Cohen, A., 2000. Intrapartum maternal fever and neonatal outcome. Pediatrics 105, 8–13.
- Liu, D., Lon, H.-K., Dubois, D.C., Almon, R.R., Jusko, W.J., 2011. Population pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic-disease progression model for effects of anakinra in Lewis rats with collagen-induced arthritis. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn 38, 769–786. doi:10.1007/s10928-011-9219-z
- Liu, X., Quan, N., 2018. Microglia and CNS Interleukin-1: Beyond Immunological Concepts. Front. Neurol. 9, 8. doi:10.3389/fneur.2018.00008
- Lobo, N., Yang, B., Rizvi, M., Ma, D., 2013. Hypothermia and xenon: novel noble guardians in hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy? J. Neurosci. Res. 91, 473–478. doi:10.1002/jnr.23178
- Loddick, S.A., Rothwell, N.J., 1996. Neuroprotective effects of human recombinant interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in focal cerebral ischaemia in the rat. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 16, 932–940. doi:10.1097/00004647-199609000-00017
- Lodygensky, G.A., Inder, T.E., Neil, J.J., 2008. Application of magnetic resonance imaging in animal models of perinatal hypoxic-ischemic cerebral injury. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 26, 13–25. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2007.08.018
- Ma, D., Hossain, M., Chow, A., Arshad, M., Battson, R.M., Sanders, R.D., Mehmet, H., Edwards, A.D., Franks, N.P., Maze, M., 2005. Xenon and hypothermia combine to provide neuroprotection from neonatal asphyxia. Ann. Neurol. 58, 182–193. doi:10.1002/ana.20547
- Ma, H., Sinha, B., Pandya, R.S., Lin, N., Popp, A.J., Li, J., Yao, J., Wang, X., 2012. Therapeutic hypothermia as a neuroprotective strategy in neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury and traumatic brain injury. Curr. Mol. Med. 12, 1282–1296.
- Maiwald, C.A., Annink, K.V., Rüdiger, M., Benders, M.J.N.L., van Bel, F., Allegaert, K., Naulaers, G., Bassler, D., Klebermaß-Schrehof, K., Vento, M., Guimarães, H., Stiris, T., Cattarossi, L., Metsäranta, M., Vanhatalo, S., Mazela, J., Metsvaht, T., Jacobs, Y., Franz, A.R., ALBINO Study Group, 2019. Effect of allopurinol in addition to hypothermia treatment in neonates for hypoxic-ischemic brain injury on neurocognitive outcome (ALBINO): study protocol of a blinded randomized placebo-controlled parallel group multicenter trial for superiority (phase III). BMC Pediatr. 19, 210. doi:10.1186/s12887-019-1566-8
- Mandal, P., Berger, S.B., Pillay, S., Moriwaki, K., Huang, C., Guo, H., Lich, J.D., Finger, J., Kasparcova, V., Votta, B., Ouellette, M., King, B.W., Wisnoski, D., Lakdawala, A.S., DeMartino, M.P., Casillas, L.N., Haile, P.A., Sehon, C.A., Marquis, R.W., Upton, J., Daley-Bauer, L.P., Roback, L., Ramia, N., Dovey, C.M., Carette, J.E., Chan, F.K.-M.,

Bertin, J., Gough, P.J., Mocarski, E.S., Kaiser, W.J., 2014. RIP3 induces apoptosis independent of pronecrotic kinase activity. Mol. Cell 56, 481–495. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.10.021

- Mantovani, A., Dinarello, C.A., Molgora, M., Garlanda, C., 2019. Interleukin-1 and Related Cytokines in the Regulation of Inflammation and Immunity. Immunity 50, 778–795. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.012
- Mariño, G., Niso-Santano, M., Baehrecke, E.H., Kroemer, G., 2014. Self-consumption: the interplay of autophagy and apoptosis. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 15, 81–94. doi:10.1038/nrm3735
- Martin, D., Chinookoswong, N., Miller, G., 1994. The interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (rhIL-1ra) protects against cerebral infarction in a rat model of hypoxia-ischemia. Exp. Neurol. 130, 362–367. doi:10.1006/exnr.1994.1215
- Martin, S.J., Henry, C.M., 2013. Distinguishing between apoptosis, necrosis, necroptosis and other cell death modalities. Methods 61, 87–89. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth.2013.06.001
- Martinez-Biarge, M., Cheong, J.L.Y., Diez-Sebastian, J., Mercuri, E., Dubowitz, L.M.S., Cowan, F.M., 2016. Risk factors for neonatal arterial ischemic stroke: the importance of the intrapartum period. J. Pediatr. 173, 62–68.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.02.064
- Martinez-Biarge, M., Diez-Sebastian, J., Wusthoff, C.J., Mercuri, E., Cowan, F.M., 2013. Antepartum and intrapartum factors preceding neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Pediatrics 132, e952-9. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-0511
- Matsui, T., Kakeda, T., 2008. IL-10 production is reduced by hypothermia but augmented by hyperthermia in rat microglia. J. Neurotrauma 25, 709–715. doi:10.1089/neu.2007.0482
- McCann, S.K., Cramond, F., Macleod, M.R., Sena, E.S., 2016. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Efficacy of Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist in Animal Models of Stroke: an Update. Transl. Stroke Res. 7, 395–406. doi:10.1007/s12975-016-0489-z
- McColl, B.W., Rothwell, N.J., Allan, S.M., 2007. Systemic inflammatory stimulus potentiates the acute phase and CXC chemokine responses to experimental stroke and exacerbates brain damage via interleukin-1- and neutrophil-dependent mechanisms. J. Neurosci. 27, 4403–4412. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5376-06.2007
- McCulloch, L., Allan, S.M., Emsley, H.C., Smith, C.J., McColl, B.W., 2019. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist treatment in acute ischaemic stroke does not alter systemic markers of anti-microbial defence. [version 2; peer review: 2 approved]. F1000Res. 8, 1039. doi:10.12688/f1000research.19308.2
- Mcdonald, D., 2004. Placental fetal thrombotic vasculopathy is associated with neonatal encephalopathy*1. Hum. Pathol. 35, 875–880. doi:10.1016/j.humpath.2004.02.014
- McIntyre, S., Blair, E., Badawi, N., Keogh, J., Nelson, K.B., 2013. Antecedents of cerebral palsy and perinatal death in term and late preterm singletons. Obstet. Gynecol. 122, 869–877. doi:10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182a265ab
- Meffert, M.K., Baltimore, D., 2005. Physiological functions for brain NF-kappaB. Trends Neurosci. 28, 37–43. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2004.11.002
- Michoulas, A., Basheer, S.N., Roland, E.H., Poskitt, K., Miller, S., Hill, A., 2011. The role of hypoxia-ischemia in term newborns with arterial stroke. Pediatr. Neurol. 44, 254–258. doi:10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2010.10.013
- Mir, I.N., Johnson-Welch, S.F., Nelson, D.B., Brown, L.S., Rosenfeld, C.R., Chalak, L.F., 2015. Placental pathology is associated with severity of neonatal encephalopathy and adverse developmental outcomes following hypothermia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 213, 849.e1-7.

doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2015.09.072

- Morrice, J.R., Gregory-Evans, C.Y., Shaw, C.A., 2017. Necroptosis in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and other neurological disorders. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis. 1863, 347–353. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.11.025
- Mourvillier, B., Tubach, F., van de Beek, D., Garot, D., Pichon, N., Georges, H., Lefevre, L.M., Bollaert, P.-E., Boulain, T., Luis, D., Cariou, A., Girardie, P., Chelha, R., Megarbane, B., Delahaye, A., Chalumeau-Lemoine, L., Legriel, S., Beuret, P., Brivet, F., Bruel, C., Camou, F., Chatellier, D., Chillet, P., Clair, B., Constantin, J.-M., Duguet, A., Galliot, R., Bayle, F., Hyvernat, H., Ouchenir, K., Plantefeve, G., Quenot, J.-P., Richecoeur, J., Schwebel, C., Sirodot, M., Esposito-Farèse, M., Le Tulzo, Y., Wolff, M., 2013. Induced hypothermia in severe bacterial meningitis: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 310, 2174– 2183. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.280506
- Mulkey, S.B., Ramakrishnaiah, R.H., McKinstry, R.C., Chang, T., Mathur, A.M., Mayock, D.E., Van Meurs, K.P., Schaefer, G.B., Luo, C., Bai, S., Juul, S.E., Wu, Y.W., 2017.
 Erythropoietin and Brain Magnetic Resonance Imaging Findings in Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy: Volume of Acute Brain Injury and 1-Year Neurodevelopmental Outcome. J. Pediatr. 0. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.03.053
- Nair, J., Kumar, V.H.S., 2018. Current and emerging therapies in the management of hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy in neonates. Children (Basel) 5. doi:10.3390/children5070099
- Natarajan, G., Pappas, A., Shankaran, S., 2016. Outcomes in childhood following therapeutic hypothermia for neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE). Semin Perinatol 40, 549–555. doi:10.1053/j.semperi.2016.09.007
- Nelson, K.B., 2002. The epidemiology of cerebral palsy in term infants. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 8, 146–150. doi:10.1002/mrdd.10037
- Nelson, K.B., 2009. Infection in pregnancy and cerebral palsy. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 51, 253–254. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8749.2008.03256.x
- Nelson, K.B., Dambrosia, J.M., Grether, J.K., Phillips, T.M., 1998. Neonatal cytokines and coagulation factors in children with cerebral palsy. Ann. Neurol. 44, 665–675. doi:10.1002/ana.410440413
- Nelson, K.B., Penn, A.A., 2015. Is infection a factor in neonatal encephalopathy? Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 100, F8–F10. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2014-306192
- Nelson, K.B., Willoughby, R.E., 2000. Infection, inflammation and the risk of cerebral palsy. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 13, 133–139. doi:10.1097/00019052-200004000-00004
- Netto, C.A., Sanches, E., Odorcyk, F.K., Duran-Carabali, L.E., Weis, S.N., 2017. Sex-dependent consequences of neonatal brain hypoxia-ischemia in the rat. J. Neurosci. Res. 95, 409–421. doi:10.1002/jnr.23828
- Nevalainen, P., Metsäranta, M., Toiviainen-Salo, S., Lönnqvist, T., Vanhatalo, S., Lauronen, L., 2019. Bedside neurophysiological tests can identify neonates with stroke leading to cerebral palsy. Clin. Neurophysiol. 130, 759–766. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2019.02.017
- Nijboer, C.H., Heijnen, C.J., van der Kooij, M.A., Zijlstra, J., van Velthoven, C.T.J., Culmsee, C., van Bel, F., Hagberg, H., Kavelaars, A., 2011. Targeting the p53 pathway to protect the neonatal ischemic brain. Ann. Neurol. 70, 255–264. doi:10.1002/ana.22413
- Northington, F.J., Chavez-Valdez, R., Graham, E.M., Razdan, S., Gauda, E.B., Martin, L.J., 2011. Necrostatin decreases oxidative damage, inflammation, and injury after neonatal HI. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 31, 178–189. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2010.72
- Oorschot, D.E., Sizemore, R.J., Amer, A.R., 2020. Treatment of Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic

Encephalopathy with Erythropoietin Alone, and Erythropoietin Combined with Hypothermia: History, Current Status, and Future Research. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21. doi:10.3390/ijms21041487

- Oprica, M., Van Dam, A.-M., Lundkvist, J., Iverfeldt, K., Winblad, B., Bartfai, T., Schultzberg, M., 2004. Effects of chronic overexpression of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in a model of permanent focal cerebral ischemia in mouse. Acta Neuropathol. 108, 69–80. doi:10.1007/s00401-004-0868-5
- Orrock, J.E., Panchapakesan, K., Vezina, G., Chang, T., Harris, K., Wang, Y., Knoblach, S., Massaro, A.N., 2015. Association of Brain Injury and Neonatal Cytokine Response during Therapeutic Hypothermia (TH) in Newborns with Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy (HIE). Pediatr. Res. 79, 742–747. doi:10.1038/pr.2015.280
- Osredkar, D., Sabir, H., Falck, M., Wood, T., Maes, E., Flatebø, T., Puchades, M., Thoresen, M., 2015. Hypothermia Does Not Reverse Cellular Responses Caused by Lipopolysaccharide in Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischaemic Brain Injury. Dev Neurosci 37, 390–397. doi:10.1159/000430860
- Osredkar, D., Thoresen, M., Maes, E., Flatebø, T., Elstad, M., Sabir, H., 2014. Hypothermia is not neuroprotective after infection-sensitized neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Resuscitation 85, 567–572. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.12.006
- Pang, Y., Tien, L.-T., Zhu, H., Shen, J., Wright, C.F., Jones, T.K., Mamoon, S.A., Bhatt, A.J., Cai, Z., Fan, L.-W., 2015. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist reduces neonatal lipopolysaccharide-induced long-lasting neurobehavioral deficits and dopaminergic neuronal injury in adult rats. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16, 8635–8654. doi:10.3390/ijms16048635
- Park, W.S., Sung, S.I., Ahn, S.Y., Yoo, H.S., Sung, D.K., Im, G.H., Choi, S.J., Chang, Y.S., 2015. Hypothermia augments neuroprotective activity of mesenchymal stem cells for neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. PLoS One 10, e0120893. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0120893
- Patel, S.D., Pierce, L., Ciardiello, A., Hutton, A., Paskewitz, S., Aronowitz, E., Voss, H.U., Moore, H., Vannucci, S.J., 2015. Therapeutic hypothermia and hypoxia-ischemia in the term-equivalent neonatal rat: characterization of a translational preclinical model. Pediatr. Res. 78, 264–271. doi:10.1038/pr.2015.100
- Patel, S.D., Pierce, L., Ciardiello, A.J., Vannucci, S.J., 2014. Neonatal encephalopathy: preclinical studies in neuroprotection. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 42, 564–568. doi:10.1042/BST20130247
- Perretta, L., Reed, R., Ross, G., Perlman, J., 2019. Is there a role for therapeutic hypothermia administration in term infants with mild neonatal encephalopathy? J. Perinatol. doi:10.1038/s41372-019-0562-z
- Pin, T.W., Eldridge, B., Galea, M.P., 2009. A review of developmental outcomes of term infants with post-asphyxia neonatal encephalopathy. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 13, 224–234. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2008.05.001
- Pisetsky, D., 2011. Cell death in the pathogenesis of immune-mediated diseases: the role of HMGB1 and DAMP-PAMP complexes. Swiss Med Wkly 141, w13256. doi:10.4414/smw.2011.13256
- Pokorna, P., Wildschut, E.D., Vobruba, V., van den Anker, J.N., Tibboel, D., 2015. The impact of hypothermia on the pharmacokinetics of drugs used in neonates and young infants. Curr. Pharm. Des. 21, 5705–5724. doi:10.2174/1381612821666150901110929
- Pradeep, H., Sharma, B., Rajanikant, G.K., 2014. Drp1 in ischemic neuronal death: an unusual

suspect. Curr. Med. Chem. 21, 2183–2189.

- Pradillo, J.M., Denes, A., Greenhalgh, A.D., Boutin, H., Drake, C., McColl, B.W., Barton, E., Proctor, S.D., Russell, J.C., Rothwell, N.J., Allan, S.M., 2012. Delayed administration of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist reduces ischemic brain damage and inflammation in comorbid rats. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 32, 1810–1819. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2012.101
- Pradillo, J.M., Murray, K.N., Coutts, G.A., Moraga, A., Oroz-Gonjar, F., Boutin, H., Moro, M.A., Lizasoain, I., Rothwell, N.J., Allan, S.M., 2017. Reparative effects of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in young and aged/co-morbid rodents after cerebral ischemia. Brain Behav. Immun. 61, 117–126. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.11.013
- Quiniou, C., Kooli, E., Joyal, J.-S., Sapieha, P., Sennlaub, F., Lahaie, I., Shao, Z., Hou, X., Hardy, P., Lubell, W., Chemtob, S., 2008. Interleukin-1 and ischemic brain injury in the newborn: development of a small molecule inhibitor of IL-1 receptor. Semin Perinatol 32, 325–333. doi:10.1053/j.semperi.2008.07.001
- Quintana, M., Viele, K., Lewis, R.J., 2017. Bayesian analysis: using prior information to interpret the results of clinical trials. JAMA 318, 1605–1606. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.15574
- Ramaswamy, V., Miller, S.P., Barkovich, A.J., Partridge, J.C., Ferriero, D.M., 2004. Perinatal stroke in term infants with neonatal encephalopathy. Neurology 62, 2088–2091. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000129909.77753.c4
- Razak, A., Hussain, A., 2019. Erythropoietin in perinatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Perinat Med 47, 478–489. doi:10.1515/jpm-2018-0360
- Re, D.B., Le Verche, V., Yu, C., Amoroso, M.W., Politi, K.A., Phani, S., Ikiz, B., Hoffmann, L., Koolen, M., Nagata, T., Papadimitriou, D., Nagy, P., Mitsumoto, H., Kariya, S., Wichterle, H., Henderson, C.E., Przedborski, S., 2014. Necroptosis drives motor neuron death in models of both sporadic and familial ALS. Neuron 81, 1001–1008. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2014.01.011
- Redline, R., ORiordan, M., 2000. Placental Lesions Associated With Cerebral Palsy and Neurologic Impairment Following Term Birth. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 124, 1785–91.
- Redline, R.W., 2005. Severe fetal placental vascular lesions in term infants with neurologic impairment. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 192, 452–457. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2004.07.030
- Redline, R.W., Minich, N., Taylor, H.G., Hack, M., 2007. Placental lesions as predictors of cerebral palsy and abnormal neurocognitive function at school age in extremely low birth weight infants (<1 kg). Pediatr. Dev. Pathol. 10, 282–292. doi:10.2350/06-12-0203.1</p>
- Relton, J.K., Martin, D., Thompson, R.C., Russell, D.A., 1996. Peripheral administration of Interleukin-1 Receptor antagonist inhibits brain damage after focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. Exp. Neurol. 138, 206–213. doi:10.1006/exnr.1996.0059
- Relton, J.K., Rothwell, N.J., 1992. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist inhibits ischaemic and excitotoxic neuronal damage in the rat. Brain Res. Bull. 29, 243–246. doi:10.1016/0361-9230(92)90033-t
- Rice, J.E., Vannucci, R.C., Brierley, J.B., 1981. The influence of immaturity on hypoxicischemic brain damage in the rat. Ann. Neurol. 9, 131–141. doi:10.1002/ana.410090206
- Robertson, N.J., Tan, S., Groenendaal, F., van Bel, F., Juul, S.E., Bennet, L., Derrick, M., Back, S.A., Valdez, R.C., Northington, F., Gunn, A.J., Mallard, C., 2012. Which neuroprotective agents are ready for bench to bedside translation in the newborn infant? J. Pediatr. 160, 544–552.e4. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.12.052

- Rocha-Ferreira, E., Kelen, D., Faulkner, S., Broad, K.D., Chandrasekaran, M., Kerenyi, Á., Kato, T., Bainbridge, A., Golay, X., Sullivan, M., Kramer, B.W., Robertson, N.J., 2017.
 Systemic pro-inflammatory cytokine status following therapeutic hypothermia in a piglet hypoxia-ischemia model. J. Neuroinflammation 14, 44. doi:10.1186/s12974-017-0821-x
- Róka, A., Bekő, G., Halász, J., Toldi, G., Lakatos, P., Azzopardi, D., Tulassay, T., Szabó, M., 2013. Changes in serum cytokine and cortisol levels in normothermic and hypothermic term neonates after perinatal asphyxia. Inflamm Res 62, 81–87. doi:10.1007/s00011-012-0554-3
- Rosenzweig, J.M., Lei, J., Burd, I., 2014. Interleukin-1 receptor blockade in perinatal brain injury. Front. Pediatr. 2, 108. doi:10.3389/fped.2014.00108
- Rumajogee, P., Bregman, T., Miller, S.P., Yager, J.Y., Fehlings, M.G., 2016. Rodent Hypoxia-Ischemia Models for Cerebral Palsy Research: A Systematic Review. Front. Neurol. 7, 57. doi:10.3389/fneur.2016.00057
- Rutherford, M., Ramenghi, L.A., Edwards, A.D., Brocklehurst, P., Halliday, H., Levene, M., Strohm, B., Thoresen, M., Whitelaw, A., Azzopardi, D., 2010. Assessment of brain tissue injury after moderate hypothermia in neonates with hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy: a nested substudy of a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 9, 39–45. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70295-9
- Saadani-Makki, F., Kannan, S., Lu, X., Janisse, J., Dawe, E., Edwin, S., Romero, R., Chugani, D., 2008. Intrauterine administration of endotoxin leads to motor deficits in a rabbit model: a link between prenatal infection and cerebral palsy. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 199, 651.e1-7. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2008.06.090
- Sabir, H., Scull-Brown, E., Liu, X., Thoresen, M., 2012. Immediate hypothermia is not neuroprotective after severe hypoxia-ischemia and is deleterious when delayed by 12 hours in neonatal rats. Stroke 43, 3364–3370. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.674481
- Salah, M.M., Abdelmawla, M.A., Eid, S.R., Hasanin, R.M., Mostafa, E.A., Abdelhameed, M.W., 2019. Role of Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 in Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy. Open Access Maced. J. Med. Sci. 7, 2114–2118. doi:10.3889/oamjms.2019.618
- Sangiuliano, B., Pérez, N.M., Moreira, D.F., Belizário, J.E., 2014. Cell death-associated molecular-pattern molecules: inflammatory signaling and control. Mediators Inflamm. 2014, 821043. doi:10.1155/2014/821043
- Sarkar, T., Patro, N., Patro, I.K., 2019. Cumulative multiple early life hits- a potent threat leading to neurological disorders. Brain Res. Bull. 147, 58–68. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2019.02.005
- Savard, A., Brochu, M.-E., Chevin, M., Guiraut, C., Grbic, D., Sébire, G., 2015. Neuronal selfinjury mediated by IL-1β and MMP-9 in a cerebral palsy model of severe neonatal encephalopathy induced by immune activation plus hypoxia-ischemia. J. Neuroinflammation 12, 111. doi:10.1186/s12974-015-0330-8
- Savard, A., Lavoie, K., Brochu, M.-E., Grbic, D., Lepage, M., Gris, D., Sebire, G., 2013. Involvement of neuronal IL-1β in acquired brain lesions in a rat model of neonatal encephalopathy. J. Neuroinflammation 10, 110. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-110
- Schroder, K., Tschopp, J., 2010. The inflammasomes. Cell 140, 821–832. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.040
- Shankaran, S., 2012. Therapeutic hypothermia for neonatal encephalopathy. Curr Treat Options Neurol 14, 608–619. doi:10.1007/s11940-012-0200-y

- Shankaran, S., Laptook, A.R., Ehrenkranz, R.A., Tyson, J.E., McDonald, S.A., Donovan, E.F., Fanaroff, A.A., Poole, W.K., Wright, L.L., Higgins, R.D., Finer, N.N., Carlo, W.A., Duara, S., Oh, W., Cotten, C.M., Stevenson, D.K., Stoll, B.J., Lemons, J.A., Guillet, R., Jobe, A.H., National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network, 2005. Whole-body hypothermia for neonates with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. N. Engl. J. Med. 353, 1574–1584. doi:10.1056/NEJMcps050929
- Shankaran, S., Laptook, A.R., Pappas, A., McDonald, S.A., Das, A., Tyson, J.E., Poindexter, B.B., Schibler, K., Bell, E.F., Heyne, R.J., Pedroza, C., Bara, R., Van Meurs, K.P., Grisby, C., Huitema, C.M.P., Garg, M., Ehrenkranz, R.A., Shepherd, E.G., Chalak, L.F., Hamrick, S.E.G., Khan, A.M., Reynolds, A.M., Laughon, M.M., Truog, W.E., Dysart, K.C., Carlo, W.A., Walsh, M.C., Watterberg, K.L., Higgins, R.D., Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network, 2014. Effect of depth and duration of cooling on deaths in the NICU among neonates with hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 312, 2629–2639. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.16058
- Shih, R.-H., Wang, C.-Y., Yang, C.-M., 2015. NF-kappaB Signaling Pathways in Neurological Inflammation: A Mini Review. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 8, 77. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2015.00077
- Simbruner, G., Mittal, R.A., Rohlmann, F., Muche, R., neo.nEURO.network Trial Participants, 2010. Systemic hypothermia after neonatal encephalopathy: outcomes of neo.nEURO.network RCT. Pediatrics 126, e771-8. doi:10.1542/peds.2009-2441
- Smith, A.L., Garbus, H., Rosenkrantz, T.S., Fitch, R.H., 2015. Sex differences in behavioral outcomes following temperature modulation during induced neonatal hypoxic ischemic injury in rats. Brain Sci. 5, 220–240. doi:10.3390/brainsci5020220
- Smith, A.L., Rosenkrantz, T.S., Fitch, R.H., 2016. Effects of Sex and Mild Intrainsult Hypothermia on Neuropathology and Neural Reorganization following Neonatal Hypoxic Ischemic Brain Injury in Rats. Neural Plast. 2016, 2585230. doi:10.1155/2016/2585230
- Sorg, A.-L., von Kries, R., Klemme, M., Gerstl, L., Weinberger, R., Beyerlein, A., Lack, N., Felderhoff-Müser, U., Dzietko, M., 2019. Risk factors for perinatal arterial ischaemic stroke: a large case-control study. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. doi:10.1111/dmcn.14347
- Sorokan, S.T., Jefferies, A.L., Miller, S.P., 2018. Imaging the term neonatal brain. Paediatr. Child Health 23, 322–328. doi:10.1093/pch/pxx161
- Speer, M., Hankins, G.D.V., 2003. Defining the True Pathogenesis and Pathophysiology of Neonatal Encephalopathy and Cerebral Palsy. J. Perinatol. 23, 179–180. doi:10.1038/sj.jp.7210912
- Spinello, A., Vecile, E., Abbate, A., Dobrina, A., Magistrato, A., 2019. How Can Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist Modulate Distinct Cell Death Pathways? J. Chem. Inf. Model. 59, 351–359. doi:10.1021/acs.jcim.8b00565
- Spulber, S., Bartfai, T., Schultzberg, M., 2009. IL-1/IL-1ra balance in the brain revisited evidence from transgenic mouse models. Brain Behav. Immun. 23, 573–579. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2009.02.015
- Spulber, S., Bartfai, T., Winblad, B., Schultzberg, M., 2011. Morphological and behavioral changes induced by transgenic overexpression of interleukin-1ra in the brain. J. Neurosci. Res. 89, 142–152. doi:10.1002/jnr.22534
- Srinivasakumar, P., Zempel, J., Wallendorf, M., Lawrence, R., Inder, T., Mathur, A., 2013. Therapeutic hypothermia in neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: electrographic

seizures and magnetic resonance imaging evidence of injury. J. Pediatr. 163, 465–470. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.01.041

- Srinivasan, D., Yen, J.-H., Joseph, D.J., Friedman, W., 2004. Cell type-specific interleukin-1beta signaling in the CNS. J. Neurosci. 24, 6482–6488. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5712-03.2004
- Steensma, D.P., 2007. Erythropoiesis stimulating agents. BMJ 334, 648–649. doi:10.1136/bmj.39163.536852.80
- Suppiej, A., Toffoli, E., Festa, I., Cervesi, C., Cappellari, A., Manara, R., Magarotto, M., Cainelli, E., 2019. Perinatal carotid artery ischemic stroke: Report of two cases. J. Neonatal. Perinatal. Med. doi:10.3233/NPM-1816
- Sweetman, D.U., Riordan, M., Molloy, E.J., 2013. Management of renal dysfunction following term perinatal hypoxia-ischaemia. Acta Paediatr. 102, 233–241. doi:10.1111/apa.12116
- Tehranian, R., Andell-Jonsson, S., Beni, S.M., Yatsiv, I., Shohami, E., Bartfai, T., Lundkvist, J., Iverfeldt, K., 2002. Improved recovery and delayed cytokine induction after closed head injury in mice with central overexpression of the secreted isoform of the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. J. Neurotrauma 19, 939–951. doi:10.1089/089771502320317096
- Thoresen, M., Bågenholm, R., Løberg, E.M., Apricena, F., Kjellmer, I., 1996. Posthypoxic cooling of neonatal rats provides protection against brain injury. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 74, F3-9.
- Thornton, C., Hagberg, H., 2015. Role of mitochondria in apoptotic and necroptotic cell death in the developing brain. Clin. Chim. Acta 451, 35–38. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2015.01.026
- Thornton, P., McColl, B.W., Cooper, L., Rothwell, N.J., Allan, S.M., 2010. Interleukin-1 drives cerebrovascular inflammation via MAP kinase-independent pathways. Curr. Neurovasc. Res. 7, 330–340. doi:10.2174/156720210793180800
- Touzani, O., Boutin, H., LeFeuvre, R., Parker, L., Miller, A., Luheshi, G., Rothwell, N., 2002. Interleukin-1 influences ischemic brain damage in the mouse independently of the interleukin-1 type I receptor. J. Neurosci. 22, 38–43.
- Tovar-y-Romo, L.B., Penagos-Puig, A., Ramírez-Jarquín, J.O., 2016. Endogenous recovery after brain damage: molecular mechanisms that balance neuronal life/death fate. J. Neurochem. 136, 13–27. doi:10.1111/jnc.13362
- Towfighi, J., Mauger, D., Vannucci, R.C., Vannucci, S.J., 1997. Influence of age on the cerebral lesions in an immature rat model of cerebral hypoxia–ischemia: a light microscopic study. Developmental Brain Research 100, 149–160. doi:10.1016/S0165-3806(97)00036-9
- Traudt, C.M., McPherson, R.J., Bauer, L.A., Richards, T.L., Burbacher, T.M., McAdams, R.M., Juul, S.E., 2013. Concurrent erythropoietin and hypothermia treatment improve outcomes in a term nonhuman primate model of perinatal asphyxia. Dev Neurosci 35, 491–503. doi:10.1159/000355460
- van den Broek, M.P.H., Groenendaal, F., Toet, M.C., van Straaten, H.L.M., van Hasselt, J.G.C., Huitema, A.D.R., de Vries, L.S., Egberts, A.C.G., Rademaker, C.M.A., 2012.
 Pharmacokinetics and clinical efficacy of phenobarbital in asphyxiated newborns treated with hypothermia: a thermopharmacological approach. Clin Pharmacokinet 51, 671–679.

doi:10.1007/s40262-012-0004-y

- van der Worp, H.B., Sena, E.S., Donnan, G.A., Howells, D.W., Macleod, M.R., 2007. Hypothermia in animal models of acute ischaemic stroke: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Brain 130, 3063–3074. doi:10.1093/brain/awm083
- Vitkovic, L., Bockaert, J., Jacque, C., 2000. "Inflammatory" cytokines: neuromodulators in normal brain? J. Neurochem. 74, 457–471. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.740457.x
- Wachtel, E.V., Verma, S., Mally, P.V., 2019. Update on the current management of newborns with neonatal encephalopathy. Curr. Probl. Pediatr. Adolesc. Health Care 49, 100636. doi:10.1016/j.cppeds.2019.07.001
- Wagenaar, N., van den Berk, D.J.M., Lemmers, P.M.A., van der Aa, N.E., Dudink, J., van Bel, F., Groenendaal, F., de Vries, L.S., Benders, M.J.N.L., Alderliesten, T., 2019. Brain activity and cerebral oxygenation after perinatal arterial ischemic stroke are associated with neurodevelopment. Stroke 50, 2668–2676. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.025346
- Walløe, L., Hjort, N.L., Thoresen, M., 2019. Major concerns about late hypothermia study. Acta Paediatr. 108, 588–589. doi:10.1111/apa.14640
- Walsh, C.M., 2014. Grand challenges in cell death and survival: apoptosis vs. necroptosis. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 2, 3. doi:10.3389/fcell.2014.00003
- Wassink, G., Davidson, J.O., Dhillon, S.K., Zhou, K., Bennet, L., Thoresen, M., Gunn, A.J., 2019. Therapeutic Hypothermia in Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 19, 2. doi:10.1007/s11910-019-0916-0
- Williams, G.D., Dardzinski, B.J., Buckalew, A.R., Smith, M.B., 1997. Modest hypothermia preserves cerebral energy metabolism during hypoxia-ischemia and correlates with brain damage: a 31P nuclear magnetic resonance study in unanesthetized neonatal rats. Pediatr. Res. 42, 700–708. doi:10.1203/00006450-199711000-00024
- Winerdal, M., Winerdal, M.E., Kinn, J., Urmaliya, V., Winqvist, O., Adén, U., 2012. Long lasting local and systemic inflammation after cerebral hypoxic ischemia in newborn mice. PLoS One 7, e36422. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0036422
- Wintermark, P., Boyd, T., Gregas, M.C., Labrecque, M., Hansen, A., 2010. Placental pathology in asphyxiated newborns meeting the criteria for therapeutic hypothermia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 203, 579.e1-9. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2010.08.024
- Wong, R., Lénárt, N., Hill, L., Toms, L., Coutts, G., Martinecz, B., Császár, E., Nyiri, G.,
 Papaemmanouil, A., Waisman, A., Müller, W., Schwaninger, M., Rothwell, N., Francis,
 S., Pinteaux, E., Denés, A., Allan, S.M., 2019. Interleukin-1 mediates ischaemic brain
 injury via distinct actions on endothelial cells and cholinergic neurons. Brain Behav.
 Immun. 76, 126–138. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2018.11.012
- Wood, T., Osredkar, D., Puchades, M., Maes, E., Falck, M., Flatebø, T., Walløe, L., Sabir, H., Thoresen, M., 2016. Treatment temperature and insult severity influence the neuroprotective effects of therapeutic hypothermia. Sci. Rep. 6, 23430. doi:10.1038/srep23430
- Wu, Y.W., Backstrand, K.H., Zhao, S., Fullerton, H.J., Johnston, S.C., 2004. Declining diagnosis of birth asphyxia in California: 1991-2000. Pediatrics 114, 1584–1590. doi:10.1542/peds.2004-0708
- Wu, Y.W., Colford, J.M., 2000. Chorioamnionitis as a risk factor for cerebral palsy: A metaanalysis. JAMA 284, 1417–1424. doi:10.1001/jama.284.11.1417
- Wu, Y.W., Croen, L.A., Shah, S.J., Newman, T.B., Najjar, D.V., 2006. Cerebral palsy in a term population: risk factors and neuroimaging findings. Pediatrics 118, 690–697.

doi:10.1542/peds.2006-0278

- Wu, Y.W., Escobar, G.J., Grether, J.K., Croen, L.A., Greene, J.D., Newman, T.B., 2003. Chorioamnionitis and cerebral palsy in term and near-term infants. JAMA 290, 2677– 2684. doi:10.1001/jama.290.20.2677
- Xie, Y., Hou, W., Song, X., Yu, Y., Huang, J., Sun, X., Kang, R., Tang, D., 2016. Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ. 23, 369–379. doi:10.1038/cdd.2015.158
- Yager, J., Towfighi, J., Vannucci, R.C., 1993. Influence of mild hypothermia on hypoxicischemic brain damage in the immature rat. Pediatr. Res. 34, 525–529. doi:10.1203/00006450-199310000-00029
- Yager, J.Y., Ashwal, S., 2009. Animal models of perinatal hypoxic-ischemic brain damage. Pediatr. Neurol. 40, 156–167. doi:10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2008.10.025
- Yang, B.-B., Baughman, S., Sullivan, J.T., 2003. Pharmacokinetics of anakinra in subjects with different levels of renal function. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 74, 85–94. doi:10.1016/S0009-9236(03)00094-8
- Yuan, X., Ghosh, N., McFadden, B., Tone, B., Bellinger, D.L., Obenaus, A., Ashwal, S., 2014. Hypothermia modulates cytokine responses after neonatal rat hypoxic-ischemic injury and reduces brain damage. ASN Neuro 6. doi:10.1177/1759091414558418
- Zhao, H., Steinberg, G.K., Sapolsky, R.M., 2007. General versus specific actions of mildmoderate hypothermia in attenuating cerebral ischemic damage. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 27, 1879–1894. doi:10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600540
- Zhou, J., Poloyac, S.M., 2011. The effect of therapeutic hypothermia on drug metabolism and response: cellular mechanisms to organ function. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 7, 803–816. doi:10.1517/17425255.2011.574127
- Zhou, W., Cheng, G., Shao, X., Liu, X., Shan, R., Zhuang, D., Zhou, C., Du, L., Cao, Y., Yang, Q., Wang, L., China Study Group, 2010. Selective head cooling with mild systemic hypothermia after neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy: a multicenter randomized controlled trial in China. J. Pediatr. 157, 367–72, 372.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.03.030
- Zhu, C., Hallin, U., Ozaki, Y., Grandér, R., Gatzinsky, K., Bahr, B.A., Karlsson, J.-O., Shibasaki, F., Hagberg, H., Blomgren, K., 2010. Nuclear translocation and calpaindependent reduction of Bcl-2 after neonatal cerebral hypoxia-ischemia. Brain Behav. Immun. 24, 822–830. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2009.09.013
CHAPTER VII: APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Monographie du médicament Anakinra, Kineret®

Anakinra MONOGRAPHIE

anakinra (Kineret)

Agent immunomodulateur

Protéine obtenue par technologie recombinante

Posologie usuelle : injecter une dose SC DIE chaque jour au même moment

Tableau comparatif :

Monographie : Codification :

897			
Type de code	Code	Nom	
Vigilance Santé	82040401	Anakinra (INHIBITEURS DE L'INTERLEUKINE)	Î
AHFS	92:36	Antirhumatismaux modificateurs de la maladie	
ATC	L04AC03	Anakinra	

Effets secondaires

	Fréquence	Placebo	Note
céphalées	12.3%	8.8%	
diarrhée	7.1%	5.2%	
douleurs abdominales	5.3%	4.5%	
douleurs articulaires	5.6%	6.6%	
infection des voies respiratoires	13.8%	15.2%	
infections graves	1.8%	0.7%	
nausées	8.4%	6.4%	
neutropénie			
réaction au site d'injection	71.2%	28.5%	
sinusite	7.1%	5.6%	
symptômes pseudogrippaux	6%	5.2%	

Cette liste n'est pas exhaustive. Elle présente les effets secondaires les plus fréquents et les plus pertinents.

- Taux d'abandon pour effets secondaires : 6% (réactions au site d'injection)
- Les infections graves observées ont été essentiellement des infections bactériennes, comme la cellulite, la pneumonie et les infections ostéo- articulaires.
- Les asthmatiques seraient plus susceptibles de développer une infection sévère.
- On ignore si l'utilisation chronique du produit peut augmenter la fréquence du cancer.
- Les réactions au site d'injection ont typiquement été signalées au cours des 4 premières semaines de traitement et se manifestaient pour 2 à 4 semaines. L'apparition de réactions au site d'injection après le premier mois de traitement est exceptionnelle. Les réactions sévères sont rares. Les réactions au site d'injection les plus fréquemment rapportés incluent l'érythème, le prurit, les éruptions cutanées et la douleur.
- Les réactions au site d'injection ont été traitées à l'aide de corticostéroïdes topiques ou d'antihistaminiques, plus rarement à l'aide de corticostéroïdes oraux.
- Certains effets indésirables peu fréquents, mais potentiellement graves ont également été signalés. Les principaux sont : thrombocytopénie.

Indications et doses

arthrite goutteuse	100 mg SC DIE X 3 jours
* arthrite rhumatoïde (Adultes)	100 mg SC DIE
fièvre méditerranéenne familiale (Adultes)	100 mg SC DIE

* maladie inflammatoire multisystémique à début néonatal

péricardite (Adultes)

3-8 mg/kg/jour SC DIE

récurrente : 100 mg SC DIE données limitées

polyarthrite juvénile (Enfants)

indication officielle au Canada

Dose adulte

Arthrite rhumatoïde

Indiqué pour réduire les signes et symptômes de la polyarthrite rhumatoïde évolutive modérée à sévère. Peut être utilisé seul ou en association avec d'autres agents antirhumatismaux modificateurs de la maladie, tel le méthotrexate. Ne pas utiliser en association avec des agents bloquant l'action du facteur de nécrose tumorale, tel l'étanercept - risque largement accru d'infections sérieuses.

Dose usuelle : 100 mg SC DIE, administrer la dose à environ la même heure chaque jour.

Maladie inflammatoire multisystémique à début néonatal

Indiqué pour le traitement de la maladie inflammatoire multisystémique à début néonatal qui est un syndrome périodique associé à la cryopyrine.

<u>Dose initiale</u> : 1-2 mg/kg SC DIE, administrer la dose à environ la même heure chaque jour. <u>Ajustement de dose</u> : 0.5-1.0 mg/kg par augmentation <u>Dosage d'entretien usuelle</u> : 3-4 mg/kg/jour <u>Dose maximale</u>: 8 mg/kg/jour

Dose pédiatrique

Maladie inflammatoire multisystémique à début néonatal

Indiqué pour le traitement de la maladie inflammatoire multisystémique à début néonatal chez les enfants > 8 mois et > 10 kg.

<u>Dose initiale</u> : 1-2 mg/kg SC DIE, administrer la dose à environ la même heure chaque jour. <u>Ajustement de dose</u> : 0.5-1.0 mg/kg par augmentation <u>Dosage d'entretien usuelle</u> : 3-4 mg/kg/jour <u>Dose maximale</u>: 8 mg/kg/jour

Arthrite juvénile idiopathique

Données limitées 1-4 mg/kg/jour SC DIE (max: 200 mg/jour) Appendix 2: Published review article as first co-author

Role of perinatal inflammation in neonatal arterial ischemic stroke.

Antoine Giraud ^{a,b,†}, Clémence Guiraut ^{b,†}, Mathilde Chevin ^{b,†}, Stéphane Chabrier ^c,

Guillaume Sébire^b

^a EA 4607 SNA EPIS, Université Jean Monnet, Saint-Etienne, France.

^b Child Neurology division, Department of Pediatrics, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada.

^c French Center for Pediatric Stroke and Pediatric Rehabilitation Unit, Department of Pediatrics,

Saint-Etienne University Hospital, Saint-Etienne, France.

† These authors have contributed equally as first authors

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology, as well as a part of an E-book entitled "Preventing developmental brain injury – from animal models to clinical trials".

Front Neurol. 2017; 8: 612.

© Frontiers in Neurology

Appendix 3: Copyright agreement for Figure 2 (CHAPTER I)



Thank you for your order!

Dear Miss. Mathilde Chevin,

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink ${}^{\!(\!R\!)}$ service.

Order Summary

Licensee:	Research Institute Of The McGill University Health Centre							
Order Date:	Feb 13, 2020							
Order Number:	4767120085419							
Publication	European Journal of Paediatric Neurology							
Title:	Perinatal stroke syndromes: Similarities and diversities in aetiology, outcome and management							
Type of Use:	reuse in a thesis/dissertation							
Order Total:	0.00 CAD							

View or print complete <u>details</u> of your order and the publisher's terms and conditions.

Sincerely,

Copyright Clearance Center

Appendix 4: Copyright agreement for Figure 3 (CHAPTER I)



Thank you for your order!

Dear Miss. Mathilde Chevin,

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink $^{\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}}$ service.

Order Summary

Licensee: Research Institute Of The McGill University Health Centre Order Date: Jan 17, 2020 Order 4751380814442 Publication: Brain Research Bulletin Title: Cumulative multiple early life hits- a potent threat leading to neurological disorders Type of Use: reuse in a thesis/dissertation Order Total: 0.00 CAD

View or print complete $\underline{details}$ of your order and the publisher's terms and conditions.

Sincerely,

Copyright Clearance Center

Appendix 5: Ethical protocol 2015-7691 approval and protocol contact listing

De : eSiriusWebServer <darwin@mcgill.ca> Envoyé : mardi 25 février 2020 10:31 À : Guillaume Sébire, Dr Cc : Melanie Tremblay, Dr. Objet : Darwin notification -- APPROVED GLEN FACC Annual Review for protocol 2015-7691

*** THIS IS AN EMAIL NOTIFICATION ONLY. PLEASE DO NOT REPLY ***

The Annual Review for the following protocol was APPROVED:

Protocol Number: 2015-7691 Title: Interleukin-1 (IL-1) blockade along with hypothermia to prevent cerebral palsy arising from refractory neonatal encephalopathy.



Protocol Search Protocol Search Results

Chevin, Mathilde/Sébire, Guillaume

PI

List of Protocol Search

PI Protocol		Protocol Year	Protocol Title	Status	Approved	Protocol Expiry Date	3rd Yr Full Renewal Due Date		
Sébire, Guillaume	2015- 7675	5	Investigating the materno-fetal immune activation induced by group B Streptococcus leading to sex-specific neuro-behavioural impairments.	Approved (w/o Stipulation)	02/01/2019	02/01/2021	02/01/2022		
Sébire, Guillaume	2015- 7691	5	Interleukin-1 (IL-1) blockade along with hypothermia to prevent cerebral palsy arising from refractory neonatal encephalopathy.	Approved (w/o Stipulation)	02/01/2019	02/01/2021	02/01/2022		
Sébire, Guillaume	<u>2015-</u> 7699	1	Role of gestational inflammation in the physiopathology of the neonatal arterial ischemic stroke.	Un-Finished	"	<i>()</i>	11		

Return to Protocol Search Filters



Darwin Report

Protocol Contact Listing

				4											
Investigator Name	PI Email ID	PI Phone	Protocol No	Expiration Date	Protocol Status	Contact	Contact ID	Business Role	Contact Method	Phone	Cell Phone	Home Phone	Email	FACC	Department
Sébire, Guillaume	guillaume.sebire@mcgill.ca		2015- 7691	02/01/2022	Approved (w/o Stipulation)	Chabrier, Stephane	260885076		Collaborator	5149341934 76124	4387285433		stephane.chabrier@mail.mcgill.ca		
Sébire, Guillaume	guillaume.sebire@mcgill.ca		2015- 7691	02/01/2022	Approved (w/o Stipulation)	Chelabi, Khadidja	260789731		Other		4384997921		khadidja.chelabi@mail.mcgill.ca		
Sébire, Guillaume	guillaume.sebire@mcgill.ca		2015- 7691	02/01/2022	Approved (w/o Stipulation)	Chevin, Mathilde	260698090	Researcher Staff Members	Graduate Student	5149341934 76124	819 640- 3648		mathilde.chevin2@mail.mcgill.ca		
Sébire, Guillaume	guillaume.sebire@mcgill.ca		2015- 7691	02/01/2022	Approved (w/o Stipulation)	Guiraut, Clémence	260688257		Research Assistant	5149341934 76124	8199435062	2	clemence.guiraut2@mail.mcgill.ca		
Sébire, Guillaume	guillaume.sebire@mcgill.ca		2015- 7691	02/01/2022	Approved (w/o Stipulation)	Rimuhc, Sail		Animal Care	Other	76266			sail.rimuhc@mcgill.ca		

INTERNAL USE ONLY

Appendix 6: Published abstract in Perfectionnement en Pédiatrie

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2588932X2030005X

*Auteur correspondant. Adresse e-mail : melanie.brosolo@etu.univ-rouen.fr (M. Brosolo)

Le syndrome d'alcoolisation fœtale (SAF) constitue la forme la plus sévère des troubles causés par l'alcoolisation fœtale (TCAF). Les enfants TCAF sont dépourvus de dysmorphies faciales permettant un diagnostic périnatal mais présentent des troubles du neurodéveloppement qui apparaitront progressivement avec l'âge. Ainsi, la majorité des TCAF échappe au diagnostic précoce. Des travaux du laboratoire ont mis en évidence l'existence d'un axe fonctionnel « placenta-cerveau » impliqué dans le contrôle de l'angiogenèse cérébrale. En particulier, l'alcool altère l'expression placentaire du PIGF et induit une désorganisation des microvaisseaux cérébraux, support de migration des interneurones GABA et des oligodendrocytes. Ces données suggèrent que l'altération de l'angiogenèse corticale induite par l'alcool pourrait contribuer au mauvais positionnement des interneurones GABA et des oligodendrocytes. De plus, en corrigeant les effets de l'alcool sur l'angiogenèse cérébrale. le PIGF pourrait être en mesure de prévenir les anomalies de migration de ces cellules nerveuses. Les données obtenues chez la Souris, révèlent que la répression placentaire du PIGF par électroporation in utero mime les effets de l'alcoolisation fœtale sur la désorganisation des microvaisseaux corticaux. À l'inverse, la surexpression placentaire de PIGF corrige les anomalies de l'angiogenèse cérébrale induites par l'alcool. Les données obtenues par Western blot indiquent que l'alcoolisation in utero affecte fortement l'expression de marqueurs du lignage oligodendrocytaire (Olig2, CNPase, MBP) à différents stades développementaux (E20, P2 et P15). De plus, l'étude morphométrique révèle une étroite interaction entre les oligodendrocytes en migration et les microvaisseaux corticaux. L'alcoolisation in utero ne modifie pas cette interaction mais altère la densité des oligodendrocytes. Ainsi, ces résultats suggèrent que les atteintes cérébrales induites par l'alcoolisation fœtale pourraient être liées à une angiogenèse anormale et potentiellement corrigées par la modulation placentaire de l'expression du PIGF.

Ethique Comité d'éthique en expérimentation animale n°54, autorisation n°01680.02.

Financements Financement doctoral ministériel, Fondation pour la Recherche en Alcoologie, Fondation Motrice, Fondation de France, FEDER, ANR et Normandie Valorisation.

Déclaration de liens d'intérêts Les auteurs n'ont pas précisé leurs éventuels liens d'intérêts.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.perped.2020.01.004

Abstract 2

Effet neuroprotecteur de l'hypothermie dans l'infarctus cérébral artériel néonatal : une étude préclinique

Mathilde Chevin¹, Stéphane Chabrier^{1,2,3}, Mickaël Dinomais^{4,5}, Barry Bedell⁶, Guillaume Sébire¹

¹Department of Pediatrics, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada ²CHU Saint-Étienne, Centre national de référence de l'AVC de l'enfant, France

³INSERM U1090 Sainbiose, Saint-Étienne, France

⁴CHU Angers, Centre national de référence de l'AVC de l'enfant, France

⁵Université d'Angers, France

⁶Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

*Auteur correspondant.

Adresse e-mail : mathilde.chevin2@mail.mcgill.ca (M. Chevin)

Compte-rendu de congrès

Introduction Aucun traitement n'est actuellement disponible pour l'infarctus cérébral artériel néonatal (NAIS). Les études épidémiologiques ont montré que l'infection/inflammation périnatale, l'hypoxie perpartum associées à l'occlusion d'une artère cervico-encéphalique sont les principaux déterminants du NAIS. L'effet neuroprotecteur de l'hypothermie thérapeutique (HT) dans l'encéphalopathie néonatale justifie son utilisation potentielle dans le NAIS.

Matériel et méthodes Nous avons utilisé notre modèle triple hit murin: inflammation périnatale, hypoxie et occlusion carotidienne afin de reproduire le scénario physiopathologique humain. Vingt ratons de souche Lewis ont reçu à J12 de vie-correspondant au développement cérébral du nouveau-né humain à terme-une injection intrapéritonéale (ip) de 50 µg/kg de lipopolysaccharide d'E. coli afin d'induire une inflammation. Quatre heures plus tard, l'artère carotide commune droite a été ligaturée puis les ratons ont été installés dans une enceinte hypoxique (FiO2 = 8%) durant 1,5 h. Dix d'entre eux ont été traités par HT (32,5 \pm 0,4 °C) durant 4 h, tandis que les autres sont restés en normothermie. Dix contrôles ont reçu une injection ip de sérum physiologique suivie d'une procédure anesthésique avec incision cervicale sans ligature carotidienne et n'ont été soumis ni à l'hypoxie ni à l'HT. Les conséquences anatomiques (IRM) et fonctionnelles (TEP au 18F-FDG) ont été mesurées à J26-28. L'activité locomotrice et exploratoire des rats a été évaluée entre J20-40 (correspondant à l'adolescence chez l'humain). Résultats L'HT (i) empêche la survenue du NAIS dans 44% des cas, (ii) réduit de 37% le volume de l'infarctus, (iii) augmente l'activité métabolique dans le territoire carotidien et (iv) améliore le comportement moteur. Les techniques morphométriques et métaboliques montrent l'effet neuroprotecteur de l'HT au sein du cortex moteur, de l'hippocampe et du striatum.

Conclusions Notre étude combinant imagerie anatomique et fonctionnelle et évaluation comportementale montre l'efficacité de l'HT dans le NAIS. Ces résultats ouvrent des perspectives quant à l'utilisation de l'HT dans le NAIS humain. L'HT étant déjà utilisée en pratique clinique, les essais seraient facilités par transfert d'indication.

Ethique The experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee of McGill University (protocol #2015–7691) in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines: http://www.ccac.ca/en_/standards/guidelines.

Déclaration de liens d'intérêts Les auteurs n'ont pas précisé leurs éventuels liens d'intérêts.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.perped.2020.01.005

Abstract 3

Impact de l'âge des culots globulaires transfusés sur le stress oxydant de l'extrême prématuré

Camille Brière-Dollat¹, Camille Chenevier-Gobeaux², Saik Urien³, Charlotte Pierron¹, Marie-Stéphanie Aubelle¹, Didier Borderie², Pierre-Henri, Jarreau¹

¹Université Paris Descartes, DHU « risques et grossesse », Service de médecine et réanimation néonatales de Port-Royal, 53 avenue de l'observatoire, 75679 Paris

²Service de Diagnostic Biologique Automatisé (SDBA), Hôpitaux Universitaires Paris Centre (HUPC), Assistance Publique des Hôpitaux de Paris (AP–HP), 27 rue du Faubourg Saint-Jacques, 75679 Paris Cedex 14

³Unité de recherche: EA7323- Université Paris Descartes, Hôpitaux Universitaires Paris Centre, 89 rue d'Assas, 75006 Paris *Auteur correspondant.

Adresse e-mail : camilledollat@hotmail.fr (C. Brière-ollat)